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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION
NOTICE OF 2013 ANNtiAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

TO BE HELD MAY 14 2013

To our Stockholders

The 2013 annual meeting ofstockholders of FirstAcceptance Corporation will be held Tuesday May 14

2013 at 1000 a.m local time at our corpOrate headquarters which are locatedat 3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215 Directions to the annual meeting can be obtained by contacting Investor Relations by

email through an information request at http//phx.corporate-ir.net/phoenix.zhtmlc120257pirol-infoReq or by

phone at 1-800-321-0899 At the meeting stockholders will vote on the following matters

Election of the seven directors set forth in this proxy statement to serve until the next annual meeting of

stockholders or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified

Conduct an advisory vote on executive compensation

Ratification of the appointment of Ernst Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting

firm for 2013 and

Any other matters that may properly come before the meeting and any adjournments or postponements

of the meeting

Stockholders of record at the close of business on April 2013 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the

meeting

Your vote is important Please COMPLETE DATE SIGN AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY
CARD as promptly as possible in the enclosed envelope in order that as many shares as possible will be represented

By Order of the Board of Directors

Michael Bodayle

Secretary

Nashville Tennessee

April 122013



IMPORTANT NOTICE

Regarding Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 14 2013

In accordance with rules issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission

you may access our 2012 Amua1 Report our Proxy Statement and our form of Proxy at

http //plix corporate-ir net/phoenix zhtmlc12025 7pproxy
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION
3813GREENIIILLS VILLAGE DRIVE

NASHVILLE TENNESSEE 37215

PROXY STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of First Acceptance Corporation referred to herein as the Board or the Board of

Directors is soliciting proxies to be used at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders This proxy statement and the

enclosed proxy card will be first mailed to stockholders on or about April 12 2013

As previously announced on November 15 2011 our Board of Directors approved change in our fiscal

year end from June 30 to December31 effective December 31 2011 As result Of this changewe did not hold

2012 Annual Meeting and this Proxy Statement includes financial information for the six-month transition period from

July 2011 to December 31 2011 the Transition Period

ABOUT THE MEETING

What Is the Purpose of the Annual Meeting9

At our annual meeting stockholders will vote on the matters outlined in the accompanying notice of

meeting In addition our management will report on our performance during2012 and respond to questions from

stockholders

Who Is Entitled to Vote

Stockholders of record of our common stock at the close of busmess on the record date April 2013 are

entitled to receive notice of the annual meeting and vote the shares of common stock that they held on that date at the

meeting or any postponement or adjOurnment of the meeting Each outstanding share of our common stock entitles

its holder to cast one vote on each matter to be voted upon

What Constitutes Quorum

For purposes of voting on all matters the presence at the meeting in person or by proxy of the holders of

majority of the shares of common stock outstanding on the record date will constitute quorum As of the record

date 40 945 092 shares of our common stock were outstanding Proxies received but marked as abstentions and

broker non-votes described below will be included in the calculation of the number of shares considered to be

present at the meeting

How Do Vote

If you complete and properly sign the accompanying proxy card and return the card to us the card will be

voted as you direct If you are registered stockholder and attend the meeting you may deliver your completed proxy

card in person Street name stockholders who wish to vote at the meeting will need to obtain proxy card from the

institution that holds their shares

Can Change My Vote After Return My Proxy Card

Yes You can revoke your proxy at any time before the final vote at the annual meeting in any of three ways

by submitting written notice of revocation to the Secretary

by submitting another proxy that is later dated and properly signed or

by voting in person at the meeting



What Are the Boards Recommendations

Unless you give other instructions on your proxy cardthe persons named as proxy holders on the proxy card

will vote in accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors The Boards recommendations are set

forth below and description of each item is included in this proxy statement In summary the Board recommends

vote

FOR election of each of the nominated directors

FOR on an advisory basis the compensation of ournarned executive officers and

FOR the ratification of the appointment of Ernst .Young LLP as our independent registered public

accounting firm

With respect to any other matter that properly comes before the meeting the proxy holders will vote as

recommended by the Board of Directors or if no recommendation is given in their own discretion

What Vote Is Required to Approve Each Proposal

Election of Directors

Each of the director nominees must receive affirmative votes from plurality of the votes cast to be elected

This means that the seven nominees receiving the greatest number of votes will be elected as directors For purposes

of the election of directors abstentions and broker nou-votes will not be counted as votes cast and will have no effect

on the result of the vote Stockholders may not cumulate votes in the election of directors

Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation

The affirmative vote of majority of the votes cast on the matter is required to approve on an advisory

basis executive compensation The Board will review the results of this matter and will take the results into account

in making fIiture determinations concerning executive pompensation For pulposes of the advisory vote on executive

compensation abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as votes cast and will have no effect on the result

of the vote

Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The appointment of Ernst Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2013 will

be ratified if the proposal receives the affirmative vote of majority of the votes cast on the matter Brokers have

authority to vote FOR this proposal in the absence of contrary instructions froma beneficial owner If this

appointment is not ratified by stockholders the Audit Committee and the Board may reconsider its recommendation

and appointment respectively With respect to this proposal abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as

votes and will have no effect on the result of the vote

Will My Shares Be Voted if Do Not Sign and Return My Proxy Card

If you are registered stockholder and do not sign and return.your proxy card your shares will not be voted

at the annual meeting Under certain conditions shares that you own that are held by broker may be voted even if

you do not protide voting instructions to the broker Brokerage firms have the authority under applicable rules to

vote on certain routine matters including the ratification of auditors

What Is Broker Non-vote

Under current New York Stock Exchange rules brokers and nominees may exercise their voting discretion

without receiving instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares on proposals that are deemed to be routine

matters If proposal is not routine matter the broker or nominee may not vote the shares with respect to the

proposal without receiving instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares If broker turns in proxy card

expressly stating that the broker is not voting on non-routine matter such action is referred to as broker non-

vote Under current New York Stock Exchange rules the proposal relating to the ratification of the appointment of



Ernst Young LLP as our independent registered pubiicaccountingfirm is deemed to be routine matter with

respect to which brokers and nominees may exercise their voting discretion without receiving instructions from the

beneficial owner of the shares The proposals relating to the election of directors and approval on an advisory basis

of executive compensation are deemed to be non-routine matters and brokers and nominees may not exercise their

discretion to vote on that proposal wtthout receiving instructions from the beneicjal owner of the shares



STOCK OWNERSHIP

Principal Stockholders

The following table sets forth information regarding our common stock beneficially owned on April 2013

by any person or group as that term is used in Section 13d of Securities Exchange Act of 1934 known to us

beneficially own more than five percent of the outstanding shares of our common stock

Amount and

Nature of

Beneficial Percent of

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership Class

Gerald Ford

200 Crescent Court Suite 1350

Dallas Texas 75201 23 811964 58.2%

Dimension Fund Advisors LP

Palisades West Building One

6300 Bee Cave Road

Austin Texas 78746 2131269 5.2%

Wells Fargo Company
420 Montgomery Street

San Francisco California 94104 2131672 5.2%

Based on 40945052 shares of common stock outstanding on April 2013 Shares issuable under instruments to purchase our

common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 2013 are treated as if outstanding for computing the percentage

ownership of the person holding these instruments but are not treated as outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage

ownership of any other person

Includes 19019653 shares owned through Hunters Glen/Ford Ltd Hunters Glen 2268218 shares owned through Turtle

Creek Revocable Trust Turtle Creek Trust and 1960365 shares owned by Jeremy Ford Mr Fords son Because Mr Ford

is one of two general partners of Hunters Glen and the sole stockholder of Ford Diamond Corporation Texas corporation and

the other general partner of Hunters Glen Mr Ford is considered the beneficial owner of the shares that Hunters Glen owns

Since Mr Ford is trustee of Turtle Creek Trust Mr Ford is considered the beneficial owner of the shares that Turtle Creek Trust

owns

Based upon Schedule 13G filed on February 11 2013 Dimensional Fund Advisors LP an investment adviser registered under

Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 furnishes investment advice to four investment companies registered under

the Investment Company Act of 1940 and serves as investment manager to certain other commingled group trusts and separate

accounts such investment companies trusts and accounts collectively referred to as the Funds In certain cases subsidiaries of

Dimensional Fund Advisors LP may act as an adviser or sub-adviser to certain Funds In its role as investment advisor sub-

adviser and/or manager neither Dimensional Fund Advisors LP nor its subsidiaries collectively Dimensional possess voting

and/or investment power over our securities that are owned by the Funds and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the

shares of the Issuer held by the Funds However all securities reported are owned by the Funds Dimensional disclaims beneficial

ownership of such securities The Funds have the right to receive or the power to direct the receipt of dividends from or the

proceeds from the sale of the securities held in their respective accounts To the knowledge of Dimensional the interest of any one

such Fund does not exceed five percent of the class of securities

Based upon Schedule 13G Amendment No filed on April 2013 Wells Fargo Company filed this Schedule 13G/A

Amendment No.1 on its own behalf and on behalf of its subsidiaries Wells Capital Management Incorporated Wells Fargo

Funds Management LLC and Wells Fargo Advisors LLC This amount represents aggregate ownership on consolidated basis



Security Ownership of Directors and Named Executive Officers

The following table shows the amount of our common stock beneficially owned by our current directors

director nominees our named executive officers andour current dirctors and named executive officers presently

serving as group Except as otherwise indicated all iriformation is as of April 2013 Except as otherwise

indicated in the footnotes to this table the address of each person listedbelow is do First Acceptance CorpoEation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive Nashville Tennessee 37215

Acquirable

Outstanding Within 60 Percent of

Name Shares 1_ Days Class

Jeremy Ford 1960365 -- 4.8%

DonaldJ Edwards 536666 -- 1.3%

Rhodes Bobbitt 474611 -- 1.2%

Tom Nichols 52500 --

William Shipp Jr 18501 --

Harvey Cash 7000 --

Lyndon Olson Jr 7000

Mark Kelly 100000 450000 1.3%

Daniel Walker 31109 100000

Joseph Borbely 30000
All current directors and executive officers

as agroup 10 persons 3187802 580000 9.1%

Represents less than 1% of our outstandingcommon stock

The number of shares shown includes shares that are individually or jointly owned as well as shares over which the

individual has either sole or shared investment or voting authority

Reflects the number of shares that could be purchased by exercise of options exercisable on April 42013 or within 60

days thereafter under our stock incentive plan

Pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC shares of ôommon stock that an

individual owner has right to acquire within 60 days pursuant to the exerciseof stock options are deemed to be

outstanding for the purpose of computing the ownership of that owner but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose

of computing the ownership of any other individual owner Likewise the shares subject to options held by our directors

and executive officers that are exercisable within60 days are all deemed outstanding fpr the purpose of computing the

percentage ownership of all executive officers and directors as agroup

Excludes shares beneficially owned by Hunters Glen See Principal Stockholders table. Mr Jeremy Ford is the

beneficiary of trust that owns approximately 46% of Hunters Glen Mr Jeremy Ford disclaims beneficial ownership

of the shares owned by Hunters Glen except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein

Address Flexpomt Ford LLC 676 Michigan Avenue Suite 3300 Chicago Illinois 60611

Includes 933 shares of unvested restncted stock



Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

The federal securities laws require our directors and executive officers and persons who own more than 10%

of our common stock to timely file with us and the SEC initialreports of ownership and reports of changes in

ownership Based solely upon review of filings with the SEC and written representations that no other reports were

required we believe that all of our directors and officers complied during 2012 and the Transition Period with their

reporting requirements other than Messrs Keith Bomemann Stephen Harrison and Thomas Harrison Jr Mr
Bornemann filed one late Form reporting the payment of tax withholding liability upon the vesting of restricted

stock by delivering 76 shares of common stock to the Company Messrs Stephen Harrison and Thomas Harrison

each filed one Form day late to report the dispositionof all of their shares of Company common stock and correct

the form of ownership of portion of the common stock disposed

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance Guidelines

We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that outline the composition operations and

responsibilities of the Board of Directors The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has authority to

review considerations relating to Board size and membership criteria and with input from the Chairman and the other

directors is responsible for reviewing the skills and characteristics required of directors by legal regulatory and

business requirements applicable to our business We do not have formal policy with respect to the consideration of

diversity in identifing nominees to serve as director but the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

seeks to nominate persons with diversity of experience and perspective who will contribute knowledge experience

and skills to the Board of Directors in areas that are important to the Company

Our bylaws provide maximum flexibility to the Board of Directors in choosing Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer The bylaws provide that such offices may be held by different people or the same person

as determined by the Board This flexibility allows the Board to determine whether it is in the best interest of the

Company and our stockholders to combine the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board in the

same person We currently have non-employee director serving as our Chairman of the Board and the Board of

Directors believes that the separation of the rnles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer enhances the

Boards oversight of the Company and our management results in greater role for the Board of Directors in setting

the Boards agenda and establishing Board priorities and procedures and improves the ability Øfthe Board to carry

out its roles and responsibilities on behalf of our stockholders

The Corporate Governance Guidelines require that at least majority of the members of the Board be

independent as defined by applicable law and the standards of the.New York Stock Exchange The Board has

determined that each of Messrs Bobbitt Cash Nichols Olson and Shipp are independent within the meaning of

the rules of the New York Stock Exchange as currently in effect The Corporate Governance Guidelines also require

that all of the members of the Audit Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of the

Board be independent copy of our Corporate Governance Guidelines may be found on the corporate governance

page of our website at www.acceptanceinsurance.com and we will send written copy of our Corporate Governance

Guidelines to any stockholder who requests copy by delivering written notice to Investor Relations First

Acceptance Corporation 3813 Green Hills Village Drive Nashville Tennessee 37215

Stockholders and all other interested parties may send communications to the Chairman of the Board at 3813

Green Hills Village Drive Nashville Tennessee 37215

The Boards Role in Risk Oversight

The Board as whole and also through its standing committees has an active role in overseeing management

of the Companys risks The Board and its committees review material operational financial compensation and

compliance risks with our senior management The Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing the

management of risks related to our compensation arrangements The Audit Committee oversees management of



financial risks as well as our policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management The Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee oversees our corporate compliance programs and manages risks associated with the

independence of our directors Members of our management report directly tothe Board or the appropriate committee

The directors then use this information to understand identify manage and attempt to mitigate risks

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that outlines the principles policies and laws

that govern our activities and establishes guidelines for professional conduct in the workplace The Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics includes provisions relating to ethical conduct conflicts of interest compliance with law and

internal reporting of violations of the code The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to directors as well as

executive officers and other employees Every employee is required to read and certify that he or she has read and

understands and will comply with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics copy of our Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics may be found on the corporate governance page of our website at

www.acceptanceinsurance.com and we will send written copyof our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any

stockholder who requests copy by delivering written notice to Investor Relations First Acceptance Corporation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive Nashville Tennessee 37215 We intend to disclose amendments to or waivers from

the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics forthe benefit of our executive officers or directors if any on our web site

at www acceptanceinsurance corn



PROPOSAL ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is curreniLy comprised ofseven members At the recommendation of the Nominating

and Corporate Governance Committee the Board of DireŁtors has nominated and recommends to the stockholders

Rhodes Bobbitt Harvey Cash Donald Edwards Jeremy Ford Tom Nichols Lyndon Olson Jr and

William Shipp Jr for election to serve as directors until our next annual meeting of stockholders and utitil such

time as their respective successors are duly elected and qualified Each of the director nominees is currently

director and was elected by the stockholders at our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

If any of the nominees should become unable to accept election the persons named in the proxy may vote

for such other person or persons as may be designated by the Board of Directors Management has no reason to

believe that any of the nominees named above will be unable to serve

Certain information with respect to the nominees for election as directors is set forth below including with

respect to each director nominee his particular experience qualifications attributes and skills that qualify him to

serve as director

Rhodes Bobbitt 67 has served as director of the Company since August 2004 From February 1987

until his retirement in June 2004 Mr Bobbitt served as Managing Director and Dallas Regional Office Manager of

the Private Client Service Group Credit Suisse First Boston and its predecessor Donaldson Lufkin Jenrette

Prior to joining Donaldson Luficin Jenrette Mr Bobbitt was Vice President of Security Sales in the Dallas office

of Goldman Sachs Co Mr Bobbitt is director of Hilltop Holdings Inc Mr Bobbitt has executive experience in

finance and investments

Harvey ash 74 has served as director of the Company since November 1996 Mr Cash has been

general partner of InterWest Partners venture capital fund since 1986 Mr Cash is director of Silicon

Laboratories Ciena Corporation and Argo Group International Holdings Ltd Mr Cash has experience in strategic

planning finance and investments Mr Cash was formerly director of Entarian Technologies Inc Airspan

Networks Inc and i2 Technologies Inc

DonaldJ Edwards 47 has served as director of the Company since July 2002 Mr Edwards currently is

the Managing Principal for Flexpoint Ford LLC Chicago-based private equity firm and served as our President

and Chief Executive Officer from July 2002 through April 2004 Prior to July 2002 Mr Edwards served as

principal in GTCR Golder Rauner Chicago-based private equity firm for over five years Mr Edwards has

experience in strategic planning management finance and investments

Jeremy Ford 38 has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and director of the Company since

November 2011 He previously served as director of the Company from September 2000 through April 2004 and as

an employee from July 2002 through April 2004 Since March 2010 Mr Jeremy Ford has served as director

President and ChiefExecutive Officer of Hilltop Holdings Inc Hilltop financial holding company that owns

PlainsCapital Bank PrimeLending mortgage lender First Southwest Company public and corporate finance

clearing and asset management and NLASCO Inc property and casualty insurance company Mr Jeremy Ford

has worked in the financial services industry for over twelve years primarily focused on investments in and

acquisitions of depository institutions and insurance and finance companies Prior to becoming President and Chief

Executive Officer of Hilltop he was principal of Ford Financial Fund L.P private equity fund managed by Mr
Gerald Ford the Companys former Chairman of the Board of Directors who controls approximately 58% of our

outstanding common stock From 2004 to 2008 he worked for Diamond A-Ford Corporation where he was involved

in various investments made by family limited partnership Prior to that he worked at the Company prior to its

acquisition of USAuto Holdings Inc California Federal Bank FSB now Citigroup Inc and Salomon Smith

Barney now Citigroup Inc. He has executive experience in operating public insurance company as well as in

finance and strategic transactions Jeremy Ford is the son of Gerald Ford

Tom Nichols 65 has served as director of the Company since November 2005 Mr Nichols has served

as Chairman and ChiefExecutive Officer of Carlile Holdings Inc bank holding company and Carlile Bancshares

Inc since March 2008 Mr Nichols served as President and director of First United Bancorp and Chairman

President and Chief Executive Officer of State National Bancshares Fort Worth from October 1996 to March 2008



Mr Nichols previously served as President of Ford Bank Group and as director of United New Mexico Financial

Corporation Mr Nichols has executive experience in strategic planning management and finance

Lyndon Olson Jr 66 has served as director of the Company since August 2004 Since June 2011 Mr
Olson has served as Chairman of HillKnowlton Strategies NewYork and Sweden global public relations

company Mr Olson served as senior advisor to Citigroup Inc serving as consultant to senior management from

2001 until 2008 Mi Olson served as United States Ambassador to Sweden from 1998 until 2001 From 1990 to

1998 Mr Olson serwd with Citigroup as President and Chief Executive Officer of Travelers Insurance Group

Holdings Inc and Associated Madison Companies Inc Prior to joining Citigroup Mr Olson served as President of

the National Group Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of its National Group Insurance Company Mr Olson

has executive experience in strategic planning management insurance regulatory compliance and finance with

particular emphasis on the insurance industry

William Shipp Jr 60 has served as director of the Company since August 2004 Mr Shipp has been

principal of W.A Shipp Jr Co financial advisory firm since July 1995 and has served as Treasurer/Secretary

of the Jack Massey Foundation since July 1999 From December 1983 to June 1995 Mr Shipp served as Vice

President of Massey Investment Company Prior to joining Massey Investment Company Mr Shipp worked for more

than eight years in various audit and tax capacities for Ernst Young LLP Mr Shipp is certified public

accountant Mr Shipp has experience in accounting finance and investments

Required Vote Recommendation of the Board

The affirmative vote of plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting is

required for the election of directors Abstentions will be counted in determining whether there is quorum but will

not be voted with respect to the proposal Therefore so long as quorum has been established abstentions and

broker nonvotes will not be counted as votes cast and have no effect on whether this proposal is approved Under

applicable rules broker or other nominee does not possess the authority to vote for the election of director nominees

in the absence of instructions from the beneficial owner of the relevant shares Stockholders may not cumulate votes

in the election of directors

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees identified

above



How Are Our Directors Compensated

Each non-employee director receives an annual retainer of $20000 payable
in equal quarterly installments

in arrears The Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors receives an additional annual retainer of

$5000 payable in equal quarterly installments in arrears Non-employee directrs also receive fee of $2000 for

each Board of Directors meeting attended and $1000 for each Board committee meeting attended In addition non-

employee directors other than Messrs Edwards and Ford receive an award pursuant to the AnŁnded and Restated

First Acceptance Corporation 2002 Long Term Incentive Platiof 1000 shares of restricted stock on the date of each

annual meeting of our stockholders The restricted stock is subject to forfeiture if the director ceases to serve as

director of the Company during the period of six months following the date of the award subject to certain

exceptions.

The following table summarizes information with respect to the compensation paid to the members of our

Board in 2012

Fees Earned Stock

or Paid in Awards

Name Cash Total

Rhodes Bobbitt 35000 1250 36250

Harvey Cash 29000 1250 30250
Donald Edwards 30000 -- 30000

Jeremy Ford 28000 -- 28000

Tom Nichols 34000 1250 35250

Lyndon Olson Jr 30000 1250 31250

William Shipp Jr 40000 1250 41250

Represents the proportionate amount of the total value of stock awards to directors from the 2011 grants that were recognized as

an expense during the Transition Period and 2012 for financial accounting purposes under Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASBAccounting Standards Codification ASC 718-20 Compensation Stock Compensation disregarding for this

purpose estimated forfeitures relating to service-based vesting conditions Compensation expense is equal to the grant date fair

value of the stock awards using the closing price for the Companys common stock on the New York Stock Exchange the date

of grant $1.25 As of December 31 2012 there were no unvested stock awards held by our non-employee directors

What Committees Has the Board Established

The Board of Directors has standing Audit Compensation Nominating and Corporate Governance and

Investment Committees copy of the charter for each committee may be found on the corporate governance page of

our website at www.acceptanceinsurance.com and is available to any stockholder who requests copy by delivering

written notice to Investor Relations First Acceptance Corporation 3813 Green Hills Village Drive Nashville

Tennessee 37215

Audit Committee We have standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3a 58
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to oversee our

accounting and financial reporting processes and audits of our financial statements ii to engage or discharge our

independent registered public accounting firm iii to review the nature and scope of the audit including but not

limited to determination of the effectiveness of the audit effort through meetings held at least annually with

independent auditors and determination through discussion with the auditors that no unreasonable restrictions were

placed on the scope or implementation of their examinations iv to oversee and review the independence

qualifications and performance of the auditors to pre-approve all auditing and non-auditing services to be

provided by our independent registered public accounting firm vi to review our financial statements and

disclosures in our periodic reports with management and our independent registered public accounting firm vii to

review our policies with respect to risk assessment risk management and the quality and adequacy of our internal

controls and processes through discussions with and reports from our independent registered public accounting firm

and management viii to establish procedures for handling any complaints relating to accounting internal controls

or auditing matters and to ensure that such complaints are treated confidentially and anonymously ix to review

material changes in accounting and reporting principles and practices and discuss with management and outside

auditors the selection application and disclosure of critical accounting policies and practices used in our financial

statements to retain at our expense outside counsel auditors or other experts consultants or advisors as it deems

10



necessary or appropriate in the performance of its duties and xi toreport to the full Board of Directors on the

results of its reviews The Audit Committee operates under written charter adopted by the full Board of Directors

Members of the Audit Committee are Messrs Bobbitt Nichols and Shipp allOf whom are independent directors Mr
Shipp is an audit committee financial expert as defined in Item 407d iiof Regulation S-K During 2012 the

Audit Committee met four times

Compensation Committee The functions of the Compensation Committee include reviewing and approving

the Companys compensation policies the compensation arrangements for senior management and directors the

compensation and benefit plans in which officers and directorsare eligible to participate and awards under and
otherwise administering such plans The Compensation Committee operates undrawritten charter adopted by the

full Board of Directors Members of the Compensation Committee are Messrs Cash Nichols and Olson all of whom

are independent directors During 2012 the Compensation Committee met two times

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is

responsible for identifying qualified individuals to serve as directors reviewing the qualifications of incumbent directors

and those candidates proposed by director executive officer or stockholder making recommendations to the full Board

of Directors regarding such candidates recommending the candidates that will serve on the various committees of the

Board reviewing Board composition and reviewing the management succession plan of the Company

When determining whether to nominate current director to be reelected as director the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee must review the performance of the director during the prior year using performance

criteria established by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee which at minimum shall include

attendance at Board and Committee meetings

preparedness for Board and Committee meetings

quality of objectivity in exercising business judgment

participation at Board and Committee meetings and

candor toward other directors management and professionals retained by the Company

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has no specifically defined process for identifying

and evaluating nominees but it seeks to identify potential candidates for membership on the Board through

conversations with members of the Board senior management and other constituencies The Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee may from time to time engage third party to identify or evaluate or assist in

identifying or evaluating potential nominees The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is also

responsible for
reviewing

the qualifications and performance of incumbent directors to determine whether to

recommend them to the Board of Directors as nominees for re-election

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also considers nominees proposed by our

stockholders in accordance with the provisions contained in our bylaws and certificate of incorporation Nominations

made by stockholders must be made by written notice setting forth the information required by our bylaws and

certificate of incorporation received by the secretary of the Company at least 60 days in advance of the annual

meeting of stockholders or if later within ten days after the first public notice of that meeting is sent to

stockholders Stockholders may propose nominees for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee by submitting the names and supporting information to Investor Relations First Acceptance Corporation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive Nashville Tennessee 37215

In addition the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and

recommending corporate governance policies for the Company reviewing potential conflicts of interest involving

directors or executive officers of the Company evaluating Board performance including the effectiveness of current

Board policies and practices and reviewing any regulatory requirements relating to the continuing education of

directors The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates under written charter adopted by the full

Board of Directors Members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are Messrs Bobbitt Cash

and Shipp all of whom are independent directors The Nominating Committee did not meet in 2012

In vestment Committee The Investment Committee is responsible for among other things reviewing

investment policies strategies and programs reviewing the procedures that we utilize in determining that funds are
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invested in accordance with policies and limits approved by the Investment Committee and reviewing the quality and

performance of our investment portfolios and the alignment of asset duration to liabilities Members of the

Investment Committee are Messrs Bobbitt Edwards and Shipp During 2012 the Investment Committee met four

times

How Often Did the Board Meet During 2012

The Board of Directors met four tithes during 2012 Each of the directors attended at least 75% of the

aggregate of all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the committees on which the director served

All of the directors attended our 2011 ammal meeting of stockholders As result of the change in our fiscal year end

there was no 2012 annual meeting of stockholders

How Do Communicate with the Board

Stockholders and all other interested parties can send communications to the Board of Directors and if

applicable to specified individual directors do First Acceptance Corporation 3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215 All stockholder communications will be forwarded directly to the Board of Directors or

if applicable to specified individual directors If the amount of correspondence received through this process

becomes excessive our Board of Directors may consider approving process for review organization and screening

of the correspondence by the corporate Secretary or other appropriate person

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with our Related Party Transaction Policy our Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the terms and conditions of all transactions involving the

Company and our executive officers directors and beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock and their

affiliates The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers all relevant information and facts

available regarding related party transaction and takes into account factors that it deems to be appropriate

including without limitation whether the transaction is on terms no less favorable to the Company than could be

obtained from unaffihiated third parties and whether the transaction is reasonably expected to benefit the Company

Approval of the Nominating and Corporate Governanôe Committee is not required for compensation paid to any

director of the Company for services rendered to the COmpany in his capacity as director if the compensation is

required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable SEC rules The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is

also not required to approve any compensation paid to an executive officer of the Company if the compensation is

required to be reported pursuant to applicable SEC rules or if the executive officer is not an immediate family

member of another executive officer or director ofthe Company the compensation would be required to be included

if the executive officer was named executive officer and the Companys Compensation Committee approved such

compensation

Mark Kelly our Chief Executive Officer and former Interim President is principal with Diamond-A

Corporation an entity controlled by Gerald Ford our former Chairman of the Board of Directors who controls

approximately 58% of our outstanding common stock Mr Kelly also provides consulting services to Flexpoint Ford

LLC an entity controlled by current director of the Company Donald Edwards Mr Kellys compensation as

Chief Executive Officer and former interim President of the Company for 2012 is included herein

Corey Prestidge the son-in-law of Gerald Ford our former Chairman of the Board of Directors who

controls approximately 58% of our outstanding common stock and the brother-in-law of our Chairman of the Board

Jeremy Ford provides legal services to the Company Mr Prestidge is also General Counsel and Secretary with

Hilltop Holdings Inc an affiliate of Gerald Ford Mr Prestidges compensation for 2012 was $73800
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our current executive officers

Name Age Position

MarkA Kelly 44 ChiefExecutive Officer

Joseph Borbely 55 President

Daniel L.Walker 49 Senior Vice President Operations

Mark Kelly has served as our Chief Executive Officer since July 2012 Mr Kelly served as our Interim

President from March 2011 to July 2012 and our Interim Chief Executive.Officer from December 2011 to July 2012

and has 20 years of banking and lending experience Prior to being named interim President of the Company Mr
Kelly was Vice President of Ford Financial Fund L.P priyate equity fund managed by Gerald Ford Prior to

that Mr Kelly held the position of Senior Vice President Credit and Risk Management with Triad Financial SM
LLC Triad From 2002 to 2007 Mr Kelly worked with Hunters Glen/Ford Ltd. our principal
stockholder From 1994 to 2002 he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Auto One

Acceptance Corporation subsidiary of California Federal Bank FSB Mr Kelly is current1ya director of

American Bank N.A On September 22 2006 Mr Kelly and the Securities and Exchange Commission entered into

Judgment and Order of Dismissal stemming from allegations of tipper liability for insider trading conducted by

others The Judgment and Order of Dismissal did not contain any prohibition on his service in any industry including

for any length of time and did not require him to pay any fines or penaltiçs to the Securities and Exchange

Commission

Joseph Borbely has served as our President since July 2012 Mr Borbely served as our Senior Vice

President of Sales and Marketing from July 2011 to July 2012 and has over thirty years of experience in the financial

services and specialty retail industries Prior to joining the Company Mr Borbely served as President of EZMONEY
division of EZCorp Inc operating over 550consurner financial service centers in the United States and Canada

From 2007 to 2009 Mr Borbely served as Senior Vice President of Store Operations at Hancock Fabncs Inc

national chain of retail stores offenng textiles and related accessones From 2005 to 2007 Mr Borbely served as

Executive Vice President at Allied Cash Holdings national provider of consumer short term loans Mr Borbely

served with Hollywood Video national chain of over 2000 superstores from 1996 to 2005 holding various

executive positions that ultimately led to his promotion to Executive Vice President of Operations Mr Borbely has

held various leadership positions for several major retailers such as the Foot Locker and Baker Inc

Daniel Walker has served as our Senior Vice President Operations sice October 2007 haying

responsibilities for both claims and underwnting Mr Walker served as our Senior Vice President Claims from July

2007 to October 2007 and Vice President Claims from March 2007 to July 2007 He has over 20
years claims

experience and served as Chief Claim Officer for Canal Insurance Company from August 2002 to March 2007
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Board of Direôtors is composed of three directors who are independent

directors as defined under the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock

Exchange The Audit Committee operates under written charter adopted by the full Board of Directors The Audit

Committees responsibilities include oversight of our independent registered public accounting firm and internal audit

function as well as oversight of our fmancial reporting process on behalf of the full Board ofDiiectors Management

has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process Our independent registered

public accounting firm is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of our audited financial statements

to generally accepted accounting principles

In this context for 2012 the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management and the

independent registered public accounting firm the audited financial statements Management represented to the Audit

Committee that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States The Audit Committee reviewed report on the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting and Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

and Ernst and Youngs Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm which are included in our

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

The Audit Committee discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required

to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards Nos 61 89 and 90 Codification Of Statements on Auditing

Standards AU 380 The Audit Committee has receivedthe written disclosures and the letter frOm the independent

accountant required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the

independent accountants communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed

with the independent accountant the independent accountants independence The Audit Committee has considered

whether the independent registered public accounting firms provision of non-audit services to the Company is

compatible with maintaining the registered public accounting firm independence

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above the Audit Committee recommended to the full

Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2012 which was filed with the SEC

THEAUDIT COMMITTEE
Rhodes Bobbitt

Tom Nichols

William Shipp Jr

The foregoing report of the Audit Committeeshall not be deemedincorporated by reference by any general

statement incorporating by reference the proxy statement into any filing under the Secunttes Act of 1933 or the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates this information by

reference and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under suchaCts
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion

and Analysis required by Item 402b of Regulatioti S-K with management and based upon such review and

discussions the Compensation Committee composed of Messrs Cash Nichols and Olson recommended to the

Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement

THE OMPENSATIQN COMMITTEE

Harvey Cash

Tom Nichols

Lyndon Olson Jr

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Compensation Process The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors is responsible

for establishing the compensation arrangements for our employees including our executive officers and reviewing and

making recommendations to the full Board of Directors regaining non-employee director compensation The

Compensation Committee is also responsible for the administration of our stoºk incentive plans and other compensation

plans in which our employees participate It is the responsibility of the Compensation Committee to determine whether

in its judgment our executive compensation policies are reasonable and appropnate meet the stated objectives of those

policies and effectively serve our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders Each member of the

Compensation Committee is an independent director as defined under the applicable rules of the New York Stock

Exchange and our Corporate Governance Guidelines non-employee director as defined in Rule 6b-3 of the rules

promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and an outside director for the purposes of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1986 in each case as determined by our BoÆtd of DirectOrs

The Compensation Committee reviews our compensation policies on an annual basis and the compensation

of individual executives is reviewed annually in light of the compensation policies for that year In setting and

reviewing executive compensation in addition to corporate performance the Compensation Committee believes it is

appropriate to consider the level of experience and responsibilities of each executive as well as the personal

contributions particular individual may make to the corporate enterprise No relative weight is assigned to

quantitative or qualitative factors considered by the Compensation Committee in reaching its decisions The

Company did not engage compensation consultant or engage in benchmarking of comparable companies in

determining the compensation of its executive officers during 2012

Role of Executive Officers in Compensation Decisions The Compensation Committee makes all decisions

regarding the compensation of our executive officers The Compensation Committee anpually evaluates the

performance of our executive officers and our chief executive officer and prcsident provide the Compensation

Committee with their assessment of the performance of our executive officers other than themselves Decisions

regarding the compensation of employees other than our executive officers are made by our chief executiye officer

and president in consultation .with other members of management.. .Each of the chief executive officer and president

does not play any role with respect to any matter impacting his own compensation.

What Is Our Philosophy of Executive Officer Compensation

The Compensation Committee believes that.the primary objectives of our executive compensation policies

should be

TO attract and retain talented executives by providing compensation that is overall competitive

with the compensation provided to exectitives at companies of comparable position iii our industry
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while maintaining compensation within levels that are consistent with our annual budget financial

objectives and operating performance

To provide appropriate incentives for executives to work toward the achievement of our annual

financial performance and business goals and

To align the interests of executives with those of our stockholders and the long-term interests of the

Company by providing long-term incentive compensation in the form of stock options restricted

stock or other equity-based long-term incentive compensation

The Compensation Conmiittee is committed to strong link between our financial and strategic objectives

and our compensation and benefit practices It is the Committees objective to have substantial portion of each

executive officers compensation contingent upon our performance as well as upon his or her individual

performance Accordingly the Compensation Committees compensation philosophy for an executive officer

emphasizes an overall analysis of the executives performance for the prior year his or her projected role and

responsibilities required impact on execution of our strategy total cash and equity compensation internally and other

factors the Compensation Committee deems appropriate

Elements oJ2012 Executive Compensation Overall our executive compensation program is designed to

be consistent with the objectives and principles set forth above For 2012 the principal components of compensation

for our executive officers were

Base Salary We provide executive officers with base salanes to compensate them for services provided

dunng the year The Compensation Committee generally reviews the base salanes of our executive officers on an

annual basis In determining whether an increase in base compensation for the executive officers is appropnate the

Compensation Committee considers the performance of the Company and the executive officer dunng the pnor year

the executive officers level of base salary relative to other executive officers of the Company and the

recommendations of the chief executive officer and president Based upon these factors the Compensation

Committee approved base salanes for our named executive officers for 2012 and 2011 as follows

2012 2011

Name Base Salary Base Salary

Mark Kelly 400000 400000

Joseph Borbely 300000
Daniel Walker 240000 240000
John Barnett 210000 210000

Keith Bornemann2 160000 160000

Mr Bamett served as our Senior Vice President of Finance untii February 28 2013

Mr Bomemann served as our Vice President and Corporate Controiler untii December 31 2012

Annual Incentive Compensation The Compensation Committee believes that annual incentive compensation

should be utilized to motivate the participants to achieve certain corporate and business objectives and operating

results and reward them when these elements are sÆtisfiŁd Pursuant to the terms of their employment agrººrnents

with the Company the maximum total bonus award that Daniel Walker John Bamett and Keith Bomemann

were eligible to receive for the twelve months ended June 30 2012 was 50% Of base salary for Mr Walker 40% of base

salary for Mr Bamett and 35% of base salary forMr Bomemann Mark Kelly and Joseph Borbely do not have

employment agreements with the Company On September 2011 the Compensation Committee adopted the 2012

Management Bonus Program which was consistent with the previously stated objectives of the annual incentive

component of executive compensation For non-senior executive officers and key employees 50% of their respective

bonus potential was subject to the Company achieving its financial pre-tax income projectiotis for the twelve months

ended June 30 2012 The remainder was based on specific management business objectives set forth for that

particular participant For senior executive officers certain financial performance metric targets including premiums

written claims loss and loss adjustment expense ratios net expense ratio and pre-tax income were approved as

benchmarks for use by the Compensation Committee to evaluatethe performance of the particular senior executive

officer and determination of their respective annual incentive payout Annual incentive payouts greater than 50% of

potential would be in the form of equity grants All equity award grants were subject to prior approval of the

Compensation Committee On August 28 2012 the Compensation Committee approved the annual incentive
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compensation to our executive officers for the twelve months ended June 30 2012 such payment to be made subject to

the Company reporting pre-tax income in any given calendar quarter following it approval as determined in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles exclusive of certain non-recurring items and continued employment at that

date The Company reported pre-tax net income for the three months ended September 30 2012 and the following

bonuses were paid

Name Title Cash Bonus

Mark Kelly Chief Executive Officer 175000

Joseph Borbely President 75000
Daniel Walker Senior Vice President Operations 60000

John Barnett Senior Vice President of Finance 60 000

Keith Bomemann Vice President and Corporate Controller 28000

The Company did not achieve its pre-tax income target for the twelve-months ended June 30 2012

Accordingly the foregoing bonuses for non-senior executive officers of the Company were based solely upon their

achievement of certain specific management business objectives set forth for them at the begrnning of the period For

Messrs Kelly and Borbely the Compensation Committee reviewed the Company performance as compared to

targets of the fmancial performance metrics descnbed above and awarded the cash incentive payments descnbed

above which represented 50% and 66% respectively of their respective total eligible award under the plan For the

twelve months ended June 30 2012 the total annual incentive payment was 48 5% of the total eligible annual

incentive award The following summanzes the initiatives planned and executed by management during the twelve

months ended June 30 2012

Reorganized sales and marketing departments adding 32 district managers to drive accountability

and Success at the retail locatiOn level

Replaced leadership and approximately 500 agents and customer service representatiies

Developed and launched new corporate website that provides customers with the opportunity to

quote and purchase insurance online

Implemented E-Signature in all retail locations the call center and the internet

Launched new brand and remodeled over 300 retail locations in 90 days

Developed in-house loss reserving and rate indication capabilities which reduced costs and

provided faster and greater detail surrounding industry trends and

Developed new on-boarding processes and guidelines online licensing and training and candidate

assessments to improve hiring

The key financial indicators that demonstrated success of the initiatives included

$2 million increase in operating revenues first increase smce fiscal 2007

$9 million increase in premrnms wntten

Growth in new business for eight consecutive months

6% improvement in the conversionratio and

9% increase in policies-in-force year over year

There were no cash payments available to the named executive officers or other employees for performance

during the period from July 2012 to December 31 2012

Equity Awards Equity awards including stock options and restricted common stock restricted stock

awards are the principal vehicle for payment of long-term compensation for our executive officerS The

Compensation Committee believes stock-based incentive compensationshould be structured so as to closely align the

interests of the executive officers with the interestsof our stockholders All equity awardsare granted pursuant to

incentive plans approved by our stockholders The Compensation Committee determines the equity award grants to

the executive officers and takes into account the recommendations of the chief executive officer and presidentprior

to approving awards of stock-based incentive compensation Equity awards are granted in part to reward the seniOr

executives for their long-term strategic management of the Company and to motivate the executives to improve

stockholder value The Compensation Committee may also grant an award to an executive officer upon the
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commencement of his or her employment with the Company or upon change in his or her duties or responsibilities

with the Company During 2012 the Compensation Committee awarded an aggregate of 825000 stock options to our

chief executive officerand president Such stock awards are reflected in the Summary Compensation and Grants of

Plan-Based Awards tables

401k Plan The Company maintains 401k plan that provides for matching contribution by the

Company of 100% of the participants voluntary salary contributions of the first 3% of the participants salary

contributed by the participant plus 50% of the next 2% of salary up to the maximum voluntary salary contribution

established by the US Department of Labor

Perquisites and Other Benefits The Company does not generally provide material perquisites that are not

in the Compensation Committees view integrally and directly related to the executive officers duties Our executive

officers participate in broad-based benefit.prograrns that are generally available to our salaried employees including

health dental disability and life insurance programs

Benefits upon Termination of EmploymenL We have employment agreements with certain of our executive

officers other than Messrs Kelly and Borbely These agreements generally provide that if the executive is terminated

without cause or resigns
for good reason as defined in the employment agreements the executive will receive

certain severance payments and benefits The Compensation Committee previously believed that the severance

provisions contained in the employment agreements were an important element in attracting and retammg executive

officers See Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control for information with respect to potential

payments and benefits under these employment agreements and our other compensation arrangements upon the

termination of our executive officers Except for limited circumstances the Compensation Committee does not

anticipate providing for these arrangements in the future

Tax and Accounting Matters Section 162m of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 enacted as part of the

Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 generally disallows tax deduction to public companies for

compensation over $1000000 paid to the chief executive officer and the four other most highly compensated

executive officers Under Internal Revenue Service regulations qualifing performance-based compensation will not

be subject to the deduction limit if certain requirements are met The Compensation Committee expects to continue to

monitor the application of Section 162m to executive compensation and will take appropriate action if it is

warranted in the future We operate our compensation programs with the intention of complying with Section 409A

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986

Employment Agreements

We have employment agreements with certain of our named executive officers other than Messrs Kelly and

Borbely The employment agreements provide for minimum base salary adjusted for such increases as the

Compensation Committee determines to be appropriate The employment agreements provide that the Company will

employ the executive until the executives termination of employment with the Company In the event the

executives employment with the Company is terminated for any reason including termination by the Company for

or without cause resignation by the executive for or without good reason or the executives death or disability he

will be entitled to receive his accrued but unpaid base salary bonus and vacation pay through the effective date of

termination and unreimbursed employment-related expenses In the event the executives employment with the

Company is terminated by the Company for cause as defined under Potential Payments upon Termination or

Change in Control or by the executive without good reason as defined under Potential Payments upon

Termination or Change in Control the Company shall have no further obligations under the employment

agreement In the event the executives employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without cause

by the executive for good reason or as the result of death or disability or in connection with change in control as

defined under Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control the employment agreement provides

that the executive will be entitled to severance payments and benefits as described below under Potential Payments

Upon Termination or Change in Control Payment of the severance payments and benefits generally is conditioned

upon the executives compliance with other provisions of his employment agreement which include limitations upon

his use and disclosure of confidential information solicitation of employees interference with the Companys
business opportunities and an obligation not to compete with the business of the Company for specified period

following termination of employment
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Compensation Risk Assessment

The Compensation Committee has çŁviçwed our compensation plans and policies to determine whether they

encourage
excessive or inappropriate risk-taking by our employees including our named executive officers This

assessment included review of our business and the design of Our incentive plans and policies Our compensation

arrangements include base salaries at levels that the Compensation Committee believes provides employees with

steady income so that they are not encouraged to focus on short-term performance criteria to the detriment of other

important Company measures The performance measures used in our incentive-based compensation arrangements are

based primarily upon Company measures which we believe encourages executives and other employees to focus on

overall corporate performance rather than individual performance or the performance of specific part of our business

provide for payments based upon multiple levels of performance and are capped at specified percentage of annual

salary Based upon its review the Compensation Committee has determined that our cQmpensation plans and policies

taken as whole are not reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on the Company

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2012 the Compensation Committee of the Bard of Directors was composed of Harvey Cash
Tom Nichols and Lyndon Olson Jr None of these persons has at any time been an officer or employee of the

Company or any of its subsidiaries In addition there are no relationships among our executive officers members of

the Compensation Committee or entities whose executives serve on the Board of Directors or the Compensation

Committee that require disclosure under applicable SEC regulations

19



Summary Compensation Table Fiscal Year 2010 through Calendar Year 2012

The following table sets forth compensation for 2012 the Transition Period and the fiscal years ended June

30 2011 and 2010 earned by our chief executive officer ii our chief financial officer and iii our three next

highest paid executive officers who were either serving in such capacities on December 31 2012 or during 2012 or

are reportable pursuant to applicable SEC regulations

Non-Equity

Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other

Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Conpensation

Name and PrincipalPosition Year 513 _____________ _____________ TotalS

Mark Kelly 2012 393590 175000 -- 47475O 6375 1110625
Chief Executive Officer and 201 11 200000 -- -- -- .-- 42393 242393

formerinterimPresident 2011 133333 -- -- -- -- 25056 158389

Joseph Borbely 2012 257692 75000 -- 47475 -- 380167
President

John Barnett 2012 206635 60000 -- 6973 273608
Former Senior Vice President 20111 105000 -- -- 3094 108094

ofFinance 2011 182292 33600 -- 7071 222963

Daniel Walker 202 236154 60000 9800 305954
Senior Vice President 20111 120000 -- 5800 125800

Operations 2011 240000 48000 4000 292000

2010 240000 85000 -- 325000

Keith Bornemann 2012 164552 28000 -- 7417 199969

Former Vice President and 20111 80000 -- -- 4096 84096

Corporate Controller 2011 160000 22400 -- 7620 190020

2010 160000 30500 6186 8280 204966

Refers to the Transition Period from July 2011 to December31 2011

Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awards granted during each respective period computed in accordance with

FASB ASC 718 Aggregate compensation expense is equal to the closing price of the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock

Exchange on the date of grant multiplied by the number of shares of restricted stock granted

Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards granted during each respective period computed in accordance with FASB ASC

718 Aggregate compensation expense is equal to the grant date fair value of the options estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model See Note to our consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012 for the

assumptions made in determining option values

Represents an annual salary of $400000 prorated for service from March 2011 to June 2011

Represents perquisite amounts paid by the Company for housing and auto costs in Nashville and travel costs between his permanent residence

and Nashville

Represents the matching amounts paid by the Company under our 401k Plan

Mr John Barnett served as our Senior Vice President of Finance until February 28 2013

Mr Keith Bomemann served as our Vice President and Corporate Controller until December 31 2012
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards 2012

The following table sets forthinformation concerning each grant of an equity award made to named

executive officer in 2012

Estimated Future Payouts

Under Non-Equity Incentive

Plan Awards

All Other

Stock Exercise

Awards or Base Grant Date

Number of Price of Fair Value

Shares of Stock and of Stock

Stock or Option and Option

Grant Threshold Maximum Units Awards Awards

Name Date $/sh

MarkA Kelly 1/31/12 -- 750000 1.45 474750

Joseph Borbely 1/31/12 -- 75000 1.45 47475

Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards granted during each respective fiscal period computed in accordance

with FASB ASC 718 Aggregate compensation expense is equal to the grant date fair value of the options estimated using the Black

Scholes option pricing model

Mr Kelly was granted an option to purchase 750000 shares on January 31 2012 The option vested 40% upon grapt and the remainder

vests in equal installments over three-year period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant

Mr Borbely was granted an option to purchase 75000 shares on January 31 2Q12 The option vested 20% upon grant and the

remainder vests in equal installments over four-year period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End 2012

The following table sets forth information concerning outstanding equity awards held by ournamed

executive officers at December 31 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

Securities Securities Number Market Value

Underlying Underlying of Shares or of Shares or

Unexercised Unexercised
Option Option Units of Stock Units of Stock That

Options Options Exercise Expiration That Have Have

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date Not Vested Not Vested

Mark Kelly 300000 450000 1.45 1/31/17

Joseph Borbely 15 000 60000 45 1/31/17

JoIm Bamett 32000 8000 3.04 3/18/18 9706 12133

2697 3371

Daniel Walker 80000 20000 3.04 3/18/18 13866 17333

Mr Kelly wat granted an option to purchase 70000 shares on January 31 2012 The option vested 40% upon grant and the remainder

vests in equal installments over three-year period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant

Mr BorbØly was granted an option to purchase 75000 shares on January 31 2012 The option vested 20% upon grant and the

remainder vests in equal installments over four-year pdriod beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant

Messrs arnett and Walker were granted an option to purchase 40 000 and 100 000 shares respectively on March 18 2008 The

options vest in equal 20% installments o.Łi five-year period beginning on the first thiniversary of the date of grant

The Company issued 24267 and 34667 restricted shares to Messrs Barnett and Walker respectively on February 10 2009 Pursuant

to the restricted stock award agreements the shares vest in equal installments over five-year period beginning on the first anniversary

of the date of grant Unvested restricted stock will become fully exercisable under certain circumstances including termination of

employment of as described within the Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control section Mr Bametts

employment with the Company terminated on February 28 2013

The Company issued 6742 restricted shares to Mr Barnett on November 18 2009 Pursuant to the restricted stock award agreement

the shares vest in equal installments over five-year period beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant Mr Barnetts

employment with the Company terminated on February 28 2013

Market value based on closing share price of $1.25 for the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on

December 31 2012

22



Option Exercises and Stock Vested 2012

The following table Sets fOrth information concerning each equity award held by named executive officer

that vested in 2012 No awards were exercised during 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of

Shares Value Shares Value

Acquired on Realized on Acquired on Realized on

Name Exercise Exercise Vesting Vestings

John Barnett 4853 6115

1348 1618

Daniel Walker 6933 8666

Keith Bornemann 2773 3494

628 754

The Company issued 24267 and 6742 restricted shares to Mr Barnett on Februaiy 10 2009 and November 18 2009 respectively

Pursuant to the restricted stock award agreement of the 24267 shares issued on February 10 2009 4853 shares vested on each of

February 10 2010 2011 and 2012 and of the 6742 shares issued on November 18 2009 1348 shares vested on each of November

18 2010 2011 and 2012 Mr Bametts employment with the Company terminated on February 28 2013

Value realized on vesting based on closing share price of $1.26 for the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock

Exchange on February 10 2012

Value realized on vesting based on closing share price of $1.20 for the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock

Exchange on November 16 2012

The Company issued 34667 restricted shares to Mr Walker on February 10 2009 Pursuant to the restricted stock award agreement

6933 shares vested on each of February 10 2010201 land 2012 while the remaining unvested shares will vest in equal 20%

installments on each anniversary of the date of grant Unvested restricted stock will become fully exercisable under certain

circumstances including termination of employment of Mr Walker as described within the Potential Payments upon Termination or

Change in Control

The Company issued 13866 and 3140 restrirted shares to Mr Bomemann on February 102009 and November 18 2009

respectively Pursuant to the restricted stock award agreement of the 13866 shares issued on each of February 10 2009 2773 shares

vested on each of February 10 2010 201 land 2012 and of the 3140 shares issued on November 18 2009 628 shares vested on each

of November 18 2010 2011 and 2012 Mr Bornemanns employment with the Company terminated on December 31 2012

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information with respect to our equity compensation plans as of December 31
2012

Number of

Securities To Be Weighted Number of Securities

Issued Upon Average Remaining Available

Exercise of Exercise Price For Future Issuance

Outstanding of Outstanding Under Equity
Plan Category Options Options Compensation Plans

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 1594750 2.38 5768644

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders
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Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The Companys named executive officersother than Messrs Kellyand Borbely are subject to written

employment agreements that set forth the consideration payable to such named executive officers in connection with

the termination of their employment Payments of these amounts generally are conditioned upon those named

executive officers compliance with the other provisions of his employment agreement which include limitations

upon his use and disclosure of confidential information solicitation of employees interference with the Company
business opportumties and an obligation nt to compete with the business of the Company for specified period

following termination of employment In addition the stock award agreements to which each of the named executive

officers is party include certain provisions that address the rights of the named executive officers upon termination

Description of Potential Payments on Termination or Change in ControL The discussion below outlines

the amount of compensation payable to those named executive officers of the Company with written employment

agreements in the event of termination of employment or following change in control Except as otherwise noted

or relating to the Amended and Restated First Acceptance Corporation 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan the

discussion below only applies to each of the named executive officers with written employment agreements

Payments Made Upon Any Termination of Employment Regardless of the manner in which named

executive officer employment with the Company is terminated he will be entitled to receive the following amounts

accrued but unpaid base salary through the effective date of termination

accrued but unpaid bonus owed to the executive as of the date of termination

accrued but unpaid vacation pay and

unreimbursed employment-related expenses

Payments Made Upon Termination of Named Executive Officer for Cause The Company may terminate

each named executiv officer for cause which is defined as

his conviction of felony or crime involving moral turpitude

his act of dishonesty or fraud that has caused material harm to the Company

his willful and continued failure to substantially perform duties and obligations under his employment

agreement other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness or

his uncured gross negligence or willful misconduct

If named executive officer were terminated for cause he would not be entitled to receive any amounts

other than as listed under Payments Made upon Any Termination of Employment above

Payments Made Upon Resignation of Named Executive Officer Without Good Reason Each named

executive officer may resign at any time If his resignation were not for good reason as defined below he would

not be entitled to receive any amounts other than as listed under Payments Made upon Any Termination of

Employment above

The term good reason is defined in the named executive officers employment agreements as

reduction in the amount of the executives compensation in manner that constitutes breach of his

employment agreement

material uncured breach of the Companys obligations under the employment agreement

an assignment of duties materially inconsistent with his position duties responsibilities and status with

the Company reduction of his authority material change in his reporting responsibilities titles or

offices or removal of him from any such positions except in connection with the termination of his

employment for cause resignation of his employment other than for good reason or as result of his

death or disability or

requirement that he relocate his place of work to location more than 50 miles from the Companys
current corporate headquarters
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Payments Made Uvon Disability of Named Executive Officer Inthe event of named executive officers

disability defined as executives incapacitation or other absence from his full-time duties for six cOnsecutive

months or for at least 180 days during any 12-month period in either case as result of mental or physical illness or

injury he would be entitled to

all amounts under Payments Made upon Any Termination of Employment above

In the event of named executive officer total and permanent disability as defined below he would

also be entitled to

the immediate termination of all remaining restrictions set forth and relating to all restricted stock

awards granted to him

The term total and permanent disability is defined under the AmeOded and Restated First Acceptance

Corporation 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan as person being qualified for long-term disability benefits under the

Company or one of its subsidiaries disability plans or insurance policies or if no such plan or policy is then in

existence or if such person is not eligible to participate in such plan or policy that the person is incapacitated and

absent from his or her duties with the Company or any of its subsidiaries on full time basis for penod of six

continuous months or for at least one hundred eighty 180 days during any twelve 12 month period as result of

mental or physical illness or physical injury as determined in good faith by the Compensation Committee

Payments Made Uvon Death of Named Executive Officer In the event of named executive officer

death his estate would be entitled to

all amounts under Payments Made Upon Any Termination of Employment above and

the immediate termination of all remaining restrictions set forth and relating to all restricted stock

awards granted to him

Payments Made Upon Retirement of Named Executive Officer In the event of named executive officer

retirement he would be entitled to

all amounts under Payments Made Upon Any Termination of Employment above and

the immediate termination of all remaining restrictions set forth and relating to all restricted stock

awards granted to him

Payments Made Upon Termination Without Cause or Resi2nation for Good Reason In the event of

named executive officers termination without cause or resignation for good reason he would be entitled to

all amounts under Payments Made Upon Any Termination of Employment above and

the immediate termination of all remaining restrictions set forth and relating to all restricted stock

awards granted to him

In the event of Mr Walkers termination without cause or resignation for good reason he would also be

entitled to

payment equal to his then current base salary payable in regular installments through the first

anniversary of termination or resignation if the termination or resignation is in connection with

change in control as defined below of the Company and occurs within twelve 12 months of such

change in control then payment equal to the product of his then current base salary times 200

percent is payable in one lump sum as of the effective date of the termination or resignation and

participate through the first anniversary.of termination or resignation in all employee health benefit

programs made generally available to the Companys employees if termination or resignation is in

connection with change in control of the Company and occurs within twelve 12 months of such
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change in control then participation through the second anniversary of termination or resignation in all

employee health benefit programs made generally available to the Companys employees

In the event of Mr Barnetts termination without cause or resignation for good reason lie would also be

entitled to

payment equal to his then current base salary payable in regular installments through the first

anniversary of termination or resignation if the termination or resignation is in connection with

change in control as defined below of the Company and occurs within twelve 12 months of such

change in control then payment equal to the product of his then current base salary times 150

percent is payable in one lump sum as of the effective date of the termination or resignation and

participate through the first anniversary of termination or resignation in all employee health benefit

programs made generally available to the Companys employees

The term change in control is defined under the Amended and Restated First Acceptance Corporation 2002

Long Term Incentive Plan as

any consolidation merger or share exchange of the Company in which the holders of majority of the

Companys outstanding voting powet prior to suchtransaction do not own at least majority of the

outstanding voting power of the Company or any successor thereto following such transaction

any sale lease exchange or other transfer excluding transfer by way of pledge or hypothecation in one

transaction or series of related transactions of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company

the approval by the stockholders of the Company of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or

dissolution of the Company

the cessation of control by virtue of their not constituting majority of directors of the Board by the

individuals who at July 2002 were directors or become directors after July 2002 and whose

election or nomination for election by the Companys stockholders was approved by vOte of at least

two-thirds of the directors then in office who were directors on July 2002 or whose election or

nomination for election was previously so approved or

the acquisition of beneficial ownership within the meaning of Rule l3d-3 under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 of an aggregate of 50% or more of the voting power of the Companys

outstanding voting securities by any person or group as such term is used in Rule 3d-S under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 who beneficially owned less than 50% of the voting power of the

Companys outstanding voting securities on July 2002

Provided however that notwithstanding the foregoing an acquisition shall not constitute change in control

if the acquirer is trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company
and acting in such capacity subsidiary of the Company or corporation owned directly or indirectly by the

stockholders of the Company in substantially the sameproportions as their ownership of voting securities of the

Company or in Title 11 bankruptcy proceeding the appointment of trustee or the conversion of case

involving the Company to case under Chapter

Pursuant to the terms of each named executive officers nonqualified stock option agreement upon the

effective date of change in control all unvested options granted to him will immediately become fully vested and

exercisable provided that he is employed by or if he is consultant or an outside director is providing services to
the Company or subsidiary from the grant date to the effective date of the change in control

Pursuant to the terms of each named executive officers restricted stock award agreement upon the effective

date of change in control all restrictions set forth and relating to such restricted stock awards granted to him will

immediately be terminated

Summary of Potential Payments on Termination or Change in ControL The following tables set forth the

estimated benefits to which each named executive officer is entitled in the event that the Company terminates the

named executive officer without cause or the named executive officer resigns for good reason ii the company
terminates the named executive officer without cause or the named executive officer resigns for good reason in

connection with change in control of the Company or iii the Company terminates the named .executive officer for
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cause or the named executive officer resigns without good reason or as result of disability death or retirement of

the named executive officer assuming that the triggering event took place on and as of December 31 2012
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Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason

Continued

Additional Benefit Accelerated Accelerated

Severance Plan Stock Option Restricted

Bonus Payment Coverage Vesting Stock Vesting

Name TotalS

JohnR.Bamett -- 210000 11600 15504 237104

Daniel Walker -- 240000 7420 17333 264753

Includes the receipt of the accrued and unpaid bonuses as stipulated in their respective employment agreements

In the case of Messrs Barnett and Walker includes the receipt of the then current base salary

Represents the estimated maximum aggregate amount of the named executive officers payable share of all medical dental health and

disability insurance payables by the Company for the benefit of the named executive officer and members of his immediate family for

the period of twelve 12 months after the termination date and the continuation of all employee health benefit programs generally

available to similarly situated employees during the defined post-termination period

Information regarding outstanding unexercisable options held by each named executive officer is set forth in the Outstanding Equity

Awards at Year-End-20 12 table above Stock options that have vested on an accelerated basis are exercisable within twelve 12
months pursuant to the respective stock option agreement following the date of the termination of service which for purposes of this

table is December 31 2012 Consequently the amounts included in this column represent the maximum profit the named executive

officer would have received had he exercised any of these options that were in-the-money and ii sold the underlying stock at $1.25

per share on December 31 2012 All stock options held on December 31 2012 that vested were out-of-the-money

Market value based on closing share price of $1.25 for the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on

December 31 2012
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Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason Resulting From Change in Control

Continued

Additional Benefit Accelerated Accelerated

Severance Plan Stock Option Restricted

Bonus Payment Coverage Vesting Stock Vesting

Name TotalS

JohnR.Bamett -- 315000 11600 15504 342104

Daniel Walker -- 480000 14840 17333 504753

Includes the receipt of the accrued and unpaid bonuses as stipulated in their respective employment agreements

In the case of Mr Walker includes the receipt of an amount equal to their then current base salary times two In the case of Mr
Barnett includes the receipt of an amount equal to their then current base salary times 150 percent

Represents the estimated maximum aggregate amount of the named executive officers payable share of all medical dental health and

disability insurance payables by the Company for the benefit of the named executive officer and members of his immediate family until

the second anniversary of the date of termination of employment in the case of Mr Walker and for the period of twelve 12 months

after the termination date in the case of Mr Barnett also includes the continuation of all employee health benefit programs generally

available to similarly situated employees during the defined post-termination period

Information regarding outstanding unexercisable options held by each named executive officer is set forth in the Outstanding Equity

Awards at Year-End-201 table above Stock options that have vested on an accelerated basis are exercisable within twelve 12
months pursuant to the respective stock option agreement following the date of the termination of service which for purposes oithis

table is December 31 2012 Consequently the amounts included in this column represent the maximum profit the named executive

officer would have received had he exercised anyof these options that were in-the-money and ii sold the underlying stock at $1.25

per share on December 31 2012 All stock options held on December 3.1 2012 that vested were out-of-the-money

Market value based On closing share price of $1.25 for the Companys Common Stock on the NewYork Stock Exchange on

December 31 2012
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Termination for Cause or Resignation without Good Reason or Resulting From Disability Death or

Retirement

Continued

Additional BØnØfit Accelerated Accelerated

Severance Plan StockOption Restricted

Bonus Payment Coverage Vesting Stock Vesting

Name $5 TotalS

John Barnett

Cause or Resignation

Without Good Reason

Disability -- 15504 15504

Death 15504 15504

Retirement -- 15504 15504
Daniel Walker

Cause or Resignation

Without Good Reason

Disability 17333 17333

Death 17333 17333

Retirement 17333 17333

Includes the receipt of the accrued and unpaid bonuses as stipulated in their respective employment agreements

Information regarding outstanding unexercisable options held by eich named executive officer
is

set forth in the Outstanding Equity

Awards at Year-End-2012 table above Stock options that have vested on an accelerated basis are exercisable within either twelve 12
or twenty-four 24 months pursuant to the respective stock option agreement following the date of the termination of service which
for purposes of this table is December 312012 Consequdntly the amountS included in this column represent the maximum profit the

named executive officer would have received had he exercised any of these options that were in-the-money and ii sold the

underlying stock at $1.25 per share on December 31 2012 All stock options held on December 31 2012 that vested were out-of-the

money

Market value based on closing share pnce of $1.25 for the Companys Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on

December 31 2012
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PROPOSAL 2- ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to Section 14Aa1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 we are asking stockholders to cast an

advisory vote on the compensation of our named executi officers disclosed in the ExecutiVe Compensation section

of this Proxy Statement While this vote isa non-binding advisory vote we value the opinions of stockholders and

will consider the outcome of the vote when making future compensation decisions

As described in detail under the heading CompensationDiscussion and AnaIsis our compensation

programs are designed to align significant portion of each named executive officers total compensation with the

annual and long-term performance of the Company and the interests of our stocholders SqcJcholders are urged to

read the Compensation Discussion and Analysis compensation tables and narrative discussion in this Proxy

Statement which discuss in detail how our compensation policies and procedures implement our compensation

philosophy

This annual vote on this matter is not intended to address any specific item of compensation but rather the

overall compensation of our named executive officers and the policies and practices described inthis Proxy

Statement The vote is advisory and therefore not bindingon the Company the Board of Directors or the

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

We are asking our stockholders to indicate their support for this Proposal and the compensation paid to our

named executive officers as disclosed commencing on page 15 of this Proxy Statement by voting FOR on an

advisory basis the following resolution

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the stockholders approve on an advisory

basis the compensation paid to the named executive officers of the Company as disclosed

pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

the compensation tables and the narrative discussion related thereto

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the compensation of our named executive officers

PROPOSAL 3- RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has selected Ernst Young LLP Ernst Young to serve as our independent

registered public accounting firm for the current year and the stockholders are requested to ratify this appointment

Ernst Young has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since Septenber 2005

representative of Ernst Young is expected to be present at the annual meeting will have an opportunity to make

statement if he or she so desires and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions Stockholders

should recognize that the ratification of the appointment of Ernst Young does not preclude the Audit Committee

from subsequently determining to change our independent registered public accounting firm if the Audit Committee

determines such action to be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders

Fees Billed to Us by Ernst Young LLPfor 2012 the Transition Period and Fiscal Year 2011

Audit Fees The aggregate audit fees billed by Ernst Young for 2012 the Transition Period and fiscal

year 2011 were $597000 $650000 and $650000 respectively The fees include professional services and expenses

for annual financial and statutory audits including internal control over financial reporting and quarterly reviews of

our financial statements

Audit-Related Fees Audit-related feçs
billed by Ernst Young for 2012 andfiscal year

2011 were $26000

and $25000 respectively These fees related to the audit of the Companys 401k plan Ernst Young did not

perform or bill us for any audit-related services for the Transition Period
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Tax Fees The aggregate tax fees billed by Ernst Young for 2012 and fiscal year 2011 were $80000 and

$69500 respectively Thes fees related primary to the preparation of federal and state ineom tax returns for the

Company Ernst Young did not perform or bill us for any tax services for the Transition Period

All Other Fees Other fees billed by Ernst Youg for fiscal year 2011 were $7200 Tbese fees related to

state regulatory audit support services Ernst Young did not perform or bill us for any other services for 2012 and the

Transition Period

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee has adopted policy contained in its Charter which provides that our Audit

Committee must pre-apirove all audit and non-audit services provided to the Company by our independent registered

public accounting firn This policy is administered by out senior management which reports thioughoutthe year to

the Audit Committee Th Audit Committee pre-approved all audit and non-audit seiices provided byErnst

Young

Auditor Rotation Policies

Ernst Young maintains partner rotation policies in accordance with the rules promulgated by the SEC
Such rules have required rotation of the lead audit partner after five years of assignment to the engagement

Required Vote Recommendation of the Board

The appointment of Ernst Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2013 will

be ratified if this proposal receives the affirmative vote of majority of the votes cast on the matter With respect to

this proposal abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted as votes cast and will have no effect on the result

of the vote Under applicable rules broker will have the authority to vote for this proposal in the absence of

instructions from the beneficial owner of the relevant shares

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Ernst

Young LLP as the Companys independent registered public accounting firm

OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this proxy statement we know of no business that will be presented for consideration at the

annual meeting other than the items referred to above If any other matter is properly brought before the meeting for

action by stockholders proxies in the enclosed form returned to us will be voted in accordance with the

recommendation of the Board of Directors or in the absence of such recommendation in accordance with the

judgment of the proxy holder

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Stockholder Proposals for the 2014 Annual Meeting Pursuant to Rule 14a-8e of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 stockholder proposals submitted in accordance with applicable rules and regulations for presentation at

our next annual meeting and received at our executive offices no later than December 13 2013 will be considered for

inclusion in our proxy statement and form of proxy relating to the 2014 annual meeting

For other stockholder proposals to be timely but not considered for inclusion in our proxy statement

stockholders notice must be received at our executive offices no later than 60 days before our annual meeting or if later

within ten das aFter the public notice of that meeting issent to the stockholders of the Company and should otherwise

comply with the advance notice provisions of our certificate of incorporation For proposals that are not timely filed we
retain discretion to vote the proxies that we receive For proposals that are timely filed we retain discretion to vote the

proxies that we receive provided we include in our proxy statement advice on the nature of the proposal and how we
intend to exekise our voting discretion and the proponent does not issue proxy statement

Proxy Solicitation Costs The proxies being solicited hereby are being solicited by us We will bear the cost

of soliciting proxies in the enclosed form Our officers and regular employees may but without compensation other
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than their regular compensation solicit proxies by mail personal conversations telephone telex facsimile or

electronic means Upon request we will reimburse brokerage firms and others for their reasonable expenses
in

forwarding solicitation material to the beneficial owners of our common stock

Financial Statements Available COPY OF OUR 2012 ANNUAL REPORT TO STOCKHOLDERS
CONTAINING OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2012

AND OTHER INFORJ1ATION ACCOMPANIES THIS PROXY STATEMENT BUT SHALL NOT BE

DEEMED TO BE SOLICITATION MATERIAL

Householding Information As permitted by the SECs proxy statement rules we will deliver only one copy

of our 2012 Annual Report to Stockholders or this proxy statement to two or more stockholders who share an

address unless we have received contrary instructions from one or more of the stockholders We will deliver

promptly upon written or oral request separate copy of our 2012 Annual Report to Stockholders or this proxy

statement to stockholder at shared address to which single copy of the documents was delivered Conversely

stockholders sharing an address who are receiving multiple copies of our annual reports or proxy statements may

request delivery of single copy

Requests in this regard should be addressed to

Investor Relations

First Acceptance Corporation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215

1-800-321-0899
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PART

Item Business

General

First Acceptance Corporation the Company we or us is retailer servicer and underwriter of non
standard personal automobile insurance based in Nashville Tennessee We currently write non-standard personal

automobile insurance in 12 states and are licensed as an insurer in 13 additional states We own and operate three

insurance company subsidiaries First Acceptance Insurance Company Inc FAIC First Acceptance Insurance

Company of Georgia Inc FAIC-GAand First Acceptance Insurarice Company of Tennessee Inc FAIC
TN Non-standard personal automobile insurance is made available to individuals who are categorized as nOn
standard because of their inability or unwillingness to obtain standard insurance coverage due to various factors

including payment history payment preference failure in the past tO maintain continuous insurance coverage

driving record and/or vehicle type and in most instances who are required by law to buy minimum amOunt of

automobile insurance At February 26 2013 we leased and operated 368 retail locations staffed with employee-

agents Our employee-agents primarily sell non-standard personal automobile insurance products underwritten by

us as well as certain commissionable ancillary products and other insurance products In select markets we are

testing the sale of automobile insurance underwritten by third party carriers We are able to complete the entire sales

process over the phone or through our consumer-based website In addition to our retail website and call center

sales we also sell our products through 13 retail locations operated by independent agents

As previously announced on November 15 2011 our Board of Directors approved change in fiscal year

end from June 30 to December 31 effective December 31 2011 As result of this change this Annual Report on

Form 10-K includes financial information for the six-month transition period from July 2011 to December 31
2011 the Transition Period Unless otherwise noted all references to years or fiscal refer to the twelve-month

fiscal year which prior to July 2011 ended on June 30 and beginning with December 31 2012 ends on December

31 of each year

Personal Automobile Insurance Market

Personal automobile insurance is the largest line of property and casualty insurance in the United States

with according to SNL Financial an estimated market size of $166 billion in premiums earned based on the most

recent market data available Personal automobile insurance provides drivers with coverage for liability to others for

bodily injury and property damage and for physical damage to the drivers vehicle from collision and other perils

The market for personal automobile insurance is generally divided into three product segments non

standard standard and preferred insurance We believe that the premiums earned in the non-standard automobile

insurance market segment in the United States represent between 15% and 25% of the total personal automobile

insurance market

Competition

The non-standard personal automobile insurance business is highly competitive We believe that our

primary competition comes not only from national Companies or their subsidiaries but also from non-standard

insurers and independent agents that operate only in specific regions or states We compete against other vertically

integrated insurance companies and independent agents that market insurance on behalf of number of insurers

We compete with these other insurers on factors such as initial down payment availability of monthly payment

plans price customer service and claims service We believe that our significant competitors are the Affirmative

Berkshire Hathaway which includes GEICO Bristol West Direct General Infinity Permanent General

Progressive and Safe Auto insurance groups



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

Our Business

We are vertically integrated business that acts as the agency servicer and underwriter of non-standard

personal automobile insurance We believe our business model allows us to identify and satisfy the needs of our

target customers and eliminates many of the inefficiencies associated with non-integrated automobile insurance

model Our retail locations are staffed with employee-agents who primarily sell non-standard personal automobile

insurance products underwritten by us as well as certain commissionable ancillary products Our vertical

integration combined with our conveniently located retail locations enables us to control the point of sale and to

retain sigmficant revenue that would otherwise be lost in non-integrated insurance business model

We offer customers automobile insurance with low down payments competitive monthly payments

convenient locations and high level of personal service This strategy makes it easier for our customers to obtain

automobile insurance which is legally mandated in the states in which we currently operate Currently our policy

renewal rate the percentage of policies that are renewed after completion of the full uninterrupted policy term is

approximately 38% which due to the payment patterns of our customers is lower than the average renewal rate of

standard personal automobile insurance providers However we accept customers seeking insurance who have

previously terminated coverage provided by us without imposing any additional requirements on such customers

Our business model and systems allow us to issue policies efficiently and when necessary cancel them to minimize

the potential for credit loss while adhering to regulatory cancellation notice requirements

In addition to low down payment and competitive monthly rates we offer customers valuable face-to-

face contact and speed of service as many of our customers prefer not to purchase new automobile insurance

policy over the phone or through the internet Substantially all of our customers make their payments at our retail

locations For many of our customers our employee-agents are not only the face of the Company but also the

preferred interface for buying insurance All of our policies are issued at the point of sale

In the future we may explore growth opporturnties by introducing additional insurance products including

automobile insurance underwritten by third party carriers and expanding into new geographic markets We

recognize growing consumer demand to purchase personal automobile insurance over the phone and through the

internet and have been focused on expanding our abilities to meet consumer expectations in these distribution

channels

Our Products

Our core business involves issuing automobile insurance policies to individuals who are categonzed as

non-standard based primarily on their inability or unwillingness to obtain insurance coverage from standard

carriers due to various factors including their payment history or need for monthly payment plans failure to

maintain continuous insurance coverage or driving record We believe that majority of our customers seek non
standard insurance due to their failure to maintain continuous coverage or their need for affordable monthly

payments rather than as result of poor driving records The majority of our customers purchase the minimum

amount of coverage required bylaw

In addition to non-standard personal automobile insurance we also offer our customers optional products

that provide ancillary reimbursements and benefits in the event of an automobile accident Those products generally

provide reimbursements for medical expenses and hospital stays as result of injuries sustainçd in an automobile

accident automobile towing and rental bail bond premiums and ambulance services We also offer and underwrite

tenant homeowner policy that provides contents and liability coverage to those of our customers who are renters

Marketing

Our marketing strategy is based on promoting brand recognition of our products and encouraging

prospective customers to purchase personal automobile insurance by either visiting one of our retail locations or

utilizing our phone or internet channels to bind policy Our primary advertising strategy combines targeted

television radio and digital advertising We market our business under the name Acceptance Insurance in all areas

except in the Chicago-area where we currently use the names Yale Insurance and Insurance Plus
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Distribution

We primarily distribute our products through our retail locations We believe the local office concept remains

attractive to many of our customers as they desire the face-to-face assistance they cannot receive via the internet or

over the telephone However in
response to recent changes in consumer preferences we have expanded our

distribution channels to allow our customers to purchase insurance over the phone or through our consumer-based

website

Underwriting and Pricing

Our underwriting and pricing systems are fully automated We believe that these systems provide

competitive advantage to us because they give us the ability to capture relevant pricing information improve

efficiencies increase the
accuracy

and consistency of underwriting decisions and reduce training costs

Pricing is generally based on the specific type of vehicle and the drivers age gender marital status

driving experience and location We also review loss trends in each of the states in which we operate to assess the

adequacy of our rates and underwriting standards We adjust rates periodically as necessary
and as permitted by

applicable regulatory authorities to maintain or improve underwriting results in each market

In December 2011 we completed the process
of implementing new scored pricing programs We believe

these new scored pricing programs provide us with greater pricing segmentation and improve our pricing relative to

the risk we are insuring Approximately 74% of bur current policies in force PIF have been underwritten using

these new scored pricing programs

Claims Handling

Non-standard personal automobile insurance customers generally have higher frequency of claims than

preferred and standard personal automobile insurance customers We focus on controlling the claims process and

costs thereby limiting losses by internally managing the entire claims process We strive to promptly assess claims

manage against fraud and identifi loss trends and capture information that is useful in establishing loss reserves and

determining premium rates Our claims process is designed to promote expedient fair and Consistent claims

handling while controlling loss adjustment expenses

Our claims operation includes adjusters appraisers re-inspectors special investigators and claims

administrative personnel We Conduct our claims operations out of our Nashville office and through regional claims

offices in Tampa Florida and Chicago Illinois Our employees generally handle all claims from the initial report of

the claim until the final settlement We believe that directly employing claims personnel rather than using

independent contractors results in improved customer service and lower costs In territories where we do not believe

staff appraiser would be cost-effective we utilize the services of independent appraisers to inspect physical

damage to automobiles The work of independent appraisers is supervised by regional staff appraisal managers

While we are strongly committed to settling promptly and fairly the meritorious claims of our customers

and claimants we are equally committed to defending against non-meritorious claims Litigated claims and lawsuits

are primarily managed by one of our specially trained litigation adjusters Suspicious claims are referred to special

investigation unit When dispute arises we seek to minimize our claims litigation defense costs by attempting to

negotiate flat-fee representation with local outside counsel specializing in automobile insurance claim defense We
believe that our efforts to obtain high quality claims defense litigation services at fixed or carefully controlled cost

have helped us control claims losses and expenses
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Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Automobile accidents generally result in insurance companies making payments referred to as losses to

individuals or companies to compensate for physical damage to an automobile or other property and/or an injury to

person Months and sometimes years may elapse betweenthe occurrence of anaccidentreport of the accident to the

insurer and payment of the claim Insurers record liability for estimates of losses that will be paid for accidents

reported to them which are referred to as case reserves As accidents are not always reported promptly insurers

estimate incurred but not reported or IBNR reserves to cover expected losses for accidents that have occurred

but have not been reported to the insurer Insurers also incur expenses
in connection with the handling and settling

of claims that are referred to as loss adjustment expenses and record liability for the estimated costs to settle

their expected unpaid losses

We are directly liable for loss and loss adjustment expenses under the terms of the insurance policies

underwritten by our insurance company subsidiaries Each of our insurance company subsidiaries establishes

reserve for all of its unpaid losses including case reserves and IBNR reserves and estimates for the cost to settle the

claims We estimate our IBNR reserves by estimating our ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustment expense

reserves first and then reducing that amount by the amount of the cumulative paid claims and by the amount of our

case reserves We rely primarily on historical loss experience in determining reserve levels on the assumption that

historical loss experience provides good indication of future loss experience We also consider other factors such

as inflation claimssettlement patterns legislative activity and litigation trends We review our loss and loss

adjustment expense reserve estimates on quarterly basis and adjust those reserves each quarter to reflect any

favorable or unfavorable development as historical loss experience develops or new information becomes known

Our actuarial staff reviews our reserves and loss trends on quarterly basis We believe that the liabilities that we

have recorded for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses at December 31 2012 are adequate to cover the final

net cost of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred through that date

The following table sets forth the annual period-end reserves as revised toa calendaryear-end basis since

we began operations as an insurance company in 2004 and the subsequent development of these reserves through

December 31 2012 The purpose of the table is to show cumulative deficiency or redundancy for each annual

period which represents the aggregate amount by which original estimates of reserves at that period-end have

changed in subsequent periods The top line of the table presents the net reserves at the balance sheet date for each

of the periods indicated This represents the estimated amounts of losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims

arising in all annual periods that were unpaid at the balance sheet date including the IBNR reserve at the end of

each successive period The next portion of thetable presents the re-estimated amount of the previously recorded

reserves based on experience at the end of each succeeding period including cumulative payments since the end of

the respective period As more information becomes known about the payments and the frequency and severity of

claims for individual periods the estimate changes accordingly Favorable loss development shown as cumulative

redundancy in the table exists when the original reserve estimate is greater than the re-estimated reserves Adverse

loss development which would be shown as cumulative deficiency in the table exists when the original reserve

estimate is less than the re-estimated reserves Information with respect to the cumulative development of gross

reserves without adjustment for the effect of reinsurance also appears at the bottom portion of the table



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

In evaluating the information in the table below you should note that each amount entered incorporates the

cumulative effect of all changes in amounts entered for prior periods Conditions and trends that have affected the

development of liability in the past may not necessarily recur in the future

At December 31
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Net liability for loss and loss

adjustment expense reserves

originally estimated

28775 $48066 74043 95122 93679 $77493 $70229 $69241 $79000

Cumulative amounts paid at

Oneyearlater 22016 35922 68238 68306 54760 492l7 47543 49315
Two

years
later 26582 44215 83028 84907 68994 63778 66604

Three years later 27989 46839 87901 90134 75209 74297

Four years later 28721 47918 89556 92954 81993

Five years later 28999 48327 90050 97818

Six years later 28920 48485 91725

Seven
years

later 28915 49385

Eight years later 28913

Liability re-estimated at

Oneyeartater 29969 48.554 87521 96 78107 71417 73370 73257

Two years later 29622 48522 91654 93701 78076 76733 76884

Three years later 29154 49339 90503 94279 83430 79060

Four years later 29312 49166 90966 98901 84322

Five
years later 29422 49683 92575 98988

Six years later 29481 51085 92460

Seven years later 29380 50443

Eight years later 29349

Net cumulative redundancy

deficiency 574 2377 18417 3F66 9357 1567 6655 4016

Gross liability end of year $35243 $50377 74765 95357 93803 $77546 $70295 $69436 $79260

Reinsurancereceivables 6468 2311 722 235 124 53 66 195 260

Net liability end of year 28775 48066 74043 95122 93679 77493 $70229 69241 79000

Gross re-estimated liability

latest 35052 52199 93080 99266 84482 79071 76869 73441

Re-estimated reinsurance

receivables latest 5703 1756 620 278 160 II 15 184

Net re-estimated latest 29349 50443 92460 98988 84322 79060 76884 73257

Gross cumulative
redundancy

deficiency 191 1822 18315 3909 9321 1525 6574 4005

At December 31 2012 we had $79.2 million of loss and loss adjustment expense reserves which included

$47.1 million in IBNR reserves and $32.1 million in case reserves Reinsurance receivables of $0.2 million offset

gross reserves of $79.2 million at December 31 2012 in the above table For reconciliation of net loss and loss

adjustment expense reserves from the beginning to the end of the most recent periods presented see Note to our

consolidated financial statements

As reflected in the table above on reserves at December 31 2012 we have experienced an unfavorable net

reserve development of $4.0 million which increased our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves for prior

accident periods and increased our loss and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31 212 This

unfavorable development was primarily related to the strengthening of loss and loss adjustment expense reserves

Loss development was primarily related to higher than expected severity with Florida personal injury protection

claims and with Georgia bodily injury claims in older accident periods Loss adjustment expense development was

primarily related to higher than expected legal expenses
for bodily injury claims for accident

years 2010 and prior

The unfavorable development for the year ended December 31 2011 was primarily related to the strengthening of

loss adjustment expense reserves for prior accident periods and included amounts related to the settlement of claims

for extra-contractual damages

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserve estimates were reviewed on quarterly basis and adjusted each

quarter to reflect any favorable or adverse development Development assumptions were based upon historical

accident quarters We analyzed our reserves for each type of coverage by state and for loss and loss adjustment

expense separately to determine our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves To determine the best estimate we
reviewed the results of four estimation methods including the reported development method the paid development

method the reported Bornhuetter-Ferguson method and the paid Bomhuetter-Ferguson method for each set of data

In each quarterly review we develop point estimate for subset of our business We did not prepare separate point

estimates for our entire business using each of the estimation methods In determining our loss and loss adjustment
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expense reserves we selected different estimation methods as appropriate for the various subsets of our business

The methods selected varied by coverage and considerations included the number and value of the case reserves for

open claims incurred and paid loss relativities and suspected strengths and weaknesses for each of the procedures

Other factors considered in establishing reserves include assumptions regarding loss frequency and loss severity

We believe assumptions regarding loss frequency are reliable because injured parties generally report their claims in

reasonably short period of time after an accident Loss severity is more difficult to estimate because severity is

affected by changes in underlying costs including medical costs settlements or judgments and regulatory changes

Reserves recorded represent our best estimate of the ultimate amounts that will be paid

We believe that our estimate regarding changes in loss severity is the most significant factor that can

potentially impact our IBNR reserve estimate We believe that there is reasonable possibility of increases or

decreases in our estimated claim severities with the largest potential changes occurring in the most recent accident

years An increase in loss severity of unpaid losses ranging from 0.5% to 3.0% dependent upon the accident year

would result in adverse development of net loss and loss adjustment expense reserve levels at December 31 2012

and decrease in income before income taxes of approximately $7.9 million Conversely comparable decrease in

loss severity would result in favorable development of net loss and loss adjustment expense reserve levels at

December 31 2012 and an increase in income before income taxes of approximately $7.9 million

Reinsurance

Reinsurance is an arrangement in which company called reinsurer agrees
in contract to assume

specified risks written by an insurance company known as ceding company by paying the insurance company all

or portion of the insurance companys losses arising under specified classes of insurance policies in return for

reinsurance premium Through August 31 2004 our insurance companies ceded approximately 50% of their non
standard personal automobile insurance premiums and losses on quota-share basis to unaffiliated reinsurers

Commencing August 2010 our insurance companies begai utilizing excess-of-loss reinsurance with an

unaffiliated reinsurer to limit our exposure to losses under liability coverages for automobile insurance policies

issued with limits greater than the minimum statutory requirements Historically the amount of such policies written

by our insurance companies has not been material

Although FAIC is licensed in Texas the majority of our business there is currently written by managing

general agency subsidiary through program with county mutual insurance company and is assumed by us

through 100% quota-share reinsurance

Ratings

In November 2012 A.M Best which rates insurance companies based on factors of concem to

policyholders revised its Rating Outlook on us from positive to stable and reaffirmed the ratings of our

insurance company subsidianes at Fair Publications of Best indicate that the Fair rating which is

the seventh highest rating amongst scale of 15 ratings is assigned to those companies that in A.M Bests opinion

have fair ability to meet their ongoing obligations to policyholders but are financially vulnerable to adverse

changes in underwnting and economic conditions Rating Outlook is assigned to rating to indicate its potential

direction over an intermediate term generally defined as 12 to 36 months stable outlook indicates low

likelihood of rating change due to stable financial/market trends

In evaluating companys financial and operating performance A.M Best reviews the companys profitability

leverage and liquidity as well as its book of busmess the adequacy and soundness of its reinsurance if any the quality

and estimated market value of its assets the adequacy of its loss reserves the adequacy of its surplus its capital

structure the experience and competence of its management and its market presence A.M Bests ratings reflect its

opinion of an insurance companys fmancial strength operating performance and ability to meet its obligations to

policyholders and are not recommendations to potential or current investors to buy sell or hold our common stock

Financial institutions and reinsurance companies sometimes use the Best ratings to help assess the

financial strength and quality of insurance compames The current ratings of our insurance company subsidianes or

their failure to maintam such ratings may dissuade financial mstitution or reinsurance company from conducting

business with us or increase our potential interest or reinsurance costs respectively We do not believe that the

majority of our customers are motivated to purchase our products and services based on our A.M Best rating
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Regulatory Environment

Insurance Company Regulation We and our insurance company subsidiaries are regulated by

governmental agencies in the states in which we conduct business and by various federal statutes and regulations

These state regulations vary by jurisdiction but among other matters usually involve

regulating premium rates and forms

setting minimum solvency standards

setting capital and surplus requirements

licensing companies agents and in some states adjusters

setting requirements for and limiting the types and amounts of investments

establishing requirements for the filing of annual statements and other financial reports

conducting periodic statutory examinations of the affairs of insurance companies

requiring prior approval of changes in control and of certain transabtions with affiliates

limiting the amount of dividends that may be paid without prior regulatory approval and

setting standards for advertising and other market conduct activities

Required Licensing We operate under licenses issued by various state insurance authorities Such licenses

may be of perpetual duration or periodically renewable provided we continue to meet applicable regulatory

requirements The licenses govern among other things the types of insurance coverages and products that may be

offered in the licensing state Such licenses are typically issued only after an appropriate application is filed and

prescribed criteria are met All of our licenses are in good standing Currently we hold property and casualty

insurance licenses in the following 25 states

Alabama Kansas Pennsylvania

Arizona Kentucky South Carolina

Arkansas Louisiana Tennessee

Colorado Mississippi Texas

Florida Missouri Utah

Georgia Nevada Virginia

Illinois New Mexico West Virginia

Indiana Ohio

Iowa Oklahoma

As required by our current operations we hold managing general agency licenses in Texas and Florida and

motor club licenses in Mississippi and Tennessee To expand into new state or offer new line of insurance or

other new product we must apply for and obtain the appropriate licenses

Insurance Holding Company Regulation We operate as an insurance holding company system and are

subject to regulation in the jurisdictions in which our insurance company subsidiaries conduct business These

regulations require that each insurance company in the holding company system register with the insurance

department of its state of domicile and furnish information concerning the operations of companies in the holding

company system which may materially affect the operations management or financial condition of the insurers in

the holding company domiciled in that state We have insurance bompany subsidiaries that are organized and

domiciled under the insurance statutes of Texas Georgia and Tennessee The insurance laws in each of these states

similarly provide that all transactions among members of holding company system be done at arms length and be

shown to be fair and reasonable to the regulated insurer Transactions between insurance company subsidiaries and

their parents and affiliates typically must be disclosed to the state regulators and any material or extraordinary

transaction requires prior approval of the applicable state insurance regulator change of control of domestic

insurer or of any controlling person requires the prior approval of the state insurance regulator In general any

person who acquires 10% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the insurer or its parent company is

presumed to have acquired control of the domestic insurer To the best of our knowledge we are in compliance with

the regulations discussed above
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Restrictions on Paying Dividends We may at times rely on dividends from our insurance company

subsidiaries to meet corporate cash requirements State insurance regulatory authorities require insurance companies

to maintain specified levels of statutory capital and surplus The amount of an insurers capital and surplus following

payment of any dividends must be reasonable in relation to the insurers outstanding liabilities and ade4uate to meet

its financial needs Prior approval from state insurance regulatory authorities is generally required in order for an

insurance company to declare and pay extraordinary dividends The payment of ordinary dividends is limited by the

amount of capital and surplus available to the insurer as determined in accordance with state statutory accounting

practices and other applicable limitations State insurance regulatory authorities that have jurisdiction over the

payment of dividends by our insurance company subsidiaries may in the future adopt statutory provisions more

restrictive than those currently in effect See Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements for discussion of the

ability of our insurance company subsidiaries to pay dividends

Regulation of Rates and Policy Forms Most states in which our insurance company subsidiaries operate

have insurance laws that require insurance companies to file premium rate schedules and policy Or coverage forms for

review and approval In many cases such rates and policy forms must be approved prior to use State insurance

regulators have broad discretion in judging whether an insurers rates are adequate not excessive and not unfairly

discriminatory Generally property and casualty insurers are unable to implement rate increases until they show that

the costs associated with providing such coverage have increased The speed at which an insurer can change rates in

response to competition or increasing costs depends in
part on the method by which the applicable states rating

laws are administered There are three basic rate administration systems the insurer must file and obtain

regulatory approval of the new rate before using it ii the insurer may file the new rate and begin using the new rate

during regulatory review or iii the insurer may begin using the new rate and file it in specified period of time for

regulatory review Under all three rating systems the state insurance regulators have the authority to disapprove the

rate subsequent to its filing Thus insurers who begin using new rates before the rates are approved may be required

to issue premium refunds or credits to policyholders if the new rates are ultimately deemed excessive and

disapproved by the applicable state insurance authorities In some states there has historically been pressure to reduce

premium rates for automobile and other personal insurance or to limit how often an insurer may request increases for

such rates To the best of our knowledge we are in compliance with all such applicable rate regulations

Guaranty Funds Under state insurance guaranty fund laws insurers doing business in state can be

assessed for certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants Maximum

contributions required by law in any one year vary between 1% and 2% of annual premiums written in that state In

most states guaranty fund assessments are recoverable either through future policy surcharges or offsets to state

premium tax liabilities To date we have not received any material unrecoverable assessments

Investment Regulation Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to state laws and regulations that

require diversification of their investment portfolios and hmitations on the amount of investments in certain

categories Failure to comply with these laws and regulations would cause non-conforming investments to be treated

as non admitted assets for purposes of measuring statutory surplus and in some instances would require divestiture

If non-conforming asset is treated as non-admitted asset it would lower the affected subsidiarys surplus and

thus its ability to write additional premiums and pay dividends To the best of our knowledge our insurance

company subsidiaries are in compliance with all such investment regulations

Restrictions on Cancellation Non-Renewal or Withdrawal Many states have laws and regulations that

limit an insurers ability to exit market For example certain states limit an automobile insurer ability to cancel

or not renew policies Some states prohibit an insurer from withdrawing one or more lines of business from the state

except pursuant to plan approved by the state insurance department The state insurance department may

disapprove plan that may lead to market disruption Laws and regulations that limit cancellations and non renewals

and that subject business withdrawals to
prior approval requirements may restrict an insurer ability to exit

unprofitable markets To the best of our knowledge we are in compliance with all such laws and regulations

Privacy Regulations In 1999 the United States Congress enacted the Gramm Leach Bliley Act which

protects consumers from the unauthorized dissemination of certain nonpublic personal information Subsequently

the majority of states have implemented additional regulations to address privacy issues These laws and regulations

apply to all financial institutions including insurance companies and require us to maintain appropriate procedures

for managing and protecting certain nonpublic personal information of our customers and to fully disclose our

privacy practices to cur customers We may also be exposed to future privacy laws and regulations which could
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impose additional costs and impact our results of operations or financial condition To the best of our knowledge we

are in compliance with all applicable privacy laws and regulations

Licensing of Our Employee-Agents and Adjusters All of our employees who sell solicit or negotiate

insurance are licensed as required by the state in which they work for the applicable line or lines of insurance they

offer Our employee-agents generally must renew their licenses annually and adhere to minimum annual continuing

education requirements In certain states in which we operate our insurance claims adjusters are also required to be

licensed and are subject to annual continuing education requirements

Unfair Claims Practices Generally insurance companies adjusting companies and individual claims

adjusters are prohibited by state statutes from engaging in unfair claims practices which could indicate general

business practice Unfair claims practices include but are not limited to

misrepresenting pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to coverages at issue

failing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications regarding claims arising under

insurance policies

failing to affirm or deny coverage of claims in reasonable time after proofof loss statements have been

completed

attempting to settle claims for less than the amount to which reasonable person would have believed such

person was entitled

attempting to settle claims on the basis of an application that was altered without notice to knowledge or

consent of the insured

making known to insureds or claimants policy of appealing from arbitration awards in favor of insureds

or claimants for the purpose of compelling them to accept settlements or compromises less than the amount

awarded in arbitration

delaying the investigation or payment of claims by requiring an insured claimant or the physician of either

to submit preliminary claim report and then requiring the subsequent submission of formal proof of loss

forms both of which submissions contain substantially the same information

failing to settle claims promptly where liability has become reasonably clear under one portion of the

insurance policy coverage
in order to influence settlements under other portions of the jnsurance policy

coverage and

not attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt fair and equitable settlements of claims in which liability

has become reasonably clear

We set business conduct policies and conduct regular training to ensure that our employee-adjusters and

other claims personnel are aware of these prohibitions and we require them to conduct their activities in compliance

with these statutes To the best of our knowledge we have not engaged in any unfair claims practices

Quarterly andAnnual Financial Reporting We are required to file quarterly and annual financial reports

with states utilizing statutory accounting practices that are different from U.S generally accepted accounting

principles which generally reflect our insurance company subsidiaries on going concem basis The statutory

accounting practices used by state regulators in keeping with the intent to assure policyholder protection are

generally based on liquidation concept For statutory financial information on our insurance company subsidiaries

see Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this report

Periodic Financial and Market Conduct Examinations The state insurance departments that have

jurisdiction over our insurance company subsidiaries conduct on-site visits and examinations of the insurers affairs

especially as to their financial condition ability to fulfill their obligations to policyholders market conduct claims

practices and compliance with other laws and applicable regulations Generally these examinations are conducted

every three to five years If circumstances dictate regulators are authorized to conduct special or target examinations

of insurers insurance agencies and insurance adjusting companies to address particular concerns or issues The results

of these examinations can give rise to regulatory orders requiring remedial injunctive or other corrective action on the

partof the company that is the subject of the examination All three insurance companies have been examined for

financial condition through December 31 2010 by their respective domiciliary states In the past FAIC has been

examined for market conduct by the states of Illinois Pennsylvania Missouri and Ohio The Illinois Department of

Insurance is currently conducting re-examination of FAIC as follow-up to market conduct examination
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completed in 2010 and the Ohio Department of Insurance is near completion of targeted market conduct

examination

Risk-Based Capital In order to enhance the regulation of insurer solvency the National Association of

Insurance Commissioners or NAIC has adopted formula and model law to implement risk-based capital or

RBC requirements designed to assess the minimum amount of statutory capital that an insurance company needs

to support its overall business operations and to ensure that it has an acceptablylow expectation of becoming

financially impaired RBC is used to set capital requirements based on the size and degree of risk taken by the

insurer and taking into account various risk factors such as asset risk credit risk underwriting risk interest rate risk

and other relevant business risks The NAIC model law provides for increasing levels of regulatory intervention as

the ratio of an insurers total adjusted capital decreases relative to its RBC culminating with mandatory control of

the operations of the insurer by the domiciliary insurance department at the so-called mandatory control level This

calculation is performed on calendar year basis and at December 31 2012 each of our insurance companies all

maintained an RBC level that was in excess of an amount that would require any corrective actions on their part

RBC is comprehensive financial analysis system affecting nearly all types of licensed insurers including

our insurance company subsidiaries It is designed to evaluate the relative financial condition of the insurer by

application of weighting formula to the companys assets and its policyholder obligations The key RBC
calculation is to recast total surplus after application of the RBC formula in terms of an authorized control level

RBC The authorized control level RBC is number determined under the RBC formula in accordance with certain

RBC instructions Once the authorized control level RBC is determined it is contrasted against the companys total

adjusted capital high multiple generally indicates stronger capitalization and financial strength while lower

multiple reflects lesser capitalization and strength Each states statutes also create certain RBC multiples at which

either the company or the regulator must take action For example there are four defined RBC levels that trigger

different regulatory events The minimum RBC level is called the company action level RBC and is generally

defined as the product of 2.0 and the companys authorized control level RBC Next is regulatory action level

RBC which is defined as the product of 1.5 and the companys authorized control level RBC Below the regulatory

action level RBC is the authorized control level RBC Finally there is mandatory control level RBC which means

the product of 0.70 and the companys authorized control level RBC

As long as the companys total adjusted capital stays above the company action level RBC i.e at greater

than 2.0 times the atithorized control level RBC regulators generally will not take any corrective action However
if an insurance companys total adjusted capital falls below the company action level RBC but remains above the

regulatory action level RBC the company is required to submit an RBC plan to the applicable state regulators that

identifies the conditions that contributed to the substandard RBC level and identifies remediation plan to increase

the companys total adjusted capital above 2.0 times its authorized control level RBC If companys total adjusted

capital falls below its regulatory action level RBC but remains above its authorized control level RBC then the

regulator may require the insurer to submit an RBC plan perform financial examination or analysis on the

companys assets and liabilities and may issue an order specifying corrective action for the company to take to

improve its RBC number In the event an insurance companys total adjusted capital falls below its authorized

control level RBC the state regulator may require the insurer to submit an RBC plan or may place the insurer under

regulatory supervision If an insurance companys total adjusted capital were to fall below its mandatory control

level RBC the regulator is obligated to place the insurer under regulatory control which could ultimately include

among other actions administrative supervision rehabilitation or liquidation

At December 31 2012 FAICs total adjusted capital was 4.7 times its authorized control level RBC
requiring no corrective action on FAICs part Likewise at December 31 2012 FAIC-GA and FAIC-TN had total

adjusted capital of 3.3 and 3.2 respectively times their authorized control level RBC

IRIS Ratios The NAIC Insurance Regulatory Information System or IRIS is part of collection of

analytical tools designed to provide state insurance regulators with an integrated approach to screening and

analyzing the financial condition of insurance companies operating in their respective states IRIS is intended to

assist state insurance regulators in targeting resources to those insurers in greatest need of regulatory attention IRIS

consists of two phases statistical and analytical In the statistical phase theNAIC database generates key financial

ratio results based on financial information obtained from insurers annual statutory statements The analytical phase

is review of the annual statements financial ratios and other automated solvency tools The primary goal of the

analytical phase is to identify companies that appear to require immediate regulatory attention ratio result falling

outside the defined range of IRIS ratios is not considered failing result rather unusual values are viewed as part of

10
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the regulatory early monitoring system Furthermore in some years it may not be unusual for fmancially sound

insurance companies to have several ratios with results outside the defined ranges

At December 31 2012 each of our three insurance company subsidiaries had IRIS ratios outside the

defined ranges

Each companys two-year overall operating ratios was calculated at 108% which was above the

defined threshold of 100%

FAIC had an investment yield of 2.97% which was below the threshold of 3.00% Excluding

FAICs investments in FAIC-GA and FAIC-TN which did not pay any dividends in 2012 the

calculated investment yield would have been 3.64%

FAIC-TN had gross change in policyholders surplus of minus 23% which was below the

defined threshold of minus 10%

The changes in adjusted policyholders surplus were minus 17% 26% and 23% for FAIC FAIC

GA and FAIC-TN respectively and were below the defined threshold of minus 10% The change

in adjusted policyholders surplus exclude amounts related to paid in surplus

Employees

At December 31 2012 we had approximately 1100 employees Our employees are not covered by any

collective bargaining agreements

Available Information

We file reports with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission SEC including Annual

Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other reports from time to time The public may read

and copy any materials filed with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Washington

D.C 20549 The public may obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the

SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 We are an electronic filer and the SEC maintains an internet site at www.sec.gov that

contains our reports proxy and information statements and other information filed electronically The SEC website

address is provided as an inactive textual reference only and the information provided on the SEC website is not

part of this report and is therefore not incorporated by reference unless such information is otherwise specifically

referenced elsewhere in this report

Internet Website

We maintain an internet website at the following address www.acceptanceinsurance.com The information

on the Companys website is not incorporated by reference in this report We make available on or through our

website certain reports and amendments to those reports that we file with or furnish to the SEC in accordance with

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended These include our Annual Reports on Form 10-K our Quarterly

Reports on Form l0-Q our current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to these reports We make this

information available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the

information with or furnish it to the SEC
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Investing in the Company involves risk You should carefully consider the following risk factors any of

which could have signfIcant or material adverse effect on the Company This information should be considered

together with the other information contained in this report and in the other reports and materials filed by us with

the SEC as well as news releases and other information publicly disseminated by us from time to time

Our business may be adversely affected by adverse economic conditions and other negative developments in the

non-standard personal automobile insurance indushy

Substantially all of our gross premiums written are generated from sales of non-standard personal

automobile insurance policies As result of our concentration in this line of business negative developments in the

economic competitive or regulatory conditions affecting the non-standard personal automobile insurance industry

and our customers could reduce our revenues increase our expenses or otherwise have material adverse effect on

our results of operations and financial condition Weak economic conditions and continued elevated unemployment

levels and low consumer confidence in the United States have resulted and could continue to result in fewer

customers purchasing and maintaining non-standard personal automobile insurance policies and certain customers

reducing their insurance coverage which adversely impacts our revenues and profitability Developments affecting

the non-standard personal automobile insurance industry and our customers could have greater effect on us

compared with more diversified insurers that also sell other types of automobile insurance products or write other

additional lines of insurance

Our results may fluctuate as result of cyclical changes in the non-standard personal automobile insurance industry

The non-standard personal automobile insurance industry is cyclical innature Likewise adverse economic

conditions impact our customers and many will choose to reduce their coverage or go uninsured during weak

economy Employment rates sales of used vehicles consumer confidence and other factors affect our customers

purchasing habits In the past the industry has also been characterized by periods of price competition and excess

capacity followed by periods of high premium rates and shortages of underwriting capacity If new competitors enter

the market existing competitors may attempt to increase market share by lowering rates Such conditions could lead

to reduced prices which would negatively impact our revenues and profitability Given the cyclical nature of the

industry and the economy these conditions may negatively impact our revenues and profitability

Due to our largely fixed cost structure our profitability may decline ifour sales volume declines significantly

Our reliance on leased retail locations staffed by employee-agents results in cost structure that has high

proportion of fixed costs as compared with other more traditional insurers In times of increasing sales volume our

acquisition cost per policy decreases improving our expense ratio which we believe is one of the significant advantages

of our business model However in times of declining sales volume the opposite occurs Decreases in our sales volume
without corresponding decreases in our costs would adversely impact our results of operations and profitability

Our loss and loss adjustment expenses may exceed our reserves which would adversely impact our results of

operations and financial condition

We establish reserves for the estimated amount of claims under the terms of the insurance policies

underwritten by our insurance company subsidiaries The amount of the reserves is determined based on historical

claims information industry statistics and other factors The establishment of appropriate reserves is an inherently

uncertain process due to number of factors including the difficulty in predicting the frequency and severity of

claims the rate of inflation changes in trends ongoing interpretation of insurance policy provisions by courts

inconsistent decisions in lawsuits regarding coverage and broader theories of liability Any changes in claims

settlement practices can also lead to changes in loss payment patterns which are used to estimate reserve levels

Our ability to accurately estimate our loss and loss adjustment expense reserves may be made more difficult by

changes in our business including entry into new markets changes in sales practices or changes in our customers

purchasing habits If our reserves prove to be inadequate we will be required to increase our loss reserves and the

amount of any such increase would reduce our income in the period that the deficiency is recognized The historic

development of reserves for loss and loss adjustment expenses may not necessarily reflect future trends in the

development of these amounts Consequently our actual losses could materially exceed our loss reserves which

would have material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition
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Extra-contractual losses arising from bad faith claims could.materially reduce our profitability

in Florida and other states where we hav.e substantial operations the judicial climate case law or statutory

framework are often viewed as unfavorable toward an insurer in litigation brought against it by policyholders and

third-party claimants This tends to increase our exposure to extra-contractual losses or monetary damages beyond

policy limits in what are known as bad faith claims for which reinsurance may be unavailable Such claims may
result in losses which could have material adverse effect on our resultsof operations and financial condition See

Legal Proceedings in Item of this report and Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements for further

information concerning any recent matters

Our investment portfolio may suffer reduced returns orother-than.iemporaiy impairment losses which could

reduce our profitability

Our results of operations depend in part on the performance of our investment portfolio At December 31
2012 substantially all of our investment portfolio was pnmanly invested either directly or indirectly in marketable

investment-grade debt securities and included U.S government securities municipal bonds corporate bonds and

collateralized mortgage obligations Recent declines in interest rates have reduced the available returns on the

reinvestment of securities in the portfolio as they mature or are redeemed However as rates decline the fair value of

debt securities increases Unrealized gains and losses on debt securities are recognized in other comprehensive

income loss and increase or decrease our stockholders equity At December 31 2012 the fair value of our

investment portfolio exceeded the amortized cost by $8.7 million An increase in interest rates could reduce the fair

value of our investments in debt securities At December 31 2012 the impact of an immediate 100 basis.point

increase in market interest rates on our fixed maturities and cash equivalents portfolio.would have resulted in an

estimated decrease in fair value of 4.0% or approximately $5.3 million Defaults by third parties who fail to pay or

perform obligations could reduce our investment income and could also result in investment losses to our portfolio

See Critical Accounting Estimates Investments in Item of this report and Note to our consolidated financial

statements regarding determination of other-than-temporary impairment losses on investment securities

Our business may be adversely affected by negative developments in the states in which we operate

We currently operate in 12 states located primarily in the Southeastern and Midwestern United States For

the year ended December 31 2012 approximately 68% of our premiums earned were generated from insurance

policies written in five states Our revenues and profitability are affected by prevailing economic demographic

regulatory competitive and other conditions in the states in which we operate Changes in any of these conditions

could make it more costly or difficult for us to conduct business Adverse regulatory developments .which could

include reductions in the maximum rates permitted to be charged restrictions on rate increases fundamental

changes to the design or implementation of the automobile insurance regulatory framework or economic conditions

that result in fewer customers purchasing or maintaining insurance or purchasing or maintaining reduced

coverages could reduce our revenues increase our expenses or otherwise have material adverse effect on our

results of operations and financial condition These developments could have greater effect on us as compared

with more diversified insurers that also sell other types of automobile insurance products write other additional lines

of insurance coverages or whose premiums are not concentrated in single line of insurance

Our business is highly competitive which may make it dfJicult for us to market our core products effectively and

profitably

The non standard personal automobile insurance business is highly competitive We believe that our

primary insurance company competition comes not only from national insurance companies or the.ir subsidiaries but

also from non-standard insurers and independent agents that operate in specific region or single state in which we
also operate We believe that our significant competitors are the Affirmative Berkshire Hathaway which includes

GEICO Bristol West Direct General Infinity Permanent General Progressive and Safe Auto insurance groups

Some of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than us and they may offer

broader range of products or competing products at lower prices and may offer products through multiple

distribution channels Our revenues profitability and financial condition could be materially adversely affected if we

are required to decrease or are unable to increase prices to stay competitive or if we do not successfully retain our

current customers and attract new customers
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In addition innovation by competitors or other market participants may increase the level of competition in

the industry This can include product pricing or marketing innovations new or improved services technology

advances or new modes of doing business that enhance the customers ability to shop and compare prices from

multiple companies among other initiatives Our ability to react to such advances and navigate the new competitive

environment is important to our success

Our ability to attract develop and retain talented employees managers and executives and to maintain

appropriate staffing levels is critical to our success

Our success depends on our ability to attract develop and retain talented employees including executives

other key managers and employee-agents Our loss of certain key employees or the failure to attract and develop

talented new executives and managers could have materially adverse effect on our business In addition we must

forecast volume and other factors in changing business environments with reasonable accuracy and adjust our hiring

and training programs and employment levels accordingly Our failure to recognize the need for such adjustments or

our failure or inability to react appropriately on timely basis could lead either to over-staffing which would adversely

affect our cost structure or under-staffing impairing our ability to service our business in one or more locations In

either such event our financial results customer relationships and brand could be materially adversely affected

Pricing claim and coverage issues and class action litigation are continually emerging in the automobile insurance

industiy and these issues could adversely impact our revenues profitability or our methods of doing business

As automobile insurance industry practices and regulatory judicial and consumer conditions change

litigation and unexpected and unintended issues related to claims coverages and business practices may emerge

These issues can have an adverse effect on our business by subjecting us to liability changing the way we price and

market our products extending coverage beyond our underwriting intent requiring us to obtain additional licenses

or increasing the size of claims Examples of some issues include

concerns over the use of an applicants credit score or zip code as factor in making risk selections and

pricing decisions

plaintiffs targeting automobile insurers in purported class action litigation relating to sales and marketing

practices and claims-handling practices such as total loss evaluation methodology the use of aftermarket

non-original equipment manufacturer parts and the alleged diminution in value to insureds vehicles

involved in accidents and

consumer groups lobbying state legislatures to regulate and require separate licenses for individuals and

companies engaged in the sale of ancillary products or services

The effects of these and other unforeseen emerging issues could subject us to liability or negatively affect

our revenues profitability or our methods of doing business

Our business may be adversely affected we do not underwrite risks accurately and charge adequate rates to

policyholders

Our financial condition cash flows and results of operations depend on our ability to underwrite and set

rates accurately for full spectrum of risks The role of the pricing function is to ensure that rates are adequate to

generate sufficient premium to pay losses loss adjustment expenses and underwriting expenses and to earn profit

Pricing involves the acquisition and analysis of historical accident and loss data and the projection of future

accident trends loss costs and expenses and inflation trends among other factors for each of our products and in

many different markets As result our ability to price accurately is subject to number of risks and uncertainties

including without limitation

the availability of sufficient reliable data

uncertainties inherent in estimates and assumptions generally

our ability to conduct complete and accurate analysis of available data

our ability to timely recognize changes in trends and to predict both the severity and frequency of future

losses with reasonable accuracy

our ability to predict changes in certain operating expenses with reasonable accuracy

the development selection and application of appropriate rating formulae or other pricing methodologies
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our ability to innovate with new pricing strategies and the success of those innovations

our ability to implement rate changes and obtain any required regulatory approvals on timely basis

our ability to predict policyholder retention accurately

unanticipated court decisions legislation or regulatory action

the occurrence and severity of catastrophic events such as hurricanes hail storms other severe weather

and terrorist events

our understanding of the impact of ongoing changes in our claim settlement practices and

changing driving patterns

The realization of one or more of such risks may result in our pricing being based on inadequate or

inaccurate data or inappropriate analyses assumptions or methOdologies and may cause us to estimate incorrectly

future changes in the frequency or severity of claims As result we could underprice risks which would negatively

affect our underwriting profit margins or we could overprice risks which could reduce our volume and

competitiveness In either event our operating results financial condition and cash flows could be materially

adversely affected In addition underpricing insurance policies over time could erOde the surplus of one or more of

our insurance subsidiaries constraining our ability to write new business

In December 2011 we completed the
process

of implementing new scored pricing programs We believe

these new scored pricing programs provide us with greater pricing segmentation and improve our pricing relative to

the risk we are insuring Approximately 74% of our current PIF have been underwritten using these new scored

pricing programs As noted above the success of our new scored pricing program will depend on our ability to

properly design and accurately set rates in each of the states in which we currently operate

Our results are dependent on our ability to adjust claims accurately

We must accurately evaluate and pay claims that are made under our insurance policies Many factors can

affect our ability to pay claims accurately including the training experience and skill of our claims representatives

the extent of and our ability to recognize fraudulent or inflated claims the effectiveness of our management and our

ability to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures technologies and systems to support our claims

functions Our failure to pay claims fairly accurately and in timely manner or to deploy claims resources

appropriately could result in unanticipated costs to us lead to material litigation undermine customer goodwill and

our reputation in the marketplace and impair our brand image and as result materially adversely affect our

competitiveness financial results prospects and liquidity

Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to regulatwy restrictions on paying dividends tØ our holding company

Our holding company may rely in part on receiving dividends from the insurance company subsidiaries to

pay its obligations State insurance laws limit the ability of our insurance company subsidiaries to pay dividends and

require our insurance company subsidiaries to maintain specified minimum levels of statutory capital and surplus

These restrictions affect the ability of our insurance company subsidiaries to pay dividends to our holding company and

may require our subsidiaries to obtain the prior approval of regulatory authorities which could slow the timing of such

payments or reduce the amount that can be paid The limits on the amount of dividends that can be paid by our

insurance company subsidiaries may affect the ability of our holding company to pay its obligations The dividend-

paying ability of the insurance company subsidiaries is discussed in Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements

Our ability to use net operating loss cariyforwards to reduce tax payments may be limited by applicable law

Based on our calculations and in accordance with the rules stated in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as

amended the Code we do not believe that any ownership change as defined in Section 382 of the Code has

occurred with respect to our historical or current period net operating losses NOLs and accordingly we believe

that there are no annual limitations under Section 382 of the Code on our ability to use NOLs to reduce our taxable

income However if such change did occur there would be no impact on the consolidated financial statements due

to the current full valuation allowance on deferred tax assets Additionally we do not believe that the April 2004

acquisition of USAuto Holdings Inc USAuto was for the principal purpose of avoiding federal income taxes

i.e avoidance through the use of NOL5 as defined in Section 269 of the Code We did not obtain and do not plan

to obtain an Internal Revenue Service IRS ruling or opinion of counsel regarding these conclusions All NOLs
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that were subject to these code sections as result of the acquisition of USAuto have now expired However related

NOLs of $14.7 million were utilized in years still subject to examination by federal tax authorities

Regardless of whether an ownership change occurs the canyforward period for NOLs is 20 years from the

year
in which the losses giving rise to the NOLs were incurred The most recent losses that gave rise to our current

NOLs were incurred in 2012 and will expire in 2032 If the carryforward period for any NOL were to expire before

that NOL had been frilly utilized the use of the unutilized.portion of that NOL would be permanently prohibited Our

use of new NOLs arising after the date of an ownership change would not be affected by the Section 382 limitation

unless there was an additional ownership change after those new NOLs arose

It is impossible for us to state that an ownership change will not occur in the future Limitations imposed by

Code Section 382 may limit our ability to issue additional stock to raise capital or acquire
businesses We may decide in

the future that it is necessary or in our interest to take certain actions that could result in an ownership change

Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to statutoly capital and surplus requirements and other

standards and theirfailure to meet these requirements or standards could subject them to regulatory actions

Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to RBC standards and other minimum statutory capital and

surplus requirements imposed under the laws of their respective states of domicile The RBC standards which are

based upon the RBC Model Act adopted by the NAIC require our insurance company subsidiaries to annually

report their results of RBC calculations to the state departments of insurance and the NAIC

Failure to meet applicable RBC requirements or minimum statutory capital and surplus requirements could

subject our insurance company subsidiaries to further examination or corrective action imposed by state regulators

including limitations on their writing of additional business state supervision or even liquidation Any changes in

existing RBC standards or minimum statutory capital and surplus requirements may require our insurance company

subsidiaries to increase their statutory capital and surplus levels which they may be unable to do This calculation is

performed on calendar year basis and at December 31 2012 our insurance company subsidiaries maintained RBC

levels in excess of an amount that would require any corrective actions on their part

State regulators also screen and analyze the financial condition of insurance companies using the NAIC IRIS

system As part of IRIS the NAIC database generates key financial ratio results obtained from an insurers annual

statutory statements ratio result falling outside the defined
range

of IRIS ratios may result in further examination

by state regulator to determine if corrective action is necessary At December 31 2012 each of our three insurance

company subsidiaries had IRIS ratios outside the defined ranges We cannot assure you that regulatory authorities

will not conduct any such examination of the financial condition of our insurance company subsidiaries or of the

outcome of any such investigation See Business Regulatory Environment in Item of this report

We rely on our information technology and communication systems and the failure of these systems could

materially adversely affect our business

Our business is highly dependent on the propnetary integrated technology systems that enable timely and

efficient communication and data sharing among the various segments of our integrated operations These systems

are used in all our operations including quotation policy issuance customer service underwnting claims

accounting and communications We have technical staff that develops maintains and supports all elements of our

technology infrastructure However disruption of power systems or communication systems or any failure of our

systems could result in deterioration in our ability to respond to customers requests write and service new business

and process
claims in timely maimer We believe we have appropriate types and levels of insurance to protect our

real property systems and other assets However insurance does not provide full reimbursement for all losses both

direct and indirect that may result from an event affecting our information technology and communication systems

Severe weather conditions and other catastrophes may result in an increase in the number and amount of claims

filed against us

Our business is exposed to the risk of severe weather conditions and other catastrophes Catastrophes can

be caused by various events including natural events such as severe winter weather hurricanes tomados

windstorms earthquakes hailstorms thunderstorms and fires and other events such as explosions terrorist attacks

and riots The incidence and severity of catastrophes and severe weather conditions are inherently unpredictable
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Severe weather conditions generally result in more automobile accidents and damage leading to an increase in the

number of claims filed and/or the amount of compensation sought by claimants

single stockholder has sign jflcant control over us and his interests may dfferfrom yours

single stockholder Gerald Ford our former Chairman of the Board and father of our current

Chairman controls approximately 58% of our outstanding common stock Mr Ford has the power to control the

election and removal of our directors Mr Ford would also have significant control over other matters requiring

stockholder approval including the approval of major corporate transactions and proposed amendments to our

certificate of incorporation This concentration of ownership may delay or prevent change in control of the

Company as well as frustrate attempts to replace or remove current management even when change may be in the

best interests of our other stockholders Furthermore the interests of Mr Ford may not always coincide with the

interests Of the Company or other stockholders

We may have dfficulties in managing any expansion through new markets products or distribution methods

Our future growth plans may include expanding into new states or introducing additional insurance products

or distribution methods In order to grow our business successfully we must apply for and maintain
necessary licenses

properly design and price our products and identify hire and train new employees Our expansion would also place

significant demands on our existing management operations systems accounting internal controls and financial

resources Any failure by us to manage growth and to respond to changes in our business could have material adverse

effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

We and our subsidiaries are subject to comprehensive regulation and supervision that may restrict our ability to

earn profits

We and our subsidiaries are subject to comprehensive regulation and supervision by the insurance

departments in the states where our subsidiaries are domiciled and where our subsidiaries sell insurance and

ancillary products issue policies and handle claims Certain regulatory restrictions and prior approval requirements

may affect our subsidiaries ability to operate change their operations or obtain necessary rate adjustments in

timely manner or may increase our costs and reduce profitability

Among other things regulation and supervision of us and our subsidiaries extends to

Required Licensing We and our subsidiaries operate under licenses issued by various state insurance

authorities These licenses govern among other things the types of insurance coverages agency and claims services

and motor club products that we and our subsidiaries may offer consumers in the particular state If regulatory

authority denies or delays granting any such license our ability to enter new markets or offer new products could be

substantially impaired

Transactions Between Insurance Companies and Their Affiliates Our insurance company subsidiaries are

organized and domiciled under the insurance statutes of Texas Georgia and Tennessee The insurance laws in these

states provide that all transactions among members of an insurance holding company system must be done at arms

length and shown to be fair and reasonable to the regulated insurer Transactions between our insurance company
subsidianes and other subsidianes generally must be disclosed to the state regulators and prior approval of the

applicable regulator generally is required before any material or extraordinary transaction may be consummated

State regulators may refuse to approve or delay approval of such transaction which may impact our ability to

innovate or operate efficiently

Regulation of Rates and Policy Forms The insurance laws of most states in which our insurance company
subsidiaries operate require insurance companies to file premium rate schedules and policy forms for review and

approval State insurance regulators have broad discretion in judging whether our rates are adequate not excessive

and not unfairly discriminatory The speed at which we can change our rates in response to market conditions or

increasing costs depends in part on the method by which the applicable state rating laws are administered

Generally state insurance regulators have the authority to disapprove our requested rates If as permitted in some

states we begin using new rates before they are approved we may be required to issue premium refunds or credits

to our policyholders if the new rates are ultimately disapproved by the applicable state regulator In some states

there has been
pressure

in past years to reduce premium rates for automobile and other personal insurance or to limit
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how often an insurer may request increases for such rates In states where such pressure is applied our ability to

respond to market developments or increased costs in that state may be adversely affected

Investment Restrictions Our insurance company subsidiaries are subject to state laws and regulations that

require diversification of their investment portfolios and that limit the amount of investments in certain categories

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations would cause non-conforming investments to be treated as non-

admitted assets for purposes of measuring statutory surplus and in some instances would require divestiture If

non-conforming asset is treated as non-admitted asset it would lower the affected subsidiarys surplus and thus its

ability to write additional premiums and pay dividends

Restrictions on Cancellation Non-Renewal or Withdrawal Many states have laws and regulations that

limit an insurers ability to exit market For example certain states limit an automobile insurers ability to cancel

or not renew policies Some states prohibit an insurer from withdrawing from one or more lines of business in the

state except pursuant to plan approved by the state insurance department The state insurance department may

disapprove plan that may lead to market disruption These laws and regulations that limit cancellations and non-

renewals and that subject business withdrawals to prior approval restrictions could limit our ability to exit

unprofitable markets or discontinue unprofitable products in the future

Our success depends partly on our ability to efficiently manage complexity in our business operations

The fast pace of change and innovation in our business combined with ongoing technological regulatory

and other developments results in significant levels of complexity in our products and in the systems and processes

we use to run our business The complexity may create barrier to implementing certain new ideas and may lead to

the increased possibility of error in executing our business strategies as well as difficult management decisions

regarding the allocation of available resources such as information technology resources for multiple potential

initiatives or projects Our inability to manage this complexity effectively to bring new ideas to market to allocate

and prioritize appropriately our resources or to prevent errors could result in substantially increased costs liability

to third parties regulatory investigations and sanctions poor customer experiences and damage to our brand

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may prevent takeover or change in management that

you may deem favorable

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain the following provisions that could prevent or inhibit

third party from acquiring us

the requirement that only stockholders owning at least one-third of the outstanding shares of our common

stock may call special stockholders meeting and

the requirement that stockholders owning at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of our common stock

must approve any amendment to our certificate of incorporation provisions concerning the ability to call

special stockholders meetings

Under our certificate of incorporation we may issue shares of preferred stock on terms that are unfavorable

to the holders of our common stock The issuance of shares of preferred stock could also prevent or inhibit third

party from acquiring us The existence of these provisions could depress the price of our common stock could delay

or prevent takeover attempt or could prevent attempts to replace or remove incumbent management

We may write-off intangible assets

As result of purchase accounting for our business combination transactions our consolidated balance

sheet at December 31 2012 contained intangible assets designated as other identifiable intangible assets totaling

$4.8 million On an ongoing basis we evaluate whether facts and circumstances indicate any impairment of value of

intangible assets As circumstances change we cannot assure you that the value of these intangible assets will be

realized by us If we determine that material impairment has occurred we will be required to write-off the

impaired portion of intangible assets which could have material adverse effect on our results of operations in the

period in which the write-off occurs
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Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We lease office space in Nashville Tennessee for our corporate offices claims customer service and data

center approximately 53000 square feet We also lease office space for our regional claims offices in Chicago Illinois

and Tampa Florida and for our regional customer service center in Chicago Illinois Our retail locations are all leased

and typically are located in storefronts in retail shopping centers and each location typically contains less than 1000

square feet of space See Note to our consolidated financial statements for further information about our leases

Item Legal Proceedings

We and our subsidiaries are named from time to time as defendants in various legal actions that are incidental

to our business including those which arise out of or are related to the handling of claims made in connection with our

insurance policies and claims handling The plaintiffs in some of these lawsuits have alleged bad faith or extra-

contractual damages and some have sought punitive damages or class action status We believe that the resolution of

these legal actions will not have material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations However

the ultimate outcome of these matters is uncertain

In the interest of judicial economy in March 2012 we settled lawsuit against our insured in which the

plaintiffs sought extra-contractual damages against one of our insurance company subsidiaries We have not accrued

any amount at December 31 2012 for possible recoveries that may offset the costs and expenses relating to the

litigation settlement Any such recoveries will be recorded in our operating results during the periods in which the

recoveries are probable

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

None
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is currently listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol FAC The

following table sets forth quarterly high and low sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated All price

quotations represent prices between dealers without accounting for retail mark-ups mark-downs or commissions and

may not represent actual transactions

Price Range

High Low

Year Ended June 30 2011

First Quarter 1.87 1.57

Second Quarter
1.95 1.60

Third Quarter 2.00 1.63

Fourth Quarter 2.05 1.62

For the Transition Period from July 2011 to December 31 2011

First Quarter 1.85 1.10

Second Quarter 1.47 1.00

Year Ended December 31 2012

First Quarter 1.49 1.13

Second Quarter 1.61 1.14

Third Quarter 1.31 1.05

Fourth Quarter 1.33 1.01

The closing price of our common stock on February 25 2013 was $1.19

Holders

According to the records of our transfer agent there were approximately 423 holders of record of our

common stock on February 25 2013 including record holders such as banks and brokerage firms who hold shares

for beneficial holders and 40953209 shares of our common stock were outstanding

Dividends

We paid no dividends during the two most recent years We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the

future Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend

upon among other factors our results of operations financial condition capital requirements and contractual

restrictions
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table provides information regarding repurchases by us of our common stock dunng the

periods indicated We repurchased 836 shares from employees during the three months ended December 31 2012 to

cover payroll withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of restncted common stock

Total Number of

Shares

Total Purchased as

Number of Average Part of Publicly

Period Period Shares Price Paid Announced Plans

Beginning Ending Purchased per Share or Programs

OctOber 12012 October3l2012
November 12012 November3O2012 836 1.20

December 2012 December 31 2012 -- --

Total 836 1.20

Item Selected Financial Data

Approximate

Dollar Value of

Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased

Under the Plans

or Programs

The following tables provide selected historical consolidated financial and operating data of the Company at

the dates and for the periods indicated In conjunction with the data provided in the following tables and in order to

more fully understand our historical consolidated financial and operating data you should also read our

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated

financial statements and the accompanying notes included in this report As previously announced on November 15

2011 our Board of Directors approved change in fiscal
year

end from June 30 to December 31 effective December

31 2011 As result of this change this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes financial information for the six-

month transition period from July 2011 to December 31 2011 the Transition Period and the
year ended

December 31 2012 The comparative financial information provided for the six months ended December 31 2010

and the year ended December 31 2011 is unaudited and includes all normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair

statement of the results for the respective period Subsequent to the transition report on Form 10-K our reports on

Form 10 will cover the calendar year from January to December 31 with histoncal penods remaining

unchanged We derived our selected historical consolidated financial data at December 31 2012 and 2011 and for the

year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and each of the twO years in the period

ended June 30 2011 from our consolidated financial statements included in this report We derived our selected

histoncal consolidated financial data at June 30 2011 2010 2009 and 2008 and for the years ended June 30 2009

and 2008 from our consolidated financial statements which are not included in this report The results for past periods

are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period
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Per Share Data

Net income loss per share

Basic 0.22
Diluted 0.22

Number of shares used to calculate net

income loss per share

Basic 40861

Diluted 40861

1.76 0.62

1.76 0.62

47979

47979

0.04 1.18 0.15

0.04 1.18 0.15

1.43 0.37

1.43 0.37

47664 47628

47664 47628

Book value per common share 1.78 2.02 2.52 3.65 3.31 4.69

At December 31 2008 the Company established an accrual of $5.2 million for premium credits available to class members associated with

litigation settlements entered into during the year ended June 30 2009 related to litigation brought against the Company in Alabama and

Georgia with respect to its sales practices primarily the sale of ancillary motor club memberships sold in those states Pursuant to the terms of

the settlements eligible class members were entitled to certain premium credits towards future automobile insurance policy with the

Company or reimbursement certificate for future rental or towing expenses During the years ended June 30 2009 2010 and 2011 premium

credits totaling $4.0 million were utilized while $1.2 million were forfeited The Company did not incur any significant costs associated with

the reimbursement certificates Based on the terms of the settlements management does not expect any further activity associated with this

litigation The Company received $2.95 million in July 2009 from its insurance carrier regarding coverage for the costs and expenses incurred

by the Company relating to the settlement of the Alabama and Georgia litigation The insurance recovery was accrued during the year ended

June 30 2009 and is included within the litigation settlement expenses line item

The year ended June 30 2009 includes an increase in the tax provision of $15.3 million related to the goodwill impairment charge of $68.0

million and tax benefit of $5.1 million related to the utilization of federal net operating loss NOL carryforwards that were previously

reserved for through valuation allowance The provision for income taxes for the year ended June 30 2008 includes charge of $11.4

million related to the expiration of certain federal NOL carryforwards as well as an increase in the valuation allowance of $3.6 million for the

deferred tax asset for certain federal NOL carryforwards resulting in charge totaling $15.0 million

Six Months Ended

Year Ended December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30

2012 2011 2011 2010 2011 2010 2009 2008

in thousands except per share dataStatement of Operations Data

Revenues

Premiums earned

Commission and fee income

Investment income

Net realized gains losses on

investments available-for-sale

Costs and expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses.

Insurance operating expenses

Other operating expenses

Litigation settlement

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Goodwill and intangible assets

impairment

$185644 167224 80637 86454 173041 187046 224113 285914

32574 29911 14769 14341 29483 28852 31759 36479

6599 8064 3930 4261 8395 7958 9504 11250

148223

82127

922

129525

79075

1185

65753

38154

494

604

2203

3025

804

1415

3928

65395

36901

678

365

941

1982

3242 161 232 256 185 683 89 1244
228059 205038 99104 104800 210734 223173 265465 332399

-- 73524 21090 -- 52434 -- 67990 --

237104 289452 128393 106257 267316 215692 315369 336422

171

751

1980

129167

77822

1369

998

1605

3930

126995

79833

2233

361
1048

2013

3931

149277

87124

1307

1570

2053

1910

4138

Income loss before income taxes 9045 84414 29289 1457
Provision benefit for income taxes 105 148 241

Net income loss 9040 84519 29437 1698

219943

98433

2415

7468

1507

1679

4977

56582
198

56780

7481 49904
441 18396

7040 68300

4023
13822

17845

December 31

47707 48087 48171 47961

47707 48087 48171 48418

______
June 30

2012 2011 2011 2010

Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalents and total investments 198150 196576 216120 222734 217512 228216

Total assets 262303 256233 295255 355263 357837 472072

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 79260 69436 68424 73198 83973 101407

Notes and debentures payable 40261 40221 40201 40161 40121 43995

Total liabilities 189510 173504 173027 178073 197981 246613

Total stockholders equity 72793 82729 122228 177190 159856 225459

2009 2008
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and

accompanying notes included in this report This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks

and uncertainties Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking

statements as result of various factors including those discussed below and elsewhere in this report particularly

under the caption Item 1A Risk Factors

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 as amended and Section 1E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended All statements made in this

report other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements You can identify these statements

from our use of the words may should could potential continue plan forecast estimate

project believe intent anticipate expect target is likely will or the negative of these terms and

similar expressions These statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking statements may include among other things statements and

assumptions relating to

our future growth income loss income loss per share and other financial performance

measures

the anticipated effects on our results of operations or financial condition from recent and expected

developments or events

the financial condition of and other issues relating to the strength of and liquidity available to

issuers of securities held in our investment portfolio

the
accuracy

and adequacy of our loss reserving methodologies and

our business and growth strategies

We believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions However these forward-looking

statements involve known and unknown risks uncertainties and other important factors that could cause our actual

results performance or achievements or industry results to differ materially from our expectations of future results

performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements In addition our past results

of operations do not necessarily indicate our future results We discuss these and other uncertainties in Risk

Factors in Item 1A as well as other sections of this report

You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements These statements speak only as of

the date of this report Except as otherwise required by applicable laws we undertake no obligation to publicly

update or revise any forward-looking statements or the risk factors described in this report whether as result of

new information future events changed circumstances or any other reason after the date of this report

General

We are principally retailer servicer and underwriter of non-standard personal automobile insurance We
also own two tracts of land in San Antonio Texas that are held for sale Non-standard personal automobile

insurance is made available to individuals who are categorized as non-standard because of their inability or

unwillingness to obtain standard insurance coverage due to various factors including payment history payment

preference failure in the past to maintain continuous insurance coverage driving record and/or vehicle type

At February 26 2013 we leased and operated 368 retail locations or stores staffed by employee-agents

who primarily sell non-standard personal automobile insurance products underwritten by us as well as certain

commissionable ancillary products In most states our employee-agents also sell complementary tenant

homeowner insurance product underwritten by us At February 26 2013 we wrote non-standard personal

automobile insurance in 12 states and were licensed in 13 additional states

23



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

The following table shows the number of our retail locations Retail location counts are based upon the date

that location commenced or ceased writing business

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2011 2010

382 393 385 394

The following table shows the number of our retail locations by state

_________ _________ _________ _________
2010

Alabama 25

Florida 30

Georgia 60

Illinois 63

Indiana 17

Mississippi

Missouri 11

Ohio 27

Pennsylvania 16

South Carolina 26

Tennessee 19

Texas 69
________ _______ ________ ________

Total 369
________ ________ _________

Change in Fiscal Year

As previously announced on November 15 2011 our Board of Directors approved change in fiscal
year

end from June 30 to December 31 effective December 31 2011 Unless otherwise noted all references to years or

fiscal refer to the twelve-month fiscal year which prior to July 2011 ended on June 30 and beginning with

December 31 2012 ends on December 31 of each year The comparative financial information provided for the six

months ended December 31 2010 and the year ended December 31 201 us unaudited and includes all normal

recurring adjustments necessary for fair statement of the results for the respective period

Consolidated Results of Operations

Overview

Our primary focus is the selling servicing and underwriting of non-standard personal automobile

insurance Our real estate and corporate segment consists of activities related to the disposition of real estate held for

sale interest expense associated with debt and other general corporate overhead expenses

24

Retail locations beginning of period

Opened

Closed

Retail locations end of period

13 11
369 382 382 393

December 31 June 30
2012 2011 2010 2011

24 24 25 24

30 31 31 31

60 60 60 60

67 73 68 74

17 17 17 17

12 12 12 12

27 27 27 27

16 16 16 16

26 26 26 26

20 20 20 19

75 78 76 79

382 393 385 394
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The following table presents selected financial data for our insurance operations and real estate and

corporate segments in thousands

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2011 2010

Revenues

Insurance 227966 204916 99039 104740

Real estate and corporate 93 122 65 60

Consolidated total 228059 205038 99104 104800

Income loss before income taxes

Insurance 4588 78623 26711 1505

Real estate and corporate 4457 5791 2578 2962
Consolidated total 9045 84414 29289 1457

Our insurance operations generate revenues primarily from selling servicing and underwriting non
standard personal automobile insurance policies and related products in 12 states We conduct our underwriting

operations through three insurance company subsidiaries First Acceptance insurance Company Inc First

Acceptance Insurance Company of Georgia Inc and First Acceptance Insurance Company of Tennessee Inc Our

insurance revenues are primarily generated from

premiums earned including policy and renewal fees from sales of policies wntten and assumed

by our insurance company subsidiaries

commission and fee income including installment billing fees on policies written agency fees and

commissions and fees for other ancillary products and services and

investment income earned on the invested assets of the insurance company subsidiaries

The following table presents gross premiums earned by state in thousands Driven by improvements in

sales execution higher percentage of full coverage policies sold and rate increases taken in most states net

premiums earned for the year ended December 31 2012 increased 11.0% compared with the same period in the

prior year

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2011 2010

Premiums earned

Georgia 38500 36002 17283 18947

Florida 26744 19667 9771 9466

Texas 22481 21912 10269 11618

Illinois 21896 21784 10456 11588

Alabama 17157 16185 7831 8518
Ohio 15788 13752 6731 6496
South Carolina 12637 9811 4860 4852
Tennessee 11819 10415 5086 5298

Pennsylvania 8301 8409 3954 4730

Indiana 4703 4382 2103 2268
Missouri 3172 2630 1231 1425

Mississippi 2638 2456 1150 1325

Total gross premiums earned 185836 167405 80725 86531

Premiums ceded 192 181 88 77
Total net premiums earned 185644 167224 80637 86454
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The following table presents the change in the total number of policies in force PIF for the insurance

operations PIF increase as result of new policies issued and decrease as result of policies that are canceled or

expire and are not renewed At December 31 2012 PIF was 2.9% higher than at the same date in the prior year

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2011 2010

Policies in force beginning of period. 141862 144582 144410 154655

Net increase decrease during period 4076 2720 2548 10073
Policies in forceend of period 145938 141862 141862 144582

The following tables present total PIF for the insurance operations segregated by policies that were sold

through our open and closed retail locations as well as our independent agents call center and website For our retail

locations PIF are further segregated by new and renewal and ii liability-only orfull coverage New policies are

defined as those policies issued to both first-time customers and customers who have reinstated lapsed or cancelled

policy Renewal policies are those policies which renewed after completing their full uninterrupted policy term

Liability-only policies are defined as those policies including only bodily injury or no-fault and property damage

coverages which are the required coverages
in most states For comparative purposes the PIF data with respect to

closed retail locations for each of the periods presented below includes all retail locations closed at December 31
2012 PIF from open retail locations increased 3.6% on year-over-year basis In addition the percentage of PIF

with full
coverage

at December 31 2012 that were sold through our open retail locations increased to 42.4%

compared with 9.8% at the same date in the prior year In the first year of selling policies in our call center and

through our website PIF grew to 1880 representing 1.3% of total PIF at December 31 2012

December 31
2012 2011

Retail locations

Open retail locations

New 65097 63250
Renewal 75667 72665

140764 135915

Closed retail locations

New 48 1204
Renewal 1521 2775

1569 3979

Independent agents 1725 1890
Call center and website 1880 78

Total policies in force 145938 141862

December 31
2012 2011

Retail locations

Open retail locations

Liability-only 81014 81849
Full coverage 59750 54066

140764 135915

Closed retail locations

Liability-only 904 2473
Full

coverage
665 1506

1569 3979

Independent agents 1725 1890

Call center and website 1880 78

Total policies in force 145938 141862
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Insurance companies present combined ratio as measure of their overall underwriting profitability The

components of the combined ratio are as follows

Loss Ratio Loss ratio is the ratio expressed as percentage of losses and loss adjustment expenses

incurred to premiums earned and is basic element of underwriting profitability We calculate this ratio based on all

direct and assumed premiums earned net of ceded reinsurance

Expense Ratio Expense ratio is the ratio expressed as percentage of insurance operating expenses to net

premiums earned Insurance operating expenses are reduced by commission and fee income from insureds This isa

measurement that illustrates relative management efficiency in administering our operations

Combined Ratio Combined ratio is the sum of the loss ratio and the expense ratio If the combined ratio is

at or above 100% an insurance company cannot be profitable without sufficient investment income

The following table presents the loss expense and combined ratios for our insurance operations

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2011 2010

Lossand loss adjustment expense
79.8% 77.5% 81.5% 75.6%

Expense 26.7% 29.4% 29.0% 26.1%

Combined 106.5% 106.9% 110.5% 101.7%

Excluding the severance and related benefits charges incurred in connection with the Separation of certain

exectitive officers of $1.3 million during March 2011 the expense and combined ratios for the year ended December

31 2011 were 28.6% and 106.1% respectively

Operahonal Initiatives

During the past year we renewed our focus on improving the customer expenence and value through

several initiatives Through February 2013 our progress has included

investment in our sales organization to improve the quality and consistency of the customer experience

in our retail stores

continued development of our brand

investment in rebranding our Store fronts and refurbishing our store interiors

development of electronic signature capabilities thereby enabling most customers to receive quotes

and bind policies over the phone and through our website

development of consumer-based website that reflects our branding strategy improves the customer

experience and allows for full-service capabilities including quoting binding and receiving payments

implementation of trial sales of third party carrier automobile insurance in select locations where pricing

is highly competitive and

development of an internet-specific sales strategy to drive quote traffic to our website

Moving forward we continue to believe that our retail stores are the foundation of our business providing

an opportunity for us to directly interact with our customers on regular basis We also recognize that customer

preferences have changed and that we need to adapt to meet those needs For that reason we will continue to invest

in Our people retail stores website and call center initiatives and our customer interaction efforts in order to

improve the customer experience Our current initiatives include

expansion of our potential customer base throUgh enhancements to our insurance products and

expansion of ancillary product offerings including life insurance

continued investment and refinement of our internet-specific sales strategy

continued investment and development of our websites full-service capabilities

continued trial sales of third party carrier auto insurance in select locations where pricing is highly

competitive and

investment in our call center processes and people in order to better support our phone and website sales

efforts
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Investments

We use the services of an independent investment manager to manage our investment portfolio The

investment manager conducts in accordance with our investment policy all of the investment purchases and sales

for our insurance company subsidiaries Our investment policy has been established by the Investment Committee of

our Board of Directors and specifically addresses overall investment goals and objectives authorized investments

prohibited securities restrictions on sales by the investment manager and guidelines as to asset allocation duration

and credit quality Management and the Investment Committee meet regularly with our investment manager to

review the performance of the portfolio and compliance with our investment guidelines

The invested assets of the insurance company subsidiaries consist substantially of marketable investment

grade debt securities and include U.S government securities municipal bonds corporate bonds and collateralized

mortgage obligations CMOs Investment income is comprised primarily of interest earned on these securities

net of related investment expenses Realized gains and losses may occur from time to time as changes are made to

our holdings based upon changes in interest rates or the credit quality of specific securities

The value of our consolidated investment portfolio was $139.0 million at December 31 2012 and consisted

of fixed maturity securities and an investment in mutual fund all carried at fair value with unrealized gains and

losses reported as separate component of stockholders equity At December 31 2012 we had gross unrealized

gains of $9.1 million and gross unrealized losses of $0.4 million in our consolidated investment portfolio

At December 31 2012 87% of the fair value of our fixed maturity portfolio was rated investment grade

credit rating of AAA to BBB- by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations The average credit rating

of our fixed maturity portfolio was AA- at December 31 2012 Investment grade securities generally bear lower

yields and have lower degrees of risk than those that are unrated or non-investment grade We believe that high

quality investment portfolio is more likely to generate stable and predictable investment return

Investments in CMOs had fair value of $22.5 million at December 31 2012 and represented 16% of our

fixed maturity portfolio At December 31 2012 66% of our CMOs were considered investment grade by nationally

recognized statistical rating agencies In addition 13% of our CMOs were rated AAA and 53% of our CMOs were

backed by agencies of the United States government Of the non-agency backed CMOs 29% were rated AAA

The following table summarizes our investment securities at December 31 2012 in thousands

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

U.S government and agencies 11202 908 -- 12110

State 3994 117 -- 4111
Political subdivisions 753 37 -- 790

Revenue and assessment 16449 1553 17996

Corporate bonds 68114 3669 246 71537
Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agencybacked 11079 791 -- 11870

Non-agency backed residential 5098 472 98 5472

Non-agency backed commercial 4652 457 -- .5109

Redeemable preferred stock 1500 218 -- 1718

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale 122841 8222 350 130713

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale 7501 832 8333

$130342 9054 350 $139046
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Year Ended December 31 2012 Compared with the Year Ended December 31 2011

Consolidated Results

Revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 increased 11% to $228.1 million from $205.0 million in

the prior year Loss before income taxes for the year ended December 31 2012 was $9.0 million compared with

loss before income taxes of $84.4 million for the year ended December 31 2011 The loss before income taxes for

the year ended December 31 2012 included the recognition of net realized gain on investments of $3.2 million or

$0.08 per share on diluted basis and unfavorable development of $4.0 million for losses occurring in prior fiscal

years while the loss before income taxes for the same period in the prior year included goodwill and intangible

assets impairment charges of $73.5 million or $0.99 per share on diluted basis unfavorable development of $3.1

million for losses occurring in prior fiscal years charges of $1.7 million incurred in connection with the separation

of certain execUtive officers during March 2011 comprised of $1.3 million in accrued severance and benefits and

$0.4 million non-cash charge related tO the vesting of certain stock awards and $0.4 million of other-than-

temporary impairment charges on investments Net loss for the year ended December 31 2012 was $9.0 million

compared with net loss of $84.5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Basic and diluted net loss per share

were $0.22 for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with basic and diluted net loss
per share of $1.76 for

the same period in the prior year

Insurance Operations

Revenues from insurance operations were $228.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared

with $204.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Loss before income taxes from insurance operations for

the year ended December 31 2012 was $4.6 million compared with loss before income taxes from insurance

operations of $78.6 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Loss before income taxes from insurance

operations for the year ended December 31 2012 included the recognition of net realized gain on investments .of

$3.2 million while the loss before income taxes from insurance operations for the year ended December 31 2011

included goodwill and intangible assets impairment charges of $73.5 million

Premiums Earned

Premiums earned increased by $18.4 million or 11% to $185.6 million for the year ended December 31
2012 from $167.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 This improvement was primarily due to an increase

in the number of PIF from 141862 at December 31 2011 to 145938 at December 31 2012 which we attribute to the

continued sales marketing customer interaction and product initiatives Such factors led to higher close ratio

resulting in an increase in new policies sold on year-over-year basis

Commission and Fee Income

Commission and fee income increased 9% to $32.6 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from

$29.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 This increase in commission and fee income was result of

higher fee income related to comrnissionable ancillary products sold through our retail locations and the increase in

PIF noted above

Investment Income

Investment income decreased to $6.6 million during the year ended December 31 2012 from $8.1 million

during the year endedDecember 31 2011 This decrease in investment income was primarily result of the decline in

invested assets as result of the $1 1.0 million used for repurchases of common stock during December 2011 and the

sale in September 2012 of $29.6 million of corporate bonds in order to increase the statutory capital and surplus of the

insurance company subsidiaries At December 31 2012 and 2011 the tax-equivalent book yields for our fixed

maturities portfolio were 3% and 3% respectively with effective durations of 19 and 01 years respectively
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Net Realized Losses on Investments Available-for-Sale

Net realized gains on investments available-for-sale during the year ended December 31 2012 primarily

included $3.2 million in net realized gain from the sales of $29.6 million of corporate bonds which were sold in

September 2012 in order to increase the statutory capital and surplus of the insurance company subsidiaries Net

realized losses on investments available-for-sale during the year ended December 31 2011 included $0.2 million of

charges related to OTTI oncertain non-agency backed CMOs For additional information with respect to the

determination of OTTI losses on investment securities see Critical Accounting Estimates Investments below and

Note to our consolidated financial statements

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The loss and loss adjustment expense
ratio was 79 8% for the year ended December 31 2012 compared

with 77.5% for the year ended December 31 2011 We experienced unfavorable development related to prior fiscal

years of $4.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with unfavorable development of $3.1

million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 The unfavorable development for the
year

ended December 31 2012

was primarily related to the strengthening of loss and loss adjustment expense reserves Loss development was

primarily related to higher than expected severity for Florida personal injury protection claims and for Georgia

bodily injury claims in older accident years Loss adjustment expense development was primarily related to higher

than expected legal expenses for bodily injury claims for accident years 2010 and prior The unfavorable

development for the year ended December 31 2011 included amounts related to the settlement of claims for extra-

contractual damages See Legal Proceedings in Item of this report and Note 16 to our consolidated fmancial

statements for further information concerning this settlement

Excluding the development related to prior fiscal years theloss and loss adjustment expense ratios for the

years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were 77.7% and 75.6% respectively The year-over-year increase in the

loss and loss adjustment expense ratio was primarily due to higher loss driven by an increase in frequency

experienced during the second quarter of 2012 and higher expected severity for bodily injury claims

In December 2011 we completed the process of implementing new scored pricing programs We believe

these new scored pricing programs provide us with greater pricing segmentation and improve our pricing relative to

the risk we are insuring Approximately 74% of our current PIF have been underwritten using these new scored

pricing programs

We perform state-by-state reviews of all insurance pricing programs on quarterly basis and alter rates as we

believe necessary In response to the increases in our loss ratio during recent quarters we implemented rate increases

on most of our non-scored pricing programs during the first quarter and for our scored pricing programs in most states

during the second and third quarters The full benefit of these rate actions will not be fully realized until all customers

renew their policies under the new rates typically six months from the date of rate change implementation

Operating Expenses

Insurance operating expenses increased 4% to $82.1 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from

$79.1 million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 The increase was primarily result of additional costs

associated with sales marketing and customer service organizational initiatives additional variable costs associated

with higher PIF and enhancements to our underwriting processes
associated with the new scored pricing programs

offset by savings realized from the closure of underperforming stores and reduction in advertising expenses from

the same period in the prior year In addition to the factors noted above the increase was also greater considering the

March 2011 severance and related benefits charges of $1.3 million incurred in connection with the separation of

certain executive officers

The expense ratio was 26.7% for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with 29.4% for the year

ended December 31 2011 Excluding the severance and related benefits charges noted above the expense ratio for

the year ended December 31 2011 was 28.6% compared to 26.7% for the year ended December 31 2012

Overall the combined ratio decreased slightly to 106.5% for the year ended December 31 2012 from 106.9%

for the year ended December 31 2011 Excluding the severance and related benefits charges noted above the

combined ratio for the year ended December 31 2011 was 106.1%
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment

We recorded non-cash pre-tax goodwill and intangible assets impairment charges during the
year

ended

December 31 2011 of $73.5 million We are required to perform periodic impairment tests of our goodwill and

intangible assets The goodwill impairment test is two-step process that requires us to make judgments in

determining what assumptions to use in the calculation The first step of the process consists of estimating the fair

value of each reporting unit based on valuation techniques including discounted cash flow model using revenue

and profit forecasts and recent industry transaction and trading multiples of our peers and comparing those

estimated fair values with the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit which includes the

allocated goodwill If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value second step is performed to compute

the amount of the impairment if any by determining an implied fair value of goodwill The determination of the

implied fair value of goodwill of reporting unit requires us to allocate the estimated fair value of the reporting

unit to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit Any unallocated fair value represents the implied fair value

of goodwill which is compared to its corresponding carrying value

As part of our annual impairment test to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill at June 30 2011 the fair

value of our reporting unit from market participants perspective was estimated utilizing both cash flow

projection derived from our long-range strategic plan using discount rate of 14.5% which was based on an

estimated weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks associated with our operations and ii recent

industry transaction and trading trends in price to tangible book multiples and related returns on tangible equity As

result of recent trends in industry transaction and trading multiples we recognized non-cash pre-tax goodwill

impairment charge of $50.9 million in the quarter ended June 30 2011 which included $1.9 million addition to

deferred tax liabilities

Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of acquired trademarks and trade names In measuring

the fair value for these intangible assets we utilize the relief-from-royalty method This method assumes that

trademarks and trade names have value to the extent that their owner is relieved of the obligation to pay royalties for

the benefits received from them This method requires us to estimate the future revenue for the related brands the

appropriate royalty rate and the weighted average cost of capital As result of decisions made by management

during the quarter ended June 30 2011 regarding entity-wide branding initiatives we recognized non-cash pre-tax

impairment charge of $1.6 million related to trade name intangible assets

As part of our periodic impairment test to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill at December 31 2011

the fair value of our reporting unit from market participants perspective was estimated utilizing both cash

flow projection derived from our long-range strategic plan using discount rate of 14.5% which was based on an

estimated weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks associated with our operations and ii recent

industry transaction and trading trends in price to tangible book multiples and related returns on tangible equity

Using assumptions and techniques similar to those used at June 30 2011 and as result of the adverse impact of

operating losses the decline in our common stock trading prices and the negotiated price of separate stock

transactions with former executive officers that represented significant percentage of our shares outstanding

during the quarter ended December 31 2011 we recognized non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of

$21.1 million

variance in the discount rate would not have had significant effect on the amount of the goodwill

impairment charges recognized during the year ended December 31 2011 The resulting determination of implied fair

value of goodwill did not support any remaining goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2011

Provision Benefit for Income Taxes

The benefit for income taxes was $5 thousand for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with the

provision for income taxes of $0.1 million at the year ended December 31 2011 The provision for income taxes

related to current state income taxes for certain subsidiaries with taxable income At December 31 2012 and 2011

we established valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be

realized In assessing our ability to support the realizability of our deferred tax assets we considered both positive

and negative evidence We placed greater weight on historical results than on our outlook for future profitability

The deferred tax valuation allowance may be adjusted in future periods ifwe determine that it is more likely than

not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized In the event the deferred tax valuation

allowance is adjusted we would record an income tax benefit for the adjustment
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Real Estate and Corporate

Loss before income taxes from real estate and corporate operations for the year ended December 31 2012

was $4.5 million compared with loss from real estate and corporate operations before income taxes of $5.8 million

for the year ended December 31 2011 Segment losses consist of other operating expenses not directly related to our

insurance operations interest expense and stock-based compensation offset by investment income on corporate

invested assets We incurred $3.0 million and $3.9 million of interest expense during the years ended December 31

2012 and 2011 respectively related to the debentures issued in June 2007 The decrease in interest expense was due

the contractual interest rate related to the debentures decreasing effective August 2012 For additional information

see Liquidity and Capital Resources in Item of this report

Six Months Ended December 31 2011 Compared with the Six Months Ended December 31 2010

Consolidated Results

Revenues for the six months ended December 31 2011 decreased 5% to $99.1 million from $104.8 million

for the six months ended December 31 2010 Loss before income taxes for the six months ended December 31
2011 was $29.3 million compared with loss before income taxes of $1.5 million for the six months ended December

31 2010 The loss before income taxes for the six months ended December 31 2011 included goodwill

impairment charge of $21.1 million or $0.45 per
share on diluted basis and unfavorable development of $5.6

million for losses occurring in prior periods Net loss for the six months ended December 31 2011 was $29.4

million compared with net loss of $1.7 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 Basic and diluted net

loss
per

share were $0.62 for the six months ended December 31 2011 compared with basic and diluted net loss per

share of $0.04 for the six months ended December 31 2010

Insurance Operations

Revenues from insurance operations were $99.0 million for the six months ended December 31 2011

compared with $104.7 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 Loss before income taxes from

insurance operations for the six months ended December 31 2011 was $26.7 million compared with loss before

income taxes from insurance operations of $1.5 million for the six months ended December 31 2010

Premiums Earned

Premiums eamed decreased by $5.8 million or 7% to $80.6 million for the six months ended December 31

2011 from $86.5 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 The decrease in premiums earned was

primarily due to decline in the number of PIF from 144582 at December 31 2010 to 141862 at December 31

2011 which was impacted by the closure of underperforming stores At December 31 2011 we operated 382 stores

compared with 393 stores at December 31 2010 Although the number of PIF sold through our open stores decreased

from 139187 at December 31 2010 to 135915 at December 31 2011 for those policies quoted we experienced

higher close ratio for the six months ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in the prior year

Commission and Fee Income

Commission and fee income increased 3% to $14.8 million for the six months ended December 31 2011

from $14.3 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 This increase in commission and fee income was

result of higher fee income related to commissionable ancillary products sold through our retail locations offset by

the decrease in the number of PIF

Investment Income

Investment income decreased to $3.9 million during the six months ended December 31 2011 from $4.3

million during the six months ended December 31 2010 This decrease in investment income was primarily result

of the decline in invested assets as result of cash used in operations during the prior fiscal years and current six

month period At December 31 2011 and 2010 the tax-equivalent book yields for our fixed maturities portfolio

were 4.3% and 4.6% respectively with effective durations of 3.01 and 3.12 years respectively
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Net realized losses on investments available-for-sale

Net realized losses on investments available-for-sale during the six months ended December 31 2011

included $0.1 million in net realized losses on redemptions and $0.1 million of charges related to 0Th on certain

non-agency backed CMOs Net realized losses on investments available-for-sale during the six months ended

December 31 2010 included $0.1 million in net realized gains on sales offset by $0.3 million of charges related to

0Th on certain non-agency backed CMOs For additional information with respect to the determination of 0Th
losses on investment securities see Critical Accounting Estimates Investments below and Note to our

consolidated financial statements

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The loss and loss adjustment expense
ratio was L5% for the six months ended December 31 2011

compared with 75.6% for the six months ended December 31 2010 We experienced unfavorable development

related to prior periods of $5.6 million for the six months ended December 31 2011 compared with unfavorable

development of $1.0 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 The unfavorable development for the six

months ended December 31 2011 was primarily related to the strengthening of loss adjustment expense reserves for

prior accident periods and included amounts related to the settlement of claims for extra-contractual damages See

Legal Proceedings in Item of this report and Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements for further

information concerning this settlement

Excluding the unfavorable development related to prior periods the loss and loss adjustment expense ratio

was .74.6% and 74.5% for the six months ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Operating Expenses

Insurance operating expenses increased 3% to $38.2 million for the six months ended December 31 2011

from $36.9 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 The increase was primarily result of costs

associated with sales and marketing organizational initiatives and enhancements to our underwriting processes

associated with the new multivariate pricing program offset by the reduction in costs such as employee-agent

commissions and premium taxes that varied along with the decrease in premiums earned as well as savings realized

from the closure of underperforming stores

The expense ratio was 29.0% for the six months ended December 31 2011 compared with 26.1% for the six

months ended December 31 2010 The year-over-year increase in the expense ratio was primarily due to the decrease

in premiums earned and higher percentage of fixed expenses in our retail operations such as rent and base salary

Overall the combined ratio increased to 110.5% for the six months ended December 31 2011 from 101.7%

for the six months ended December 31 2010

Goodwill Impairment

We recorded non-cash pre-.tax goodwill impairment charge during the six months ended December 31
2011 of $21.1 million We are required to perform periodic impairment tests of our goodwill and intangible assets

The fair value of our reporting unit from market participants perspective was estimated utilizing both cash

flow projection derived from our long-range strategic plan using discount rate of 14.5% which was based on an

estimated weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks associated with our operations and ii recent

industry transaction and.trading trends in price to tangible book multiples and related returns on tangible equity As

result of the adverse impact of operating losses the decline in our common stock trading prices and the negotiated

price of separate stock transactions with former executive officers that represented significant percentage of our

shares outstanding during the second quarter of the six months ended December 31 2011 we recognized non

cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $21.1 million This impairment charge resulted in no remaining

goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2011
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Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the six months ended December 31
2011 and 2010 respectively The provision for income taxes related to current state income taxes for certain

subsidiaries with taxable income At December 31 2011 and 20 10we established valuation allowance to reduce

deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized

Real Estate and Corporate

Loss before income taxes from real estate and corporate operations for the six months ended December 31
2011 was $2.6 million compared with loss before income taxes from real estate and corporate operations of

$3.0 million for the six months ended December 31 2010 Segment losses consist of other operating expenses not

directly related to our insurance operations interest
expense and stock-based compensation offset by investment

income on corporate invested assets We incurred $2.0 million of interest
expense during both the six months ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 related to the debentures issued in June 2007

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of funds are premiums fees and investment income from our insurance company
subsidiaries and commissions and fee income from our non-insurance company subsidiaries Our primary uses of

funds are the payment of claims and operating expenses Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended

December 31 2012 was $3.8 million compared with net cash used in operating activities of $10.4 million for the

same period in the prior year This improvement was primarily as result of the increase in premiums written and the

improvement in our loss ratio Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31 2012 was

$31.5 million compared with net cash provided by investing activities of $16.1 million for the same period in the

prior year During September 2012 we sold $29.6 million of corporate bonds in order to increase the statutory capital

and surplus of the insurance company subsidiaries The
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 included total net

reductions in our investment portfolio of $35.1 million and $17.9 million respectively The remaining net reductions

in our investment portfolio in both periods were primarily result of maturities and redemptions Investing activities

during the year ended December 31 2012 also included capital expenditures of $3.6 million primarily related to the

rebranding of our retail stores

Our holding company requires cash for general corporate overhead
expenses and for debt service related to

our debentures payable The holding companys primary source of unrestricted cash to meet its obligations is the

sale of ancillary products to our insureds and if necessary and available subject to state law limitations the holding

company may receive dividends from our insurance company subsidiaries The holding company also receives cash

from operating activities as result of investment income Through an intercompany tax allocation arrangement

taxable losses of the holding company provide cash to the holding company to the extent that taxable income is

generated by the insurance company subsidiaries During September 2012 the holding company contributed $13.0

million in cash to increase the statutory capital and surplus of the insurance company subsidiaries At December 31
2012 we had $3.4 million remaining available in unrestricted cash and investments outside of the insurance

company subsidiaries These funds and the additional unrestricted cash from the sources noted above will be used to

pay our future cash requirements outside of the insurance company subsidiaries

The holding company has debt service requirements related to the debentures payable The debentures are

interest-only and mature in full in July 2037 The debentures paid fixed rate of 9.277% until July 30 2012 after

which the rate became variable Three-Month LIBOR plus 375 basis points resets quarterly The interest rate

related to the debentures was 4.063% for the period from November 2012 to January 2013 In February 2013 the

interest rate reset to 4.05 2% through April 2013

State insurance laws limit the amount of dividends that may be paid from our insurance company
subsidiaries At December 31 2012 our insurance company subsidiaries could not pay ordinary dividends without

prior regulatory approval due to negative eamed surplus position

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners Model Act for risk-based capital provides formulas

to determine each December 31 on an annual basis the amount of statutory capital and surplus that an insurance

company needs to ensure that it has an acceptable expectation of not becoming financially impaired There are also

statutory guidelines that suggest that on an annual calendar year basis an insurance company should not exceed
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ratio of net premiums written to statutory capital and surplus of 3-to- On combined basis the ratios for our

insurance company subsidiaries of net premiums written for the last twelve months to statutory capital and surplus

were 2.12-to-i at December 31 2012 Based on our current forecast on combined basis we anticipate that our

risk-based capital levels will be adequate and that our ratio of net premiums written to statutory capital and surplus

will not exceed the 3-to-i statutory guideline for the reasonably foreseeable future We therefore believe that our

insurance company subsidiaries have sufficient statutory capital and surplus available to support their net premium

writings in this time frame

We believe that existing cash and investment balances when combined with anticipated cash flows as

noted above will be adequate to meet our expected liquidity needs for both the holding company and our insurance

company subsidiaries in both the short-term and the reasonably foreseeable future Any future growth strategy may
require external financing and we may from time to time seek to obtain external financing We cannot assure that

additional sources of fmancing will be available to us on favorable terms or at all or that any such financing would

not negatively impact our results of operations

Contractual Obligations

The following table summanzes our contractual obligations by penod at December 31 2012 in thousands

Payments Due By Period

Less More

than 1-3 3-5 than

TOtal year Years Years years

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 79000 53804 20573 3538 1085

Debentures payable 83986 1671 3342 3342 75631

Operating leases 17268 7236 980 1354 698

Total contractual cash obligations 180254 62711 31 895 234 77 414

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves do not have contractual maturity dates however based on historical

payment patterns the amount presented is our estimate of the expected timing of these payments The timing of these

payments is subject to significant uncertainty We maintain portfolio of marketable investments with varying

maturitiesand substantial amount of cash and cash equivalents intended to provide adequate cash flows for such

payments

Payments due by period assume contractual variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 375 basis points or 4.052% at

January 31 2013

Consists pnmanly of rental obligations under real estate leases related to our retail locations and corporate offices

Trust Preferred Securities

On June 15 2007 First Acceptahce Statutory Trust FAST our wholly-owned unconsolidated

subsidiary trust entity completed private placement whereby FAST issued 40000 shares of preferred securities

at $1000 per share to outside investors and 1240 shares of common securities to us also at $1000 per share FAST
used the proceeds from the sale of the preferred secunties to purchase $41 million ofjumor subordinated

debentures from us The debentures will mature on July 30 2037 and are redeemable by the Company in whole or in

part beginning on July 30 2012 at which time the preferred securities are callable The debentures paid fixed rate

of 9.277% until July 30 2012 after which the rate became variable Three-Month LIBOR plus 375 basis points

resets quarterly The interest rate related to the debentures was 4.063% for the period from November 2012 to

January 2013 In February 2013 the interest rate reset to 4.052% through April 2013 The obligations of the

Company under the junior subordinated debentures represent full and unconditional guarantees by the Company of

FAST Is obligations for the preferred securities Dividends on the preferred securities are cumulative payable

quarterly in arrears and are deferrable at the Companys option for up to five years The dividends on these

securities which have not been deferred are the same as the interest on the debentures The Company cannot pay
dividends on its commcm stock during any such deferments FAST does not meet the requirements for

consolidation of FASB ASC 810 Consolidation
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We use off-balance sheet arrangements e.g operating leases where the economics and sound business

principles warrant their use For additional information with respect tu our operating leases see Contractual

Obligations above and Note to our consolidated financial statements

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the consolidated

financial statements As more information becomes known these estimates and assumptions could change thus having

an impact on the amounts reported in the future The following are considered to be our critical accounting estimates

Valuation of Deferred Tax Asset

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method whereby deferred income tax assets and

liabilities result from temporary differences Temporary differences are differences between the tax basis of assets

and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and their reported amounts in the consolidated

financial statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years Valuation of the deferred tax

asset is considered critical accounting estimate because the determination of our ability to utilize the asset involves

number of management assumptions relating to future operations that could materially affect the determination of

the ultimate value and therefore the carrying amount of our deferred tax asset

Goodwill and Ident4fIable Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are attributable to our insurance operations and were

initially recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition Goodwill and other intangible assets having

an indefinite useful lifb are not amortized for financial statement purposes We perform our required annual

impairment tests as of June 30th of each fiscal year In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the

goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets may be impaired an interim impairment test would be required

Intangible assets with finite lives have been fully amortized over their useful lives

The goodwill impairment test is two-step process that requires us to make judgments in determining what

assumptions to use in the calculation The first step of the process consists of estimating the fair value of each

reporting unit based on valuation techniques including discountedcash flow model using revenue and profit

forecasts and recent industry transaction and trading multiples of our peers and comparing those estimated fair

values with the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit which includes the allocated

goodwill If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value second step is performed to compute the

amount of the impairment if any by determining an implied fair value of goodwill The determination of the

implied fair value of goodwill of reporting unit requires us to allocate the estimated fair value of the reporting

unit to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit Any unallocated fair value represents the implied fair value

of goodwill which is compared to its corresponding carrying value

Our evaluation includes multiple assumptions that may change over time If future discounted cash flows

become less than those projected by us or unfavorable trends coritinue further identifiable intangible assets impairment

charges may become necessary that could have materially adverse impact on our results of operations in the period in

which the write-off occurs

Investments

Our investments are recorded at fair value which is typically based on publicly available quoted prices

From time to time the carrying value of our investments may be temporarily impaired because of the inherent

volatility of publicly-traded investments Management reviews investments for impairment on quarterly basis Any
decline in the fair value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary

would result in reduction in the amortized cost of the security

36



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 1O.K

The determination of whether unrealized losses are other-than-temporary requires judgment based on

subjective as well as objective factors We routinely monitor our investment portfolio for changes in fair value that

might indicate potential impairments and perform detailed reviews on such secunties Changes in fair value are

evaluated to determine the extent to which such changes are attributable to fundamental factors specific to the

issuer or ii market-related factors such as interest rates or sector declines

Secunties with declines attributable to issuer specific fundamentals are reviewed to identif all available

evidence to estimate the potential for impairment Resources used include historical financial data included in SEC

filings for corporate bonds and performance data regarding the underlying loans for CMOs Securities with declines

attributable solely to market or sector declines where we do not inten4 to sell the security and it js more likely than

not that we will not be required to sell the security before the full recovery of its amortized cost basis are not deemed

to be other-than-temporarily impaired

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves represent our best estimate of our ultimate liability for losses

and loss adjustment expenses relating to events that occurred prior to the end of any given accounting period but

have not been paid Months and potentially years may elapse between the occurrence of an automobile accident

covered by one of our insurance policies the reporting of the accident and the payment of the claim We record

liability for estimates of losses that willbe paid for accidents that have been reported which is referred to as case

reserves As accidents are not always reported when they occur we estimate liabilities for accidents that have

occurred but have not been reported IBNR

We are directly liable for loss and loss adjustment expenses under the terms of the insurance policies

underwritten by our insurance company subsidiaries Each of our insurance company subsidiaries establishes

reserve for all of its unpaid losses including case reserves and IBNR reserves and estimates for the cost to settle the

claims We estimate our IBNR reserves by estimating our ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustment expense

reserves first and then reducing that amount by the amount of cumulative paid claims and by the amount of our case

reserves We rely primarily on historical loss experience in determining reserve levels on the assumption that

historical loss experience provides good indication of future lossexperience We also consider various other

factors such as inflation claims settlement pattems legislative activity and litigation trends Our actuarial staff

continually monitors these estimates on state and coverage level We utilize our actuarial staff to determine

appropriate reserve levels As experience develops or new information becomes known we increase or decrease the

level of our reserves in the period in which changes to the estimates are determined Accordingly the actual losses

and loss adjustment expenses may differ materially from the estimates we have recorded See Business Loss and

Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves in Item of this report and Note to our consolidated financial statements for

additional information

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the potential economic loss arising from adverse changes in the fair value of

financial instruments Our exposures to market risk relate primarily to our investment portfolio which is exposed

primarily to interest rate risk and credit risk The fair value of our investment portfolio is directly impacted by

changes in market interest rates generally the fair value of fixed-income investments moves inversely with

movements in market interest rates Our fixed maturity portfolio iS comprisedof substantially all fixed rate

investments with pnmanly short term and intermediate term maturities Likewise the underlying investments of our

current mutual fund investment are also fixed-income investments This portfolio composition allows flexibility in

reacting to fluctuations of interest rates The portfolios of our insurance company subsidiaries are managed to

achieve an adequate risk-adjusted return while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet policyholder obligations
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Interest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fixed maturity investments fluctuate in response to changes in market interest rates

Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases respectively in

the fair values of those instruments Additionally the fair values of interest rate sensitive instruments may be

affected by the creditworthiness of the issuer prepayment options relative values of alternative investments the

liquidity of the instrument and other general market conditions

The following table summarizes the estimated effects of hypothetical increases and decreases in interest

rates resulting from parallel shifts in market yield curves on our fixed maturity portfolio in thousands It is

assumed that the effects are realized immediately upon the change in interest rates The hypothetical changes in

market interest rates do not reflect what could be deemed best or worst case scenarios Variations in market interest

rates could produce significant changes in the timing of repayments due to prepayment options available For these

and other reasons actual results might differ from those reflected in the table

Sensitivity to Instantaneous Interest Rate Changes basis points

100 50 50 100 200

Fair value of fixed maturity

portfolio 136255 $133469 130 713 128031 $125427 120492

The following table provides information about our fixed maturity investments at December 31 2012

which are sensitive to interest rate risk The table shows expected principal cash flows at par value which differs

from amortized cost as result of premiums or discounts at the time of purchase and OTTI by expected maturity

date for each of the next five fiscal years
and collectively for all fiscal

years
thereafter in thousands Callable

bonds and notes are included based on call date or maturity date depending upon which date produces the most

conservative yield CMOs and sinking fund issues are included based on maturity year adjusted for expected

payment pattems Actual cash flows may differ from those expected

Securities

Securities Securities with No All

with with Unrealized Fixed

Unrealized Unrealized Gains or Maturity

Year Ending December 31 Gains Losses Losses Securities

2013 10405 -- 10410

2014 17982 17982

2015 8309 3700 12009

2016 7534 1025 8559

2017 4360 6575 10935

Thereafter 44895 14895 -- 59790

Total 93485 26195 119685

Fair value 103673 27035 130713

On June 15 2007 our wholly-owned unconsolidated trust entity FAST used the proceeds from its sale of

trust preferred securities to purchase $41.2 million ofjunior subordinated debentures The debentures paid fixed rate

of 9.277% until July 30 2012 after which the rate became variable Three-Month LIBOR plus 375 basis points

resets quarterly The interest rate related to the debentures was 4.197% for the period from August 2012 to October

2012 and 4.063% for the period from November 2012 to January 2013 In February 2013the interest rate reset to

4.052% through April 2013
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Not rated 11986 9% 13148 9%

The mortgage industry has recently experienced significant number of delinquencies and foreclosures

particularly among lower quality exposures sub-prime and Alt-A As result of these delinquencies and

foreclosures many CMOs with underlying sub-prime and Alt-A mortgages as collateral experienced significant

declines in fair value At December 31 2012 our fixed maturity portfolio included three CMOs having sub-prime

exposure with fair value of $0.8 million and no exposure to Alt-A investments

Our investment portfolio included $22.9 million of municipal bonds of which $13.3 million are insured Of
the insured bonds 69% are insured with MBIA 14% with AMBAC and 17% with XL Capital These securities are

paying their principal and periodic interest timely

The following table presents the underlying ratings at December 31 2012 represented by the lower of

either Standard and Poors Fitchs or Moodys ratings of the municipal bond portfolio in thousands

Credit risk is managed by diversifying our investment portfolio to avoid concentrations in any single industry

group or issuer and by limiting investments in securities with lower credit ratings Our largest investment in any one

investment excluding U.S government and agency securities is our investment in single mutual fund with fair

value of $8.3 million or 6% of our investment portfolio Our five largest investments make up 17% of our investment

portfolio..The average credit quality rating for our fixed maturity portfolio was AA- at December 31 2012

The following table presents the underlying ratings of our fixed maturity portfolio by nationally recognized

statistical rating organizations at December 31 2012 in thousands

Comparable Rating

%of %of
Amortized Amortized Fair Fair

Cost Cost Value Value

14073 11% 15023 11%

45057 35% 47736 34%

44181 34% 46659 34%

9689 7% 10650 8%

113000 87% 120068 87%

AAA
AA AA AA-

A-

BBB BBB BBB-

Total investment grade

BBB BB B-

B-

CCC CCC CCC-

CC CC CC-

C-

Total non-investment grade

Total

785

1751

1944
58

810

5356

130342

1%

1%

1%

0%
1%

0%

4%

100%

845

1901

2082

85

903

14

5830

139046

1%

1%
1%

0%
1%

0%

4%

100%

Insured

of

Fair Fair

Uninsured

of

Fair Fair

Value

AAA
AA AA AA-

A-

BBB BBB BBB-

Not rated

Total

Total

of

Fair Fair

7341

4310

1676

$13332

Value

0%
55%

32%
13%

0%

100%

Value Value

1773 18%

3506 37%

4286 45%
-- 0%
-- 0%

9565 100%

Value

1773

10847

8596

1676

22897

Value

8%

47%
38%

7%
0%

100%
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

First Acceptance Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries

the Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive income loss stockholders equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31 2012 the six

months ended December 31 2011 and each of the two years in the period ended June 30 2011 Our audits also

included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 5a2 These financial statements and

schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

consolidated financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31 2012 and 2011 and the

consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months

ended December 31 2011 and each of the two years in the period ended June 30 2011 in conformity with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule referred to

above when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as awhole presents fairly in all material

respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2011 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 26 2013 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

Nashville Tennessee

February26 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

First Acceptance Corporation

We have audited First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries the Company internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The

Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting listed as item 9A Our responsibility is

to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over fmancial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

In our opinion First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of First Acceptance Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012

and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss stockholders

equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and each of

the two years in the period ended June 30 2011 and our report dated February 26 2013 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

/s/ ERNST YOUNG LLP

Nashville Tennessee

February 26 2013
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except per share data

December 31

2012 2011

ASSETS

Investments available-for-sale at fair value amortized cost of $130342

and $162575 respectively 139046 $172825
Cash and cash equivalents 59104 23751
Premiums and fees receivable net of allowance of $306 and $364

respectively 45286 41313
Other assets 6190 6986

Property and equipment net 4656 3315
Deferred acquisition costs 3221 3243
Identifiable intangible assets 4800 4800

TOTAL ASSETS 262303 256233

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 79260 69436
Unearned premiums and fees 55092 50464
Debentures payable 40261 40221
Other liabilities 14897 13383

Total liabilities 189510 173504

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $.0 par value 10000 shares authorized --

Common stock $.01 par value 75000 shares authorized 40962 and

40928 shares issued and outstanding respectively 410 409

Additional paid-in capital 456705 456056
Accumulated other comprehensive income 8704 10250

Accumulated deficit 393026 383986
Total stockholders equity 72793 82729
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY 262303 256233

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONSAND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
in thousands except per share data

Revenues

Premiums earned

Commission and fee income

Investment income

Net realized gains losses on investments

available-for-sale

Costs and expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses

Insurance operating expenses

Other operating expenses

Litigation settlement

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Goodwill and intangible assets impairment

Income loss before income taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss

Net income loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Number of shares used to calculate net income loss per

share

Basic

Diluted

Six Months

Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30
2012 2011 2011 2010

185644 80637 173041 187046

32574 14769 29483 28852

6599 3930 8395 7958

3242 232 185 683
228059 99104 210734 223173

129167 126995

77822 79833

1369 2233

361
998 1048

1605 2013

3930 3931

____________ ____________ 52434 --

_____________ _____________
267316 215692

40861 47707 48171 47961

40861 47707 48171 48418

148223

82127

922

604

2203

3025

237104

Reconciliation of net income loss to comprehensive

income loss
Net income loss

Net unrealized change on investments

Applicable provision for income taxes

Comprehensive income loss

9040 29437
1546 735

10586 28702

10586 28702

56780
872

55908

55908

7040

9181

16221

16221

Detail of net realized gains losses on investments

available-for-sale

Net realized gains losses on sales and redemptions

Other-than-temporary impairment OTTI charges

Non-credit portion included in other comprehensive

income loss

OTTI charges reclassified from other comprehensive

income loss
________________

OTT charges recognized in net income loss

Net realized gains losses on investments available-

for-sale

See notes to consolidated financial statements

65753

38154

494

171

751

1980

21090

128393

9045

9040

29289
148

29437

56582 7481

198 441

56780 7040

022 062 118 015

0.22 0.62 1.18 0.15

12

3265 105 228 300

-- 49 22 1446

23 90 393 491
23 127 413 983

3242 232 185 683

954
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

iwthousands

Additional

Common Stock paid-in

Shares Amount capital

Balances at June30 2009 48312 483 464720

Netincome -- -- --

Net unrealized change on

investments net of tax of $0 --

Issuance of restricted common stock 160

Forfeiture of restricted common stock

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of shares under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan 37
__________ ____________

Balances at June 30 2010 48509

Net income --

Net unrealized change on

investments net of tax of $0 --

Forfeiture of restricted common stock 88

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of shares under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan 32
___________ _____________

Balances at June 30 2011 48458

Net loss --

Net unrealized change on --

investments net of tax of $0

Forfeiture of restricted common stock 22

Stock-based compensation

Purchase of treasury stock at cost

Retirement of
treasury stock at cost .. 7531

Issuance of shares under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan 18
__________ ____________

Balances at December 31 2011 40928

Netloss --

Net unrealized change on --

investments net of tax of $0

Forfeiture of restricted common stock

Stock-based compensation --

Issuance of shares under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan 40
__________ ____________

Balances at December 31 2012 40962
___________ _____________

872 872

-- -- 108

998

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Accumulated

other Total

Treasury comprehensive Accumulated stockholders

____________ ______________
stock income loss deficit equity

-- 538 304809 $159856

-- -- 7040 7040

-- 9181 -- 9181

-- 1048 ..-- -- -- 1048

-- 67 -- -- -- 67

485 465831 -- 8643 297769 177190

-- -- -- -- 56780 56780

107 --

-- 998 -- --

55 -- -- -- 56

485 466777 9515 354549 122228

29 437 29 437

735 735

-- -- --

-- 171 -- -- 171

-- -- 10988 -- -- 10988

75 10913 10988 -- -- --

-- 23 -- -- -- 23

409 456056 -- 10250 383986 82729

-- -- -- -- 9040 9040

-- -- -- 1546 -- 1546

-- -- -- --

-- 604 -- -- -- 604

51 -- -- -- 52

410 456705 -- 8704 393026 72793



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIIMARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH LOWS
in thousands

Six Months

Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30
2012 2011 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss 9040 29437 56780 7040

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to cash used in

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 2203 751 1605 2013

Stock-based compensation 604 171 998 1048

Deferred income taxes 98 --

Goodwill and intangible assets impairment -- 21090 52434 --

Other-than-temporary impairment on investment securities 23 127 413 983

Net realized gains losses on sales and redemptions of

investments 3265 105 228 300
Other 331 134 397 521

Change in

Premiums and fees receivable 3915 824 817 4032

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves 9824 1012 4774 10775
Unearned premiums and fees 4628 308 1791 4787
Litigation settlement -- -- 46 97
Other 2409 149 884 795

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 3804 7326 6169 1117

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of investments available-for-sale 33174 -- 13324 71939
Maturities and redemptions of investments available-for-sale 41969 14315 23260 11326

Sales of investments available-for-sale 26343 -- -- 12362

Capital expenditures 3603 1533 620 1628
Other 22

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 31534 12778 9314 49901

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 52 23 56 67

Purchase of treasury stock -- 10988 -- --

Other 37 41 80 66
Net cash provided by used in financing activities 15 11006 24

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 35353 5554 3121 51017
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 23751 29305 26184 77201

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 59104 23751 29305 26184

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting PolicRs

GeA era

First Acceptance Corporation the Company is holding company based in Nashville Tennessee with

operating subsidiaries whose primary operations include the selling servicing and underwriting of non-standard

personal automobile insurance and related products The Company writes non-standard personal automobile insurance

in 12 states and is licensed as an insurer in 13 additional states The Company issues policies of insurance through

three wholly-owned subsidiaries First Acceptance Insurance Company Inc First Acceptance Insurance Company of

Georgia Inc and First Acceptance Insurance Company of Tennessee Inc collectively the Insurance Companies

Change in Fiscal Year

On November 15 2011 the Companys Board of Directors approved change in the Companys fiscal year

end from June 30 to December 31 effective December 31 2011 Unless otherwise noted all references to years or

fiscal refer to the twelve-month fiscal year which pnor to July 2011 ended on June 30 As result of this

change the consolidated financial statements include the Company financial results for the six month transition

penod of July 2011 to December 31 2011

Costs and expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 148223

Insurance operating expenses 82127

Other operating expenses 922

Stock-based compensation 604

Depreciation and amortization 2203

Interest expense 3025

Goodwill impairment

237104

Loss before income taxes 9045
Provision for income taxes

Net loss 9040
Basic and diluted net loss per share 0.22

The following table presents certain comparative transition period financial information in thousands

except per
share data

Year Ended

December 31

Six Months Ended

December 31

2012

Revenues

Premiums eamed 185644

Commission and fee income 32 574

Investment income 6599

Net realized gains losses on

investments available-for-sale 3242

228059

2011 2011

unaudited

167224

29911

8064

80637

14769

3930

161 232
205038 99104

2010

unaudited

86454

14341

4261

256
104800

65395

36896
678

365

941

1982

106257

1457
241

1698
0.04

129525

79075

1181

804

1415

3928

73524

289452

84414
105

84519

1.76

65753

38154
494

171

751

1980

21090

128393

29289
148

29437

0.62
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Basis of Consolidation and Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its

subsidiaries which are all wholly owned These financial statements have been prepared in confprmitywith U.S

generally accepted accounting principles All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in

consolidation Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years consolidated financial statements to

conform with the current year presentation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting pnnciples

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements

and accompanying notes It also requires disclosure of contingent assets and 1iabilites at the date of the consolidated

financial statements and the reported revenues and expenses during the period Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Investments

Investments available for sale at fair value include bonds with fixed pnncipal payment schedules and

mortgage-backed securities which are amortized using the retrospective method These securities and the investment

in the mutual fund are carried at fair value with the corresponding unrealized appreciation or depreciation net of

deferred income taxes reported in other comprehensive income

Premiums and discounts on collateralized mortgage obligations CMOs are amortized over period

based on estimated future principal payments including prepayments Prepayment assumptions are reviewed

periodically and adjusted to reflect actual prepayments and changes in expectations The most significant

determinants of prepayrnents are the difference between interest rates on the underlying mortgages and the current

mortgage loan rates and the structure of the security Other factors affecting prepayments include the size type and

age of underlying moitgages the geographic location of the mortgaged properties and the credit worthiness of the

borrowers Variations from anticipated prepayments will affect the life and yield of these securities

Investment curities are exposed to various risks such as interest rate market and credit risk Fair values of

secunties fluctuate ba ed on changing market conditions Significant changes in market conditions could materially

affect portfolio value in the near term Management reviews investments for impairment on quarterly basis Fair

values of investments are based on prices quoted in the most active market for each security If quoted prices are not

available fair value is estimated based on the fair value of comparable securities discounted cash flow models or

similarmethods Any decline in the fair value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be

other-than-temporary would result in reduction in the amortized cost of the security

In accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting

Standards Codification ASC 320-10 Investments Debt and Equity Securities FASBASC 320-10 If

management can assert that it does not intend to sell an impaired fixed maturity security and it is more likely than not

that it will not have to sell the security before
recovery

of its amortized cost basis then an entity must separate other-

than-temporary impairments OTTI into the following two components the amount related to credit losses

charged against income and ii the amount related to all other factors recorded in other comprehensive income

The credit-related portion of an OTTI is measured by comparing securitys amortized cost to the present value of its

current expected cash flows discounted at its effective yield prior to the impairment charge If management intends to

sell an impaired security or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery an

impairment charge is required to reduce the amortized cost of that security to fair value As result of the adoption of

this pronouncement the cumulative effect reulted in an adjustment in fiscal year 2009 of $0.6 million to reclassify

the non-credit component of previously recogmzed impairments from accumulated deficit to accumulated other

comprehensive loss

Realized gains and losses on sales and redemptions of securities are computed based on specific identification
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consistof bank demand deposits and highly-liquid investments All investments

with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase are considered cash equivalents

Revenue Recognition

Insurance premiums earned include policy and renewal fees and are recognized on pro-rªta basis over the

respective terms of the policies Written premiums are recorded as of the effective date of the policies for the full

policy premium although most policyholders elect to pay on monthly installment basis Premiums and fees are

generally collected in advance of providing risk coverage minimizing the Companys exposure to credit risk

Premiums receivable are recorded net of an estimated allowance for uncollectible amounts Commission and fee

income includes installment fees recognized when billed and commissions and fees from ancillary products

recognized on pro-rata basis over the respective terms of the contracts

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized

for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using

enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected

to be recovered or settled The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of change in tax rates is recognized in

income in the period that includes the enactment date

valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset is established based upon managements estimate of

whether it is more likely than not that the Company would not realize tax benefits in future periods to the full extent

available Changes in the valuation allowance are recognized in income during the penod in which the

circumstances that cause such change in managements estimate occur

The Company accounts for income tax uncertainties under the provisions of FASB ASC 740 Income Taxes

The Company has recognized no additional liability or reduction in deferred tax assets for unrecognized tax benefits

at December 31 2012 and 2011 Any interest and penalties incurred in connection with income taxes are recorded as

component of the provision for income taxes The Company is generally not subject to federal state or local

income tax examinations by tax authorities for taxable years prior to 2008

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred Advertising expense for the year ended December 31 2012

the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended June30 2011 and 2010 was $5 million $24

million $6.9 million and $8.3 million respectively andare included within insurance operating expenses in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss At December 31 2011

prepaid advertising costs which are included within other assets the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

was $0 million There were no prepaid advertising costs at December 31 2012

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful

lives of the assets generally ranging
from three to seven years using the straight line method Leasehold

improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lives of the respective leases or the service lives of the

improvements Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred Equipment under capitalized lease

óbligationsis statedatthe present value of the minimum lease payments at the beginning of the lease term

49



FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Foreclosed Real Estate Held for Sale

Foreclosed real estate held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell

The Company periodically reviews its portfolio of foreclosed real estate held for sale using current information

including independent appraisals ii general economic factors affecting the area where the property is located

iiirecent sales activity and asking prices for comparable properties and iv costs to sell and/or develop that would

serve to lower the expected proceeds from the disposal of the real estate Gains losses realized on liquidation are

recorded directly to operations and included in revenues Foreclosed real estate held for sale assets of $0.8 million at

December 31 2012 and 2011 are included within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Deferred acquisition costs include premium taxes and other variable underwriting and direct sales costs

incurred in connection with writing business These costs are deferred and amortized over the policy period in which

the related premiums are earned to the extent that such costs are deemed recoverable from future unearned premiums

and anticipated investment income Amortization expense for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months

ended December 31 2011 and the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 was $11.4 million $5.5 million $12.8 million

and $13.8 million respectively and are included within insurance operating expenses in the accompanying

consolidated statemeni of operations and comprehensive income loss

Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are attributable to the Companys insurance operations

and were initially recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition Goodwill and other intangible

assets primarily comprised of trade names having an indefinite useful life are not amortized for financial statement

purposes The Company performs required annual impairment tests of its goodwill and intangible assets as of June

30th of each fiscal year In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the goodwill and other identifiable

intangible assets may be impaired an interim impairment test would be required Intangible assets with finite lives

have been fully amortized over their useful lives

The goodwill impairment test is two-step process that requires management to make judgments in

determining what assumptions to use in the calculation The first step of the process consists of estimating the fair

value of each reporting unit based on valuation techniques including discounted cash flow model using revenue

and profit forecasts and recent industry transaction and trading multiples of the Companys peers and comparing

those estimated fair values with the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit which includes

the allocated goodwill If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value second step is performed to

compute the amount of the impairment if any by determining an implied fair value of goodwill The determination

of the implied fair value of goodwill of reporting unit requires the Company to allocate the estimated fair value of

the reporting unit to the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit Any unallocated fair value represents the implied

fair value of goodwill which is compared to its corresponding carrying value

The Company recorded non cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charges in fiscal years
2009 and 2011 and the

six months ended December 31 2011 of $68.0 million $50.9 million and $21.1 million respectively These charges

were primarily as result of the adverse impact of the difficult economic conditions on the Companys customers and

business and the resulting decline in the Companys share price during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009

unfavorable industry transaction multiples and trading trends during fiscal 2011 and the adverse impact of operating

losses the decline in the Companys common stock trading prices and the negotiated price of separate stock

transactions with former executive officers that represented significant percentage of the Companys shares

outstanding during the second quarter of the six months ended December 31 2011 These goodwill impairment

charges resulted in no remaining goodwill on the Company consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2011 and

did not have materially adverse impact on the continuing operations liquidity or statutory surplus of the Company

Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of acquired trademarks and trade names In measuring

the fair value for these intangible assets the Company utilizes the relief-from-royalty method This method assumes

that trademarks and trade names have value to the extent that their owner is relieved of the obligation to pay

royalties for the benefits received from them This method requires the Company to estimate the future revenue for
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

the related brands the appropriate royalty rate and the weighted average cost of capital As result of decisions

made by management during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2011 regarding entity-wide branding initiatives the

Company recognized anon-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $1.6 million related to trade name intangible assets

This non-cash impairment charge did not have materially adverse impact on the continuing operations liquidity or

statutory surplus of the Company

The Companys evaluation includes multiple assumptions that may change over time If future discounted

cash flows become less than those projected by the Company further identifiable intangible assets impairment

charges may become necessary that could have materially adverse impact on the Companys results of operations

in the period in which the write-off occurs

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are undiscounted and represent case-basis estimates of reported

losses and estimates based on certain actuarial assumptions regarding the past experience of reported losses

including an estimate of losses incurred but not reported Management believes that the loss and loss adjustment

reserves are adequate to cover the ultimate associated liability However such estimates may be more or less than

the amount ultimately paid when the claims are finally settled

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 20 10-26 Accounting for

Costs Associated with Acquiring or Renewing Insurance Contracts consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task

Force Topic 944 which clarifies what costs should be deferred by insurance companies when issuing or renewing

insurance contracts This guidance is effective for fiscal years and intenm penods within those fiscal years

begrnrnng on or after December 15 2011 The Company adopted this standard on prospective basis on January

2012 and in connection therewith recognized additional expense of $04 million over the first six months of 2012
consistent with the Companys insurance policy terms and estimated deferred

acquisition costs amortization penod

In May 2011 the FASB issuedASU No 2011-04 Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value

Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in US GAAP and IFRSs which amends certain measurement and

disclosure requirements related to fair value measurements to improve consistency with international reporting

standards The Company adopted the provisions of this guidance in the quarter ended March 31 2012 The adoption

of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company financial position or results of operations

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU No 2011-05 Presentation of Comprehensive Income which requires

company to present components of net income and other comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in

two separate but consecutive statements There are no changes to the components that are recognized in net income

or other comprehensive income under current GAAP The Company adopted the provisions of this guidance in the

quarter ended March 31 2012 The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Companys financial

position or results of operations other than the presentation thereof

In September 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic 350 which

allows companies to waive comparing the fair value of reporting unit to its carrying amount in assessing the

recoverability of goodwill if based on qualitative factors it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting

unit is greater than its carrying amount The Company adopted the provisions of this guidance in the quarter ended

March 31 2012 The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Companys financial position or

results of operations

In July 2012 the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic 350 which

allows companies to waive comparing the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets to their carrying amounts in

assessing the recoverability of these assets if based on qualitative factors it is more likely than not that the fair

value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets is greater than their carrying amounts The Company early adopted the

provisions of this guidance in the quarter ended June 30 2012 The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact

on the Companys financial position or results of operations
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended

June 30 2011 and 2010 the Company paid $0.2 million $0.1 million $0.3 million and $0.7 million respectively in

income taxes and $3.0 million $2.0 million $3.9 million and $3.9 million respectively in interest

Basic and Diluted Net Income Loss Per Share

Basic net income loss per share is computed by dividing net income loss available to common

shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares while diluted net income loss per share is

computed by dividing net income loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of such

common shares and dilutive share equivalents Dilutive share equivalents result from the assumed exercise of

employee stock options and vesting of restricted common stock and are calculated using the treasury stock method

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date Fair value measurements are generally

based upon observable and unobservable inputs Observable inputs are based on market data from independent

sources while unobservable inputs reflect the Companys view of market assumptions in the absence of observable

market information All assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the

following categories

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices by independent

pn ing services for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and

valuations using models or other valuation techniques that use observable market data All

significant inputs are observable or derived from observable information in the marketplace or are

supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the market place

Level Instruments that use non-binding broker quotes or model driven valuations that do not have

observable market data

The Company categonzes valuation methods used in its goodwill and intangible assets impairment tests as

Level The Company used discounted cash flow model and recent market transactions to estimate the fair value

of the reporting unit as part of its goodwill impairment analysis The Companys discounted cash flow analysis

utilizes comprehensive cash flow projections as well as assumptions based on risks and market data to the extent

available To determine the fair value of acquired trademarks and trade names the Company uses the relief-from-

royalty method which requires the Company to estimate the future revenue for the related brands the appropriate

royalty rate and the weighted average cost of capital

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The canying values and fair values of certain of the Companys financial instruments were as follows in

thousands

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Value Value Value Value

Assets

Investments available-for-sale.. 139046 139046 172825 172825

Liabilities

Debentures payable 40261 12723 40221 14868

The fair values as presented represent the Companys best estimates and may not be substantiated by

comparisons to independent markets The fair value of the debentures payable was based on current market rates
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offered for debt with similar risks and maturities Carrying values of certain financial instruments such as cash and

cash equivalents and premiums and fees receivable approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of the

instruments and are not required to be disclosed Therefore the aggregate of the fair values presented in the

preceding table does not purport to represent the Companys underlying value

The Company holds available-for-sale investments which are carried at fair value The following tables present

the fair-value measurements for each major category of assets that are measured on recurring basis in thousands

December 31 2012

Fixed maturities available-for-sale

U.S government and agencies

State

Political subdivisions

Revenue and assessment

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale.

Total investments available-for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Total

12110

4111

790

17996

71537

11870

5472

5109

1718

130713

8333

139046

59104

198150

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant

Identical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

12110 --

-- 4111 --

-- 790 --

-- 17996 --

-- 71537 --

-- 11870 --

-- 5472 --

-- 5109 --

1718 -- --

13828 116885 --

8333 -- --

22161 116885 --

59104 -- --

81265 116885 --
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December31 2011

Fixed maturities available-for-sale

U.S government and agencies

State

Political subdivisions

Revenue and assessment

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale.

Total investments available-for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Total

25528

6387

781

25432

77297

18133

5429

6125

169

165281

7544

172825

23751

196576

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant

Identical Observable Unobservable

Assets Inputs Inputs

Level Level Level

25528 -- --

-- 6387 --

-- 781 --

-- 25432 --

-- 77297 --

-- 18133 --

-- 5429 --

-- 6125 --

169 -- --

25697 139584 --

7544 -- --

33241 139584 --

23751 -- --

56992 139584 --

The fair values of the Companys investments are determined by management after taking into

consideration available sources of data All of the portfolio valuations classified as Level or Level in the above

tables are priced exclusively by utilizing the services of independent pricing sources using observable market data

The Level classified security valuations are obtained from single independent pricing service There were no

transfers between Level and Level for year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011

and the year ended June 30 2011 The Companys policy is to recognize transfers between levels at the end of the

reporting period The Company has not made any adjustments to the prices obtained from the independent pricing

sources

The Company has reviewed the pricing techniques and methodologies of the independent pricing service

for Level investments and believes that its policies adequately consider market activity either based on specific

transactions for the security valued or based on modeling of securities with similar credit quality duration yield and

structure that were recently traded The Company monitored security-specific valuation trends and has made

inquiries with the pricing service about material changes or the absence of expected changes to understand the

underlying factors and inputs and to validate the reasonableness of the pricing
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Based on the above categorization there were no Level classified security valuations at December 31

2012 and 2011 and June 30 2011 and 2010 nor any transfers into or out of Level during these periods The

following table represents the quantitative disclosure for those assets classified as Level during the year ended

June 30 2010 in thousands

Balance at July 2009

Total gains or losses realized or unrealized

Included in net income loss
Included in other comprehensive

income

Transfers into Level

Transfers out of Level 3a

Balance at June 30 2010

Fair Value Measurements Using

Significant Unobservable Inputs Level
Collateralized mortgage

obligations

Non-agency

backed

______________ _________________
commercial

______________

707

Non-agency

backed

residential

1930

2351 949 3300
-- -- --

Transferred from Level to Level as observable market data became available during the period presented

due to the increase in market activity for these securities

Investments

Investments Available-for-Sale

The following tables summarize the Companys investment securities in thousands

December 31 2012

U.S government and agencies

State

Political subdivisions

Revenue and assessment

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale

Amortized

Cost

11202

3994
753

16449

68114

11079

5098

4652

1500

122841

7501

$130342

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

908

117

37

1553

3669

791

472

457

218

8222
832

9054

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

246

98

350

350

Fair

Value

12110

4111
790

17996

71537

11870

5472

5109

1718

130713

8333

$139046

Corporate

bonds

--

Total

2637

663421 242
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Amortized

December 31 2011 Cost

U.S govemmentand agencies 24178

State 6099
Political subdivisions.

Revenue and assessment

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale

16953

5530

5862
176

155074

7501

162575

Securities

with

Unrealized

Gains

9380

34460

25230

10770

December 31 2012
_____________

One year or less

After one through five years

After five through ten years

After ten years

No single maturity date 23833

103673

Securities

with

Unrealized

December 31 2011 Gains

One year or less 15801

After one through five years 61511

After five through ten years 42997

After ten years 7860
No single maturity date 26623

154792

Fair

Value

25528

6387
781

25432

77297

-- 18133

167 5429

12 6125
-- 169

10601 394 165281

43 -- 7544

10644 394 $172825

Securities

with

Unrealized

Losses

11518

15181

336

27035

Securities

with

Unrealized

Losses

2506

689

3106

2168

8469

with No

Unrealized

Gains or

Losses

SecOrities

with No

Unrealized

Gains or

Losses

955

1065

2020

All

Fixed

Maturity

Securities

9385

45978

40411

10770

24169

$130713

All

Fixed

Maturity

Securities

19262

61511

43686

10966

29856

$165281

754

24130

71392

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

208

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

1350
288

27

1302

6113

1180
66

275

The following tables set forth the scheduled maturities of the Companys fixed maturity securities based on

their fair values in thousands Actual matunties may differ from contractual matunties because certain securities

may be called or prepaid by the issuers

Securities
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Gross

Fair Unrealized

Value Losses

--
--

12 months or longer

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

--

Total Gross

Unrealized

Losses

--

246

Less than 12 months

Gross

Fair Unrealized

December 31 2011 Value

U.S government and agencies --

State --

Political subdivisions --

Revenue and assessment --

Corporate bonds 4451
Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed --

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale

Gross Unrealized Losses

Less than Greater

or equal to than 12

At 12 months months

December31 2012 13

December3l2011

12 months or longer

Gross Total Gross

Fair Unrealized Unrealized

Value Losses Losses

-- -- --

2951 202 394

Gross

Unrealized

Gains

108

139

The fair value and gross unrealized losses of investments available-for-sale by the length of time that

individual securities have been in continuous unrealized loss position follows in thousands

Less than 12 months

Fair

Value

--

December 31 2012

U.S government and agencies

State

Political subdivisions

Revenue and assessment

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Agency backed

Non-agency backed residential

Non-agency backed commercial

Redeemable preferred stock

Total fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale

246

702

25997

124 20 212 78 98

26823 272 212 78 350

26823 272 212 78 350

Losses

--

174 1849 34 208

898 11

169

5518 192

5518 192

614 156 167
488 12 12

-- --

2951 202 394

The following table reflects the number of fixed matunty securities with gross unrealized gains and losses

Gross unrealized losses are further segregated by the length of time that individual securities have been in

continuous unrealized loss position
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thousands

Gross Unrealized Losses

at December 31 2012

Less than or equal to 10%

Greater than 10%

Gross Unrealized Losses

at December 31 2011

Less than or equal to 10%

Greater than 10%

Gross

Fair Unrealized

Value Losses

--

212 78
212 78

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

92
_________ 110

___________ __________
202

Length of

Gross Unrealized Losses

at December 31 2012

Less than or equal to

Three months

Six months

Nine months

Twelve months

Greater than twelve months

Total

Length of

Gross Unrealized Losses

at December 31 2011

Less than or equal to

Three months

Six months

Nine months

Twelve months

Greater than twelve months

Total

Fair Value of

Securities with

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

26121 266 246

Fair Value of

Securities with

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

Severity of Gross Unrealized Losses

Greater

Less 5% to than

than 5% 10% 10%

-- --

174
11 --

--

45 47
63 221

FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
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The following tables reflect the fair value and gross unrealized losses of those fixed maturity securities in

continuous unrealized loss position for greater than 12 months Gross unrealized losses are further segregated by the

percentage of amortized cost in thousands except number of securities

Number

of

Securities

Fair

Value

2760

Number

of

_________________________________
Securities

____________ ______________

191
____________

2951 ___________

The following tables set forth the amount of gross unrealized losses by current seventy as compared to

amortized cost and length of time that individual securities have been in continuous unrealized loss position in

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

Severity of Gross Unrealized Losses

Greater

Less 5% to than

than 5% 10% 10%

702

212

27035

-- 20

252 --

78
98

78
350

Gross

Unrealized

Losses

174
11

202
394

2506

1945
898

169

2951

8469

110
110
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Restrictions

At December 31 2012 fixed maturities and cash equivalents with fair value and amortized cost of $5.9

million were on deposit with various insurance departments as requirement of doing business in those states Fixed

maturities and cash equivalents with fair value and amortized cost of $9.4 million were on deposit with another

insurance company as collateral for an assumed reinsurance contract

Investment Income and NetRealized Gains and Losses

The major categories of investment income follow in thousands

Six Months

The components of net realized gains losses on investments available-for-sale at fair value follow in

thousands

Six Months

December 31 Year Ended June 30

_______________
2011 2011 2010

15 231 326

120 26
127 413 983

______________ 232 185 683

Realized gains and losses on sales and redemptions are computed based on specific identification The non-

credit related portion of OTTI is included in other comprehensive income loss The amounts of non-credit OTTI

for securities still owned was $1.0 million for non-agency backed residential CMOs and $0.2 million for non-agency

backed commercial CMOs at both December 31 2012 and 2011 and $1.1 million for non-agency backed residential

CMOs and $0.2 million for non-agency backed commercial CMOs at June 30 2011

Other-Than-Temporaiy Impairment

In accordance with FASB ASC 320-10 the Company separates OTTI into the following two components

the amount related to credit losses which is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and

comprehensive income loss and ii the amount related to all other factors which is recorded in other

comprehensive income loss The credit-related portion of an OTTI is measured by comparing securitys

amortized cost to the present value of its current expected cash flows discounted at its effective yield prior to the

impairment charge

The determination of whether unrealized losses are other-than-temporary requires judgment based on

subjective as well as objective factors The Company routinely monitors its investment portfolio for changes in fair

value that might indicate potential impairments and performs detailed reviews on such securities Changes in fair

value are evaluated to determine the extent to which such changes are attributable to fundamental factors specific

to the issuer or ii market-related factors such as interest rates or sector declines

Fixed maturities available-for-sale

Investment in mutual fund available-for-sale

Other

Investment expenses

Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30
2012 2011 2011 2010

6513 3897 8296 8467

613 290 625

92 59 125 147

619 316 651 656
6599 3930 8395 7958

Year Ended

December 31
2012

Gains 3296

Losses 31
Other-than-temporary impairment 23

3242

Ended

59



Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2011

Corporate bonds

Collateralized mortgage obligations

Non-agency backed residential 127
Non-agency backed commercial 15 12

_________ _________
23 139 10

Portion of loss recognized in accumulated

other comprehensive income loss...
_________ __________ _________

Net OTTI recognized in net income loss
__________ __________ __________

The following is progression of the credit-related portion of OTTI on investments owned at December 31
2012 and 2011 and June 30 2011 in thousands

Year Ended

December 31
2012

_______________ _______________

Beginning balance 3425
Additional credit impairments on

Previously impaired securities 23
Securities without previous impairments --

On quarterly basis the Company reviews cash flow estimates for certain non-agency backed CMOs of

lesser credit quality following the guidance of FASB ASC 325-40 Investments Other Benefits Interests in

Securitized Financial Assets FASBASC 325-40 Accordingly when changes in estimated cash flows occur due

to actual or estimated prepayment or credit loss experience and the present value of the revised cash flOws is less

than the present value previously estimated OTTI is deemed to have occurred For non-agency backed CMOs not

subject to FASB ASC 325-40 the Company reviewsquarterly projected cash flow analyses and recognizes OTTI

when it determines that loss is probable The Company has recognized OTTI related to certain non-agency backed

CMOs as the underlying cash flows have been adversely impacted due to reduction in prepayments from mortgage

refinancing and an increase in actual and projected delinquencies in the underlying mortgages

FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSHIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS cOntinued

Securities with declines attributable to issuer-specific fundamentals are reviewed to identify all available

evidence to estimate the potential for impairment Resources used include historical financial data included in filings

with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission SEC for corporate bonds and perforniance data

regarding the underlying loans for CMOs Securities with declines attributable solely to market or sector declines where

the Company does not intend to sell the security and it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to

sell the security before the full recovery of its amortized cost basis are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired

The issuer-specific factors considered in reaching the conclusion that securities with declines are not other-

than-temporary include the extent and duration of the decline in fair value including the duration of any

significant decline in value ii whether the security is current as to payments of principal and interest iii

valuation of any underlying collateral iv current and future conditions and trends for both the business and its

industry changes in cash flow assumptions for CMOs and vi rating agency actions Based on these factors the

Company makes determination as to the probability of recovering principal and interest on the security

The number and amount of securities for which the Company has recognized OTTI charges in net income

loss are presented in the following tables in thousands except for the number of securities.

Year Ended June 30

Number

of

Securities OTT
-- --

Number Number

2010

of of of

Securities OTT Securities OTT Securities OTT
-- -- -- -- -- --

Number

-- 12

23 127

119
296
415

413

10 1723
214

15 1937

954

983

Six Months

Ended

December 31
2011

3343

127

23
Reductions for securities sold realized 782

2666

Year Ended

June 30
2011

3301

413

127 413
45 371

3425 3343
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The Companys review of non-agency backed CMOs included an analysis of available information such as

collateral quality anticipated cash flows credit enhancements default rates loss seventies the securities relative

position in their respective capital structures and credit ratings from statistical rating agencies The Company

reviews quarterly projected cash flow analyses for each security utilizing current assumptions regarding actual

and anticipated delinquencies ii delinquency transition to-default rates and iii loss seventies Based on its

quarterly reviews the Company determined that there had not been an adverse change in projected cash flows

except in the case of those securities for which OTTI charges have been recorded The Company believes that the

unrealized losses on the remaining non-agency backed securities for which OTTI charges have not been recorded

are not necessarily predictive of the ultimate performance of the underlying collateral The Company does not intend

to sell these securities and it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell these securities

before the
recovery

of their amortized cost basis

The Company believes that the remaining securities having unrealized losses at December 31 2012 were not

other-than-temporarily impaired The Company also does not intend to sell any of these securities and it is more likely than

not that the Company will not be required to sell any of these securities before the recovery of their amortized cost basis

Reinsurance

Total premiums written and earned are summarized as follows in thousands

Year Ended Six Months Ended

December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30
2012 2011 2011 2010

Written Earned Written Earned Written Earned Written Earned

Direct $168990 $164715 $71325 $71503 $152356 $153368 $162150 $167744

Assumed 21 517 21121 9245 9222 19435 19844 19858 19302

Ceded 192 192 88 88 171 171 -- --

Total $190315 185 644 80482 80 637 171 620 $173 041 182 008 187 046

Assumed business represents private-passenger non-standard automobile insurance premiums in Texas

written through program with county mutual insurance company and assumed by the Company through 100%

quota-share reinsurance The percentages of premiums assumed to net premiums written for the year ended

December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 were

11% 12% 11% and 11% respectively

Effective August 2010 the Insurance Companies began utilizing excess-Of-loss reinsurance with an

unaffihated reinsurer to limit their exposure to losses under liability coverages for policies issued with limits greater

than the minimum statutory requirements Although the reinsurance agreements contractually obligate the reinsurer to

reimburse the Company for their share of losses they do not discharge the primary liability of the Company which

remains contingently liable in the event the reinsurer is unable to meet their contractual obligations

At December 31 2012 the Insurance Companies had unsecured aggregate reinsurance receivables of $0.3

million During the year ended December 31 2012 ceded premiums earned and reinsurance recovered on losses and

loss adjustment expenses LAE were both $0.2 million respectively

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Employee Stock-Based Incentive Plan

The Company has issued stock options Stock Option Awards and restricted common stock Restricted

Stock Awards to employees and directors under its Amended and Restated First Acceptance Corporation 2002

Long Term Incentive Plan the Plan and accounts for such issuances in accordance with FASB ASC 718

Compensation Stock Compensation At December 31 2012 there were 5768644 shares remaining available for

issuance under the Plan Stock Option Awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to or greater than

the market price of the Companys stock at the date of grant Stock Option Awards expire over five or ten years

from the date of grant and vest in designated installments over four or five years through January 2016 while the
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Restricted Stock Awards vest in designated installments through November 2014 Certain awards provide for

accelerated vesting if there is change in control as defined in the Plan

On November 17 2009 the Companys stockholders approved value-for-value option exchange whereby

certain outstanding stock options were exchanged for shares .of restricted common stock the Exchange As

approved by the Companys stockholders restricted common stock issued in the Exchange vests in equal annual

installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of the grant of the restricted stock and no participant in

the Exchange was permitted to receive restricted stock having an aggregate value greater than $150000

On November 18 2009 consistent with the terms of the Exchange the Company entered into an Option

Cancellation and Restricted Stock Award Agreement the Agreement with certain employees to surrender and

have the Company cancel certain outstanding Stock Option Awards held by the employees in exchange for shares

of restricted common stock having value equal to or less than the surrendered Stock Option Awards The

Exchange included 605000 shares of the Companys common stock underlying Stock Option Awards that were

surrendered and cancelled in exchange for 160577 shares of restricted common stock

On January 31 2012 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company awarded two

executive officers Stock Option Awards to purchase 750000 and 75000 shares of the Companys common stock at

an exercise price of $1.45 per share and vest 40% and 20% respectively upon grant with the remainder vesting in

equal installments over three and four years respectively Additionally these Stock Option Awards expire on

January 31 2017 Compensation expense related to these Stock Option Awards was $0.5 million of which $0.3

million was amortized through December 2012 and the remaining $0.2 million will be amortized through January

2016 The fair value of these Stock Option Awards was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model with an expected volatility of 73% risk-free interest rate of 0.71% dividend yield rate of zero and

five-year expected term Based on the calculation using the Black-Scholes option pricing model the grant date fair

value of options granted was $0.63 per
share Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility in the price of

the Companys common stock since April 2004 The risk-free interest rate is the five-year Treasury rate based on

the term of the options The dividend yield assumption is based on our history and expectation of dividend payments

on common stock The expected term represents
the period of time that these Stock Option Awards are expected to

remain outstanding

Compensation expense related to Stock Option Awards is calculated under the fair value method and is recorded

on straight-line basis over the vesting period There were no Stock Option Awards granted during the six months ended

December 31 2011 and the
years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 At December 31 2012 the weighted average remaining

contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable/vested is approximately 4.5 years and 4.7 years respectively

summary of the activity for the Companys Stock Option Awards is presented below in thousands

except per share data

Weighted

Average Aggregate

Exercise Exercise Intrinsic

Options Price Price Value

Options outstanding at June 30 2009 5308 $3.00-$1 1.81 4.04

Exchanged and Cancelled 605 $6.64-$ll.81 $10.69

Forfeited 142 $3.10-$11.81 6.91

Options outstanding at June 30 2010 4561 $3.00-$8.13 3.06

Forfeited 61 $3.04 3.04

Options outstanding at June 30 2011 and

December 31 2011 4500 $3.00-$8.13 3.06

Granted 825 $1.45 1.45

Forfeited 3730 $3.00-$3.04 3.00

Options outstanding at December 31 2012 1595 $3.00-$8.13 2.38 --

Options exercisable/vested at December 31 2012 1004 2.79 --
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summary of the activity for the Companys Restricted Stock Awards is presented below in thousands

except per share data

Weighted

Restricted Average

Stock Grant Date

Awards Fair Value

Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at June 30 2009 625 2.87

Granted 160 1.97

Vested 309 3.01

Forfeited 2.50

Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at June 30 2010 472 2.48

Vested 307 2.60

Forfeited 29 2.51

Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at June 30 2011 136 2.21

Vested 21 2.13

Forfeited 20 2.20

Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at December 31 2011 95 2.23

Vested 33 2.36

Forfeited 2.50

Restricted Stock Awards outstanding at December 31 2012 61 2.15

In the table above the number of shares vested includes 66867 shares surrendered by the employees to the

Company for payment of minimum tax withholding obligations Shares of stock withheld for purposes of satisfing

minimum tax withholding obligations are again available for issuance under the Plan

There were no Restncted Stock Awards granted dunng the year ended December 31 2012 the six months

ended December 31 2011 and the year ended June 30 2011 The aggregate fair values of Restricted Stock Awards

vested dunng the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended

June 30 2011 and 2010 were $0 million $44 thousand $0 million and $0 million respectively at the date of

vesting Expected future compensation expense related to the issuance of Restricted Stock Awards is $0.2 million

which will be amortized through November 2014

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Companys Board of Directors adopted the First Acceptance Corporation Employee Stock Purchase

Plan ESPP whereby eligible employees may purchase shares of the Company common stock at pnce equal to

the lower of the closing market price on the first or last trading day of six-month period ESPP participants can

authorize payroll deductions administered through an independent plan custodian of up to 15% of their salary to

purchase semi-annually June 30 and December 31 up to $25000 of the Companys common stock during each

calendar year The Company has reserved 400000 shares of common stock for issuance under the ESPP Employees

purchased approximately 40 000 18 000 32 000 and 37 000 shares during the year ended December 31 2012 the

six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 respectively Compensation

expense attributable to subscriptions to purchase shares under the ESPP was $11000 $2000 $8000 and $16000

for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the
years ended June 30 2011

and 2010 respectively At December 31 2012 153200 shares remain available for issuance under the ESPP
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Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors defined contribution retirement plan 401k Plan under Section 40 1k of the

Internal Revenue Code The 401k Plan covers substantially all employees who meet specified service requirements

Under the 401k Plan the Company may at its discretion match 100% of the first 3% of an employees salary plus

50% of the next 2% up to the maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Code The Companys contributions to the

401k Plan for the
year

ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended

June 30 2011 and 2010 were $0.6 million $0.3 million $0.6 million and $0.5 million respectively and are

included within insurance operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive income loss

Property and Equipment

The components of property and equipment are as follows in thousands

December 31

Furniture and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Capitalized leases

Aircraft

Less Accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment net

2012

9008

4880

238

190

143 16

9660
4656

2011

9275

3138

826

190

13429

10114
3315

Depreciation and amortization
expense related to property and equipment was $2.2 million $0.8 million

$1.6 million and $2.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and

the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 respectively Included within the furniture and equipment and leasehold

improvements categories at December 31 2012 above are capitalized assets totaling $0.1 million not yet in service

These assets are related to the Companys strategic investments in its retail stores

Lease Commitments

The Company is committed under various operating lease agreements for office space Certain lease

agreements contain renewal options and rent escalation clauses Rental expense for the
year

ended December 31
2012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 was $9.5 million $4.8

million $9.9 million and $10.9 million respectively and are included within insurance operating expenses in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss Future minimum lease

payments under these agreements follow in thousands

Year Ending December 31
2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter

Total

Amount

7236

4854

3126

1021

333

698

17268
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Six Months

Ended

December 31
2011

Liability for unpaid losses and LAE at

beginning of period gross 69436 68424 73198
Reinsurance balances receivable 187 133 46 __________

Liability for unpaid losses and LAE at

beginning ofperiod net 69249 68291 73152 83895

Add Provision for losses and LAE
Current period 144207 60162
Prior periods 4016 5591 _________ ________

Net losses and LAE incurred 148223 65753 ___________ ___________

Less Losses and LAE paid

Current period 89157 32022 84736 7097
Prior periods 49315 32773 49292 50641

Net losses and LAE paid 138472 64795 134028 137738

Liability for unpaid losses and LAE at end

of period net 79000 69249 68291 73152

Reinsurance balances receivable 260 187 133 46

Liability for unpaid losses and LAE at end

of period gross 79260 69436 68424 73198

The unfavorable change in the estimate of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses of $4.0 million for

the year ended December 31 2012 was primarily related to the strengthening of loss and loss adjustment expense

reserves Loss development was primarily related to higher than expected severity with Florida personal injury

protection claims and with Georgia bodily injury claims in older accident periods Loss adjustment expense

development was primarily related to higher than expected legal expenses for bodily injury claims for accident years

2010 and prior The unfavorable change in the estimate of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses of $5.6

million for the six months ended December 31 2011 was primarily related to the strengthening of loss adjustment

expense reserves for prior accident periods and included amounts related to the settlement of claims for extra-

contractual damages see Note 16 The favorable change in the estimate of unpaid losses and loss adjustment

expenses of $1.7 million for the year ended June 30 2011 was due to lower than anticipated severity of accidents

occurring during the fiscal 2009 and 2010 accident years specifically in bodily injury coverage
in Texas Tennessee

and South Carolina and physical damage coverages in Georgia partially offset by higher loss adjustment expenses

specific to bodily injury and Florida no-fault coverages The favorable change in the estimate of unpaid losses and

loss adjustment expenses of $11.2 million for the year ended June 30 2010 was due to lower than anticipated

severity of accidents occurring during the fiscal 2007 and 2008 accident years primarily in bodily injury coverage in

Georgia and South Carolina an improvement in the Companys claim handling practices and shift in business mix

toward renewal policies which have lower loss ratios than new policies

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses Incurred and Paid

Information regarding the reserve for unpaid losses and LAE is as follows in thousands

Year Ended

December 31
2012

Year Ended June 30
2011 2010

83973

78

130888

1721
129167

138218

11223
126995
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10 Debentures Payable

In June 2007 First Acceptance Statutory Trust FAST wholly-owned unconsolidated subsidiary

trust of the Company issued 40000 shares of preferred securities at $1000 per share to outside investors and 1240

shares of common securities to the CompÆæy also at $1000 per share FAST used the proceeds from the sale of the

preferred securities to purchase $41.2 million ofjunior subordinated debentures from the Company The sole assets of

FAST are $41.2 million ofjunior subordinated debentures issued by the Company The debentures will mature on

July 30 2037 and are redeemable by the Company in whole or in part beginning on July 30 2012 at which time the

preferred securities are callable The debentures paid fixed rate of 9.277% until July 30 2012 after which the rate

became variable Three-Month LIBOR plus 375 basis points resets quarterly The interest rate related to the

debentures was 4.197% for the period from August 2012 to October 2012 and 4.063% for the period from November

2012 to January 2013 In February 2013 the interest rate reset to 4.052% through April 2013

The obligations of the Company under the junior subordinated debentures represent full and unconditional

guarantees by the Company of FAST Is obligations for the preferred securities Dividends on the preferred

securities are cumulative payable quarterly in arrears and are deferrable at the Companys option for up to five

years The dividends on these securities which have not been deferred are the same as the interest on the

debentures The Company cannot pay dividends on its common stock during such deferments

The debentures are classified as debentures payable in the Companys consolidated balance sheets and the

interest paid on these debentures is classified as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive income loss During 2012 the Company revised its accounting for certain of the issuance costs from

the original 2007 debt transaction from deferred financing costs included within other assets to debt discount

reduction of debentures payable Accordingly unamortized issuance costs of $1.0 million at December 31 2011

have been reclassified to conform to the 2012 presentation At December 31 2012 the unamortized debt discount of

$1.0 million is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the debentures

11 Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following in thousands

Year Ended June 30

_____________ _____________
2011 2010

Six Months

Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Federal

Current -- -- --

Deferred -- -- --

State

Current 146 296 441

Deferred 98 --

148 198 441

148 198 441
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Year Ended

December31

2012

Provision benefit for income taxes at

statutory rate 3166
Tax effect of

Tax-exempt investment income 18
Change in the beginning of the period

balance of the valuation allowance for

deferred tax assets allocated to federal

income taxes 580

Net operating loss carryforward

expirations
--

Goodwill and identifiable intangible

assets -- 5545

Stock-based compensation 2552 30

State income taxes net of federal income

tax benefit and valuation allowance 1.48

Other

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards

Stock option compensation

Unearned premiums and loss and loss adjustment

expense reserves

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets 7341

Alternative minimum tax AMT credit carryforwards 1612

Accrued expenses and other nondeductible items 495

Other 3456

32679

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred acquisition costs

Identifiable intangible assets

Net unrealized change on investments ___________

8924

4334

4700

8412

1612
752

3304

32038

The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal

corporate tax rate of 35% to income loss before income taxes as result of the following in thousands

Six Months

Ended

December 31
2011

10251

4670

Year Ended June 30
2011 2010

$19804 2618

15 16

735 2483

14084 --

248 240

441

___________ 47

___ $_441

4761 5278

51

198

______________ _______________

_____________ _____________
198

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the net deferred tax assets and liabilities are

presented below in thousands

148

December 31
2012 2011

13091

1704

4980

1127
1872
3046
6045

1135
1872
3588
6595

Total net deferred tax asset 26634 25443

Less Valuation allowance 28413 27220
Net deferred tax liability 1779 1777

The Company had valuation allowance of $28.4 million and $27.2 million at December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized The change

in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 31 2012 was an increase of $1.2 million For the year

ended December31 2012 the change in the valuation allowance included increases of $0.5 million related to the

unrealized change on investments included in other comprehensive income loss
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In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets management considered whether it was more likely than

not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The Company is required to assess

whether valuation allowance should be established against the Companys net deferred tax assets based on the

consideration of all available evidence using more likely than not standard In making such judgments significant

weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified In assessing the Companys ability to support the

realizability of its deferred tax assets management considered both positive and negative evidence The Company

placed greater weight on historical results than on the Companys outlook for future profitability and established

deferred tax valuation allowance at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively The deferred tax valuation

allowance may be adjusted in future periods if management determines that it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized In the event the deferred tax valuation allowance is adjusted

the Company would record an income tax benefit for the adjustment

The change in the total valuation allowance for the six months ended December 31 2011 was an increase

of $5.1 million For the six months ended December 31 2011 the change in the valuation allowance included

reductions of $0.3 million related to the unrealized change on investments included in other comprehensive income

loss and increases of $0.7 million related to deferred state income taxes The change in the total valuation

allowance for the year ended June 30 2011 was an increase of $5.2 million For the year ended June 30 2011 the

change in the valuation allowance included reductions of $0.3 million related to the unrealized change on

investments included in other comprehensive income loss and increases of $0.8 million related to deferred state

income taxes The change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended June 30 2010 was decrease of $8.0

million For the
year

ended June 30 2010 the change in the valuation allowance primarily included the unrealized

change on investments of $3.2 million included in other comprehensive income

At December 31 2012 the Company had gross state NOL carryforwards of $47.5 million that begin to

expire in 2020 and AMT credit carryforwards of $1.6 million that have no expiration date At December 31 2012
the Company had gross NOL carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $37.4 million which are available to

offset future federal taxable income On tax-affected basis all remaining federal and substantially all state NOL
carryforwards at December 31 2012 have been fully reserved for through valuation allowance The gross federal

NOL carryforwards of $37.4 million will expire in 2022 through 2032

12 Net Income Loss Per Share

FASB ASC 260 Earnings Per Share specifies the computation presentation and disclosure requirements

for eamings per share EPS Basic EPS are computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding

Diluted EPS are computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding adjusted for the incremental

shares attributed to outstanding securities with right to purchase or convert into common stock

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income loss per share in thousands

except per share data

Six Months

Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31 Year Ended June 30
2012 2011 2011 2010

Net income loss 9040 29437 56780 7040

Weighted average common basic shares 40861 47707 48171 47961
Effect of dilutive securities -- -- -- 457

Weighted average common dilutive shares.. 40861 47707 48171 48418
Basic net income loss per share 0.22 0.62 1.18 0.15

Diluted net income loss per share 0.22 0.62 1.18 0.15

For each of the year ended December 312012 the six months ended December 31 2011 and the year ended

June 30 2011 the computation of diluted net loss per share did not include 0.1 million shares of unvested restricted

common stock as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive For the year ended June 30 2010 the computation of

diluted net income per share included 0.5 million shares of unvested restricted common stock Options to purchase 1.6

million 4.5 million 4.5 million and 4.6 million shares for the year ended December 31 2012 the six months ended
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December 31 2011 and the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 respectively were not included in the computation of

diluted net income loss per share as their exercise prices were in excess of the average stock prices for the periods

presented

13 Concentrations of Credit Risk

At December 31 2012 the Company had certain concentrationsof credit risk with several financial

institutions in the form of cash and cash equivalents which amounted to $59.1 million For
purposes

of evaluating

credit risk the stability of financial institutions conducting business with the Company and the amount of available

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance is periodically reviewed If the financial institutions failed to

completely perform under terms of the financial instruments the exposure for credit loss would be the amount of the

financial instruments less amounts covered by regulatory insurance

The Company primarily transacts business either directly with its policyholders or through independently

owned insurance agencies in Tennessee who exclusively write non-standardpersonal automobile insurance policies

on behalf of the Company Direct policyholders make payments directly to the Company Balances due from

policyholders are generally secured by the related unearned premium The Company requires down payment at the

time the policy is originated and subsequent scheduled payments are monitored in order to prevent the Company

from providing coverage beyond the date for which payment has been received If subsequent payments are not

made timely the policy is generally canceled at no loss to the Company Policyholders whose premiums are written

through the independent agencies make their payments to these agencies that in turn remit these payments to the

Company Balances due to the Company resulting from premium payments made to these agencies are unsecured

14 Related Party Transactions

Certain of the Companys executives are covered by employment agreements covering among other items

base compensation incentive-bonus determinations and payments in the event of termination or change in control

of the Company

During the six months ended December 31 2011 the Company repurchased an aggregate of 481205

shares from two former executive officers of the Company in separately negotiated transactions for an aggregate

price of $0.8 million All repurchased shares were subsequently retired

On December 23 2011 the Company and Stephen Harrison entered into Mutual Separation and Release

Agreement Separation Agreement that included the resignation of Stephen Harrison from all positions with the

Company including as member of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company In

connection with the Separation Agreement on December 23 2011 the Company repurchased 7049515 shares of

Company common stock beneficially owned by Mr Harrison for an aggregate price of $10.2 million or $1.45 per

share All repurchased shares were subsequently retired

15 Severance

During the years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 the Company incurred charges of $1.7 million and $0.2

million respectively for severance for former employees of the Company The fiscal year 2011 charge was

comprised of $1.3 million in accrued severance and benefits and $0.4 million in non-cash charges related to the

vesting of certain unvested stock options and restricted common stock Severance and benefits charges are included

in insurance operating expenses and the non-cash charges related to the vesting of stock options and restricted

common stock are included within stock-based compensation expense
in the consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive income loss The insurance operations segment includes the accrued severance and benefits

charges and the real estate and corporate segment includes the accelerated vesting charges

16 Litigation

The Company is named as defendant in various lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business

generally relating to its insurance operations All legal actions relating to claims made under insurance policies are

considered by the Company in establishing its loss and loss adjustment expense reserves The Company also faces
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lawsuits from time to time that seek damages beyond policy limits commonly known as bad faith claims as well as

class action and individual lawsuits that involve issues arising in the course of the Companys business The

Company continually evaluates potential liabilities and reserves for litigation of these types using the criteria

established by FASB .ASC 450 Contingencies FASBASC 450 Pursuant to FASB ASC 450 reserves for loss

may only be recognized if the likelihood of occurrence is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated If

loss while not probable is judged to be reasonably possible management will disclose if it can be estimated

possible range of loss or state that an estimate cannot be made Management evaluates each legal action and records

reserves for losses as warranted by establishing reserve in its consolidated balance sheets in loss and loss

adjustment expense reserves for bad faith claims and in other liabilities for other lawsuits Amounts incurred are

recorded in the Companys consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income loss in losses and

loss adjustment expenses for bad faith claims and in insurance operating expenses for other lawsuits unless

otherwise disclosed

In the interest ofjudicial economy in March 2012 we settled lawsuit against our insured in which the

plaintiffs sought extra-contractual damages against one of our insurance company subsidiaries We have not accrued

any amount at December 31 2012 for possible recoveries that may offset the costs and expenses relating to the

litigation settlement Any such recoveries will be recorded in our operating results during the periods in which the

recoveries are probable

17 Segment Information

The Company operates in two business segments with its primary focus being the selling servicing and

underwriting of non-standard personal automobile insurance The real estate and corporate segment consists of the

activities related to the disposition of foreclosed real estate held for sale interest expense associated with all debt

and other general corporate overhead expenses

The following table presents selected financial data by business segment in thousands

Year Ended

December 31
___________________________

2012
_______________ ____________ ____________

Revenues

Insurance 227966 99039 210618 223054

Real estate and corporate 93 65 116 119

Consolidatedtotal 228059 99104 210734 223173

Income loss before income taxes

Insurance 4588
Real estate and corporate 4457

_______________ ____________ ____________

Consolidated total 9045
_______________ ____________ ____________

December 31

2012 2011

Total assets

Insurance 256670 240796

Real estate and corporate 5633 15437

Consolidated total 262303 256233

Six Months

Ended

December 31
2011

Year Ended June 30
2011 2010

26711
2578

29289

50407 14568

6175 7087
56582 7481
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18 Statutory Financial Information and Accounting Policies

The statutory-basis financial statements of the Insurance Companies are prepared in accordance with accounting

practices prescribed or permitted by the Department of Insurance in each respective state of domicile Each state of

domicile requires that insurance companies domiciled in the state prepare their statutory-basis financial statements in

accordance with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual

subject to any deviations prescribed or permitted by the insurance commissioner in each state of domicile The Insurance

Companies are required to report their risk-based capital RBC each December 31 Failure to maintain an adequate

RBC could subject the Insurance Companies to regulatory action and could restrict the payment of dividends At

December 31 2012 the RBC levels of the Insurance Companies did not subject them to any regulatory action

At December 31 2012 and 2011 on an unaudited consolidated statutory basis the capital and surplus of the

Insurance Companies was $89.6 million and $93.9 million respectively For the fiscal year ended December 31 2012

the six months ended December 31 2011 and the fiscal years ended June 30 2011 and 2010 unaudited consolidated

statutory net income loss of the Insurance Companies was $12.7 million $9.0 million $5.9 million and $5.2

million respectively

The maximum amount of dividends which can be paid by First Acceptance Insurance Company Inc FAIC
to the Company without the prior approval of the Texas insurance commissioner is limited to the greater of 10% of

statutory capital and surplus at December 1st of the next preceding year or net income forthe year In addition

dividends may only be paid from earned surplus and an insurance companys remaining surplus must be both reasonable

in relation to its outstanding liabilities and adequate to its financial needs At December 31 2012 FAIC could not pay

ordinary dividends to the Company without prior regulatory approval due to negative earned surplus position

19 Selected Quarterly Financial Data unaudited

Interim results are not necessarily indicative of fiscal year performance because of the impact of seasonal and

short-term variations Selected quarterly financial data is summarized as follows in thousands except per share data

Basic and

Income Loss Diluted Net

Total before Net Income Income Loss
Revenues Income Taxes Loss per Share

Year Ended December 31 2012

December31 2012 55079 175 96 0.00

September 30 2012 59568 3378 3279 0.08

June 30 2012 57945 4470 4208 0.10
March 31 2012 55467 8128 8207 0.20

Six Months Ended December 31 2011

December 31 2011 49135 25716 25749 0.55

September 30 2011 49969 3573 3688 0.08

Year Ended June 30 2011

June 30 2011 53134 53215 53474 111
March3l2011 52800 1910 1608 0.03

December 31 2010 51677 1969 2090 0.04

September 30 2010 53123 512 392 0.01

Income before income taxes for the quarter ended December 31 2012 of $0.2 million included $4.0 million of

unfavorable development in the Companys estimate of unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses Loss before income

taxes for the quarter ended December 31 2011 of $25.7 million included goodwill impairment charge of $21.1

million see Note and $4.6 million of unfavorable development in the Companys estimate of unpaid loss and loss

adjustment expenses Loss before income taxes for the quarter ended June 30 2011 of $53.2 million included

goodwill and intangible assets impairment charge of $52.4 million see Note and $2.1 million of favorable

development in the Companys estimate of unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management team including our Chief Executive

Officer and Principal Financial Officer we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange

Act at December 31 2012 Based on that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer principal executive officer and

Senior Vice President of Finance principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures

were effective at December 31 2012 to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we

file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the SECs rules and forms

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Rules 3a- 151 and 5d- 151 under the Exchange Act Our internal control over financial

reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive

Officer and Principal Financial Officer we conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting based on the framework in internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our assessment under the Internal Control

Integrated Framework our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at

December 31 2012

Our independent registered public accounting firm Ernst Young LLP has issued an attestation report on

our internal control over financial reporting which such report appears herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fourth fiscal quarter of the period covered by this report there has been no change in our

internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information with respect to our directors and executive officers set forth in our Definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14 2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Information with respect to compliance with Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended set forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14

2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Information with
respect to our code of business conduct and ethics set forth in our Definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14 2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Information with respect to our corporate governance disclosures set forth in our Definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14 2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information with respect to the compensation of our executive officers set forth in our Definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting ofStockholders to be held May 14 2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related

stockholder matters set forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held

May 14 2013 is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information with
respect to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence set

forth in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14 2013 is

incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information with respect to the fees paid to and services provided by our principal accountants set forth

in our Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 14 2013 is incorporated

herein by reference
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Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

Consolidated Financial Statements See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II

Item of this Form 10-11

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule Financial Information of Registrant Parent Company

Exhibits See the exhibit listing set forth below

Exhibit

Number

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of First Acceptance Corporation

3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of First Acceptance Corporation

4.1 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 2002 by and between the Company and Donald

Edwards

4.2 Form of certificate representing shares of common stock par value $0.01 per share incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed December 26 2002

10.1 Amended and Restated First Acceptance Corporation 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 23 2009.t

10.2 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Companys 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan.t

10.3 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Companys 2002 Long Term Incentive Plan.t

10.4 Amended and Restated First Acceptance Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 17 2010

10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement of Outside Directors under the Companys 2002 Long Term

Incentive Plan.t

10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of the Companys directors and

executive officers

10.7 Junior Subordinated Indenture dated June 15 2007 between First Acceptance Corporation and

Wilmington Trust Company

10.8 Guarantee .Agreement dated June 15 2007 between First Acceptance Corporation and Wilmington Trust

Company

10.9 Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated June 15 2007 among First Acceptance Corporation

Wilmington Trust Company and the Administrative Trustees Named Therein
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10.10 Employment Agreement made as of February 2008 to be effective January 2008 between First

Acceptance Corporation and Daniel Walker incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated May 11 2009.t

10.11 Compensation Arrangement made as of March 30 2011 between First Acceptance Corporation and

Mark Kelly incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Companys Amendment No to

Current Report on Form 8-K datedApril 201 1.t

10.12 Employment Agreement made as of May 15 2007 as amended March 2009 between First

Acceptance Corporation and John Barnett incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 of the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23 201 1.t

10.13 Mutual Separation and Release Agreement effective as of December 23 2011 by and between First

Acceptance Corporation and Stephen Harrison incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 23 201 1.t

10.14 Stock Purchase Agreement effective as of December 23 2011 by and among First Acceptance

Corporation Stephen Harrison and Stephen Harrison 2010 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K dated

December 23 201

14 First Acceptance Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

21 Subsidiaries of First Acceptance Corporation

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a

32.1 Principal Executive Officers Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Principal Financial Officers Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 XBRL

Filed herewith

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION

Date February 26 2013 By Is Mark Kelly

Mark Kelly

ChiefExecutive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Si2nature Title

Chief Executive Officer Principal Executive February 26 2013

Is/ Mark Kelly Officer

Mark Kelly

Senior Vice President of Finance Principal February 26 2013

Is John Barnett Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer

John Bamett

Is Jeremy Ford Chairman of the Board of Directors February 26 2013

Jeremy Ford

Is Rhodes Bobbitt Director February 26 2013

Rhodes Bobbitt

/s/ Harvey Cash Director February 26 2013

Harvey Cash

Is Donald Edwards Director February 26 2013

Donald Edwards

Is Tom Nichols Director February 26 2013

Tom Nichols

Is Lyndon Olson Director February 26 2013

Lyndon Olson

Is William Shipp Jr Director February 26 2013

William Shipp Jr
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION lOK

FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND SUBSIIIARIES

SCHEDULE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT PARENT COMPANY
in thousands

December 31

Balance Sheets 2012 2011

Assets

Investment in subsidiaries at equity in net assets 108663 109189

Investments available-for-sale at fair value -- 3518

Cash and cash equivalents 3344 8445

Other assets 2361 2453

114368 123605

Liabilities

Debentures payable

Other liabilities

Stockholders equity _____________ _____________

Year Ended

December 31 Year Ended June 30

2012
________________

2011 2010

Statements of Operations

Investment income

Equity in income loss of subsidiaries net of tax

Expenses
________________ _____________ _____________

Income loss before income taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes --

Net income loss 9040
_________________ ______________ ______________

Statements of Cash Flows
________________ ________________ _____________ _____________

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss

Equity in loss income of subsidiaries net of tax

Stock-based compensation

Deferred income taxes

Other

Change in assets and liabilities 792
_________________ ______________ ______________

Net cash used in operating activities 819 _________________ ______________ ______________

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends from subsidiaiy 5150

Maturities of investments available for sale 3518

Improvements to foreclosed real estate

Investment in subsidiary 13000
________________ _____________ _____________

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 4334 _________________ ______________ ______________

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchases of treasury stock --

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 52
_________________ ______________ ______________

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 52
_________________ ______________ ______________

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 5101

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 8445
_______________ _____________ _____________

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 3344
________________ ______________ ______________

40261

1315

72792

114368

40221

655

82729

123605

93

6830
2303
9040

Six Months

Ended

December 31

2011

65

27074
2428

29437

$29437

116

49926
6005

55815
965

56780

119

13813

7206
6726

314
7040

Year Ended

December 31

2012

9040
6830

604

Six Months

Ended

December 31 Year Ended June 30

2011

29437
27074

171

764
2946

10684

10682

10988
23

10965

3229
11674

8445

2011

56780
49926

998

98
108

1069

4993

7079

7077

56

56

2140

9534

11674

2010

7040

13813
1048

4488

1239

7670

22

7648

67

67

6476

3058

9534
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mark Kelly Chief Executive Officer of First Acceptance Corporation certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of First Acceptance Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 26 2013

/s/ Mark Kelly

Mark Kelly

ChiefExecutive Officer
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

John Barnett Senior Vice President of Finance of First Acceptance Corporation certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report.on Form 10-K of First Acceptance Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

State material fact
necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 5f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end

of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record

process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 26 2013

/s/ John Bamett

John Bamett

Senior Vice President of Finance
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of First Acceptance Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report
Mark Kelly Chief Executive Officer of the Company certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to my knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d as applicable of the Securities

Exchange Actof 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated

/s/ Mark Kelly

Mark Kelly

Chief Executive Officer

February 26 2013

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to First Acceptance

Corporation and will be retained by First Acceptance Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange

Commission or its staff upon request
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FIRST ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 10-K

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of First Acceptance Corporation the Company on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof the Report
John Barnett Senior Vice President of Finance of the Company certify pursuant to 18 Section 1350 as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 that to my knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d as applicable of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated

Is John Bamett

John Barnett

Senior Vice President of Finance

February26 2013

signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to First Acceptance

Corporation and will be retained by First Acceptance Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange

Commission or its staff upon request
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the performance of our common stock with the performance of market

index and peer group index The market index is the Russell 3000 Index and the peer group index is the SP
Property Casualty Insurance Index The graph covers the period from December 31 2007 through December 31
2012 and assumes that $100 was invested on December 31 2007 in our common stock the Russell 3000 Index and

the SP Property Casualty Insurance Index and that all dividends were reinvested
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Certifications Stockholder Information

Our PEO/PFO Certifications were filed as of

February 26 2013 as required by Sections 302

and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as exhibits

to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2012 In addition our

CEOs Certification for 2012 of our compliance

with the NYSEs corporate governance

standards was submitted to the NYSE timely

and without qualification

Corporate Address

First Acceptance Corporation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215

61 5.8442800

Annual Stockholders Meeting

Tuesday May 14 2013 at 1000 am Central Time

First Acceptance Corporation

3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215

Common Stock Data

Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol FAC

Investor Relations

Michael Bodayle

615.844.2885

mbodayle@acceptanceinsurance.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Trust Company NA
P.O Box 43078

Providence RI 02940-3078

or

Computershare Trust Company NA
250 Royall Street

Canton MA 02021

877 889-2019

TDD for Hearing Impaired 1-800-952-9245

www.computershare.com
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3813 Green Hills Village Drive

Nashville Tennessee 37215
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